Association between Public Health Unit Engagement in Secondary Schools and Per Capita

Public Health Spending and Adolescent Substance Use

by

Urvi Rai

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Epidemiology

School of Public Health University of Alberta

© Urvi Rai, 2023

ABSTRACT

Background

Based on the socio-ecological model of health, government institutions have an important role in shaping adolescent health. Public health units (PHUs) are one such institution. PHU decisions on community collaboration and resource allocation may have important downstream consequences on population health. Although studies are sparse, descriptive and cross-sectional studies suggest that PHU engagement in secondary schools may benefit adolescent health. The first objective of this study was to investigate the association between PHU engagement in secondary schools and adolescent substance use over time. Additionally, PHU spending has been shown to be associated with population health outcomes. Although the evidence is mixed, several studies find that greater PHU spending is associated with improved population health. The second objective of this study was to investigate the association between per capita PHU spending and self-reported substance use among Canadian adolescents.

Methods

To investigate the association between PHU engagement and adolescent substance use, a longitudinal analysis was completed using data from the Cannabis, Obesity, Mental Health, Physical Activity, Alcohol Use, Smoking, and Sedentary Behaviour (COMPASS) study, which was conducted in Ontario, Alberta and British Columbia. 16,575 students in grades 9-12 in 68 schools who participated in year 5 of the COMPASS study (2016/17) were followed until year 7 (2018/19). Students answered survey questions on demographics and on their substance use behaviour. School representatives answered survey questions about school-level engagement by their local PHU in addressing substance use. To investigate the association between PHU

spending and adolescent substance use, a cross-sectional analysis was conducted using data from year 7 (2018/19) of the COMPASS study as well as PHU per capita spending information from the Ontario Public Health Information Database (OPHID). Statistical analyses were conducted for a sample of 29,056 students in grades 9-12 in 61 schools across Ontario. Substance use was measured as the self-reported use of alcohol overall, alcohol binge drinking, cannabis use, cigarette use and e-cigarette use, at least once per month on average.

Results

Approximately 50% of the study samples were female and the majority identified as being White. In 2016/17, 65% of schools reported PHU engagement in addressing substance use. Methods of PHU engagement ranged from the provision of informational resources to leading prevention programs. With respect to PHU spending, the distribution of expenditure values was right-skewed. Per capita spending ranged from \$54.07 to \$224.95, with a median spending amount of \$89.62 and a mean of \$95.96. As an overall measure fixed at baseline, PHU engagement was not associated with adolescent substance use. However, different methods of PHU engagement were associated over time with different types of substance use. For example, adolescents exposed to PHU-school joint problem solving/program implementation had lower odds of cannabis and e-cigarette use at baseline (adjusted odds ratio (AOR): 0.43; 95% CI: 0.25, 0.76 and AOR: 0.38; 95% CI: 0.20, 0.72, respectively), but a larger increase in the odds of cannabis and e-cigarette over time (AOR of interaction terms: 1.80; 95% CI: 1.13, 2.86 and 2.58; 95% CI: 1.69, 3.96, respectively), compared to adolescents exposed to no PHU engagement. Adolescents exposed to PHU-led programs had a smaller increase in cigarette use over time compared to those not exposed, suggesting a protective association (AOR of interaction term: 0.67; 95% CI: 0.46, 0.97). With respect to PHU spending, the highest quartile of expenditure

compared to the lowest quartile was significantly associated with higher odds for alcohol use (AOR: 1.41, 95% CI: 1.04, 1.91), alcohol binge drinking (AOR: 1.71, 95% CI: 1.18, 2.48), and cigarette use (AOR: 2.19, 95% CI: 1.23, 3.91), while the second highest quartile was associated with lower e-cigarette use (AOR: 0.74, 95% CI: 0.56, 0.98).

Conclusion

PHUs have potential to address adolescent substance use through evidence-informed engagement at secondary schools, however further research is required to examine how different methods of engagement may impact students differently. The highest quartile of PHU spending was associated with higher alcohol and cigarette use in this study. Further research is needed to explore the direction of this association and potential pathways where intervention can occur.

PREFACE

This thesis is an original work by Urvi Rai under the supervision of Dr. Roman Pabayo and thesis supervisory committee members Dr. Ambikaipakan Senthilselvan and Dr. Elaine Hyshka. The idea for this research came from Dr. Roman Pabayo. Thesis conceptualization, development of the research questions and the methodological approach was completed by Urvi Rai under the guidance of Dr. Pabayo and supervisory committee. This research was conducted as part of a larger study in the EMERGE Research Lab under University of Alberta Ethics Project ID: Pro00099672. This research has generously been funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, the University of Alberta School of Public Health, and the Alberta Graduate Excellence Scholarship.

U. Rai made substantial contributions to the study design, analytic plan, data cleaning and analysis, results interpretation, as well as drafting and revising the thesis. Dr. Pabayo acquired funding as well as all data used in this thesis. Dr. Pabayo made a substantial contribution to conception and study design, analytic plan, interpretation of data, and multiple critical revisions of this thesis. Dr. Senthilselvan made a substantial contribution to the analytic plan, interpretation of data, and a critical revision of this thesis. Dr. Elaine Hyshka made a substantial contribution to the analytic plan, results interpretation, and critical revision of the thesis.

No part of this thesis has been previously published, although Chapters 3 and 4 will be adapted as manuscripts and submitted for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to extend my sincerest gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Roman Pabayo, for your guidance, patience, and constant support. Thanks to you, I have gained a strong foundation in epidemiological research. Thank you for every time you challenged me to step out of my comfort zone and for your unwavering confidence in me along the way. Your mentorship has been instrumental in my training. Your dedication to health equity has been inspirational. Thank you for creating a space, through EMERGE, that supports growth, allows for mistakes, encourages teamwork, and where there is always room for some fun and adventure. Finally, thank you for your commitment to your students, for always prioritizing student wellbeing alongside research, and growth despite challenges.

I would like to thank my thesis committee members, Drs. Elaine Hyshka and Ambikaipakan Senthilselvan for generously sharing your time, expertise, and invaluable feedback. Thank you to the COMPASS study participants as well as the entire COMPASS team without whom this study would not have been possible. Of note, I offer my gratitude to Drs. Scott T. Leatherdale and Karen Patte, Principal Investigators of COMPASS. I would also like to thank our collaborators at Public Health Ontario, including Dr. Brendan Smith and Naomi Schwartz, for your support and encouragement throughout my MSc journey, and particularly in creating the Ontario Public Health Information Database. Additionally, I am grateful to the School of Public Health as well as the Government of Alberta for the scholarships that supported my studies and work as a graduate student.

I am immensely grateful to Dr. Claire Benny, Sammy Lowe, and Gregory Farmer – mentors, lab mates and friends. Thank you for your warm welcome when I first joined EMERGE and for your mentorship as I learned to navigate the world of graduate school. Thank you also to Dr. Stephen Hunter and Dr. Jason Were for sharing your expertise, helping me to work through some of the most challenging aspects of study design and statistical analysis, and for your feedback on my final oral presentation. Your kindness and support made a world of difference.

A most special thank you to my lab mate and dear friend, Jo Lin Chew. Through the nervous excitement of first year, the late nights of biostatistics homework, the toughest of times and the silliest of moments, the ups and downs and everything in between, we got through it all together. I am so grateful to have had you by my side throughout this journey and could not have done it without you. Thank you for always having my back.

Finally, thank you to my friends and family for your unwavering support from the first day. Thank you for lending an ear when I needed to talk and for always believing in me. This thesis is dedicated to the memory of Smt. Pramila Nagar, my *Nani Sa*, for her courage, her kindness, and her commitment to health equity.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ii
v
vi
viii
xi
xiv
1
1
3
5
10
17
17
19
28
29
31
32
32
35
53
54
55
57
S AND

3.2.1 Study Design and Study Sample	
3.2.2 Main Exposure	69
3.2.3 Main Outcome	69
3.2.4 Individual Level Covariates	70
3.2.5 School Level Covariates	71
3.2.6 Statistical Analysis	71
3.3 Results	73
3.3.1 Descriptive statistics	73
3.3.2 Research Question 1: Is public health engagement in 2016/17 associated with adolescent substance use over time?	h 80
3.3.3 Research Question 2: Do different methods of public health engagement in 2 have different associations with adolescent substance use over time compared to th of public health engagement?	016/17 1e absence 94
3.4 Discussion	109
3.5 Limitations	111
3.6 Conclusion	113
References	114
CHAPTER 4: PUBLIC HEALTH UNIT PER CAPITA SPENDING AND ADOLESCE SUBSTANCE USE	NT120
4.1 Introduction	120
4.2 Methods	123
4.2.1 Data Source	123
4.2.2 Main Exposure	124
4.2.3 Main Outcome	124
4.2.4 Individual Level Covariates	125
4.2.5 School Level Covariates	125
4.2.6 Public Health Unit Level Covariates	125
4.2.7 Statistical Analysis	126
4.3 Results	127
4.4 Discussion	144
4.5 Limitations	146
References	149
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION	

161
163
187
187
over a 190
udinal 205
ic health 207
ue to 209
ohol use 211
212
rette use 213
g data in 214
224

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Summary of key findings from narrative review of public health unit engagement in schools.

Table 2.2. Summary of findings from narrative review on local public health spending and population health outcomes.

Table 3.1.1. Demographic characteristics of cohort with complete data at baseline (n=16,575).

 Table 3.1.2. Characteristics of schools at baseline (n=68).

Table 3.1.3. Baseline characteristics of students exposed to public health unit engagement (PHE) in addressing alcohol/cannabis use compared to students unexposed to PHE in 2016/17 (n=16,575)

Table 3.1.4. Baseline characteristics of students exposed to public health unit engagement (PHE) in addressing tobacco/e-cigarette use compared to students unexposed to PHE in 2016/17 (n=16,575).

Table 3.2.1. Association between public health engagement in 2016/17 and adolescent monthly **alcohol** use over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.2.2. Association between public health engagement in 2016/17 and adolescent monthly **alcohol binge drinking** over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.2.3. Association between public health engagement in 2016/17 and adolescent monthly **cannabis** use over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.2.4. Association between public health engagement in 2016/17 and adolescent monthly **cigarette** use over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.2.5. Association between public health engagement in 2016/17 and adolescent monthly **e-cigarette** use over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.3.1. Association between public health engagement in 2016/17, by method of engagement, and adolescent monthly **alcohol** use, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.3.2. Association between public health engagement in 2016/17, by method of engagement, and adolescent monthly **alcohol binge drinking**, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.3.3. Association between public health engagement in 2016/17, by method of engagement, and adolescent monthly **cannabis** use, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.3.4. Association between public health engagement in 2016/17, by method of engagement, and adolescent monthly **cigarette** use, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.3.5. Association between public health engagement in 2016/17, by method of engagement, and adolescent monthly **e-cigarette** use, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 4.1. Sociodemographic characteristics of Ontario students (n=29,056) in the 2018/19 wave of the COMPASS study.

Table 4.2. Characteristics of Ontario schools (n=61) in the 2018/19 wave of the COMPASS study.

Table 4.3. Association between per capita PHU spending and the odds of current **alcohol** use among grade 9-12 students (n=29,056) in COMPASS schools (2018/19).

Table 4.4. Association between per capita PHU spending and the odds of current **binge drinking** among grade 9-12 students (n=29,056) in COMPASS schools (2018/19).

Table 4.5. Association between per capita PHU spending and the odds of current **cannabis** use among grade 9-12 students (n=29,056) in COMPASS schools (2018/19).

Table 4.6. Association between per capita PHU spending and the odds of current **cigarette** use among grade 9-12 students (n=29,056) in COMPASS schools (2018/19).

Table 4.7. Association between per capita PHU spending and the odds of current **e-cigarette** use among grade 9-12 students (n=29,056) in COMPASS schools (2018/19).

Table B.1. Association between the longitudinal pattern of public health engagement and adolescent monthly **alcohol** use, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table B.2. Association between the longitudinal pattern of public health engagement and adolescent monthly **alcohol binge drinking**, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table B.3. Association between the longitudinal pattern of public health engagement and adolescent monthly **cannabis** use, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table B.4. Association between the longitudinal pattern of public health engagement and adolescent monthly **cigarette** use, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table B.5. Association between the longitudinal pattern of public health engagement and adolescent monthly **e-cigarette** use, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table B.6. Adjusted odds of alcohol, cannabis, cigarette and e-cigarette use in 2018/19 for students exposed to intermittent or sustained public health engagement from 2016/17 through 2018/19.

Table C.1 Characteristics of students lost to follow up compared with those remaining in final sample by 2018/19.

Table D.1 Characteristics of schools exposed or unexposed to PHU engagement in addressing alcohol/marijuana use (N=68).

Table D.2 Characteristics of schools exposed or unexposed to PHU engagement in addressing cigarette/e-cigarette use (N=68).

Table E.1 Characteristics of students with complete data at baseline (2016/17) (n=16,575) compared to those excluded due to missing data at baseline (n=935).

Table I.1. Characteristics of study sample before and after excluding participants with missing data, including missing outcome information on past-month alcohol use.

Table I.2. Characteristics of study sample before and after excluding participants with missing data, including missing outcome information on past-month binge drinking.

Table I.3. Characteristics of study sample before and after excluding participants with missing data, including missing outcome information on past-month cannabis use.

Table I.4. Characteristics of study sample before and after excluding participants with missing data, including missing outcome information on past-month cigarette use.

Table I.5. Characteristics of study sample before and after excluding participants with missing data, including missing outcome information on past-month e-cigarette use.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Health Canada Substance Use Spectrum. Adapted from Health Canada 2022.

Figure 1.2. The social ecology of health promotion interventions. *Health Education Quarterly*, 15(4):351-377. Adapted from the American College Health Association. Based on conceptual framework by McLeroy, K. R., Steckler, A. and Bibeau, D. (Eds.) (1988).

Figure 2.1. Conceptual model for association between public health spending and population health outcomes, simplified and adapted from Meyer et al. (2012).

Figure 3.1. Proportion of grade 9-12 secondary students in COMPASS year 2016/17 who used alcohol, cannabis, cigarettes, or e-cigarettes or binge drank alcohol in the past month.

Figure 3.2. Probability of adolescent alcohol use, binge drinking, cannabis use, cigarette use and e-cigarette use (A-E respectively) as predicted by public health unit engagement in COMPASS secondary schools in 2016/17.

Figure 3.3. Probability of adolescent alcohol use, binge drinking, cannabis use, cigarette use, and e-cigarette use (A-E respectively) as predicted by public health unit engagement in COMPASS secondary schools in 2016/17. PHU engagement was categorized by four methods of engagement. Method 1 is defined as providing information/resources/program. Method 2 is defined as solving problems jointly or developing/implementing program activities jointly. Method 3 is defined as independently running a program at schools to address substance use.

Figure 4.1. Probability of adolescent alcohol use (left) and binge drinking (right) in COMPASS secondary schools in 2018/19, as predicted by per capita public health unit expenditure and stratified by gender.

Figure B.1. Probability of adolescent alcohol use, binge drinking, cannabis use, cigarette use, and e-cigarette use (A-E respectively) as predicted by the pattern of public health unit engagement in COMPASS secondary schools from 2016/2017 to 2018/2019.

Figure G.1 Overall predicted probability and plausible value range.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

This chapter provides the epidemiology of adolescent substance use in Canada, followed by a description of two theoretical frameworks that have guided this thesis work. Next, this chapter discusses risk and protective factors associated with adolescent substance use.

1.1 Epidemiology of adolescent substance use

Adolescent substance use is an important public health concern. According to the 2013 Global Burden of Disease study, substance use accounted for 4-15% of disability-adjusted life years among 15-19 year olds in North America.¹ Substance use refers to the consumption, inhalation, injection, or other use of alcohol, cannabis, tobacco/nicotine, and various other legal and illegal drugs, including opioid pain relievers, stimulants, and sedatives.² Substances may be used for a number of purposes, including their therapeutic effects in the case of prescribed pharmaceuticals, their significance in religious practice or ceremony, for recreational use, or as a means of coping with pain, stress, and mental illness.² Health Canada describes a spectrum of substance use disorder (Figure 1).³ "Higher-risk" use is described as use that has a negative impact on the user's health or social relations.³ Substance use in this thesis will focus on monthly use of alcohol, cannabis, cigarettes and electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) in a population of secondary school students aged 15-19 years.

The most common substances used by Canadians aged 15-19 are alcohol and cannabis.⁴ According to the 2019 Canadian Alcohol and Drugs Survey (CADS), 46% of adolescents aged 15-19 used alcohol and 22% used cannabis in 2019.⁴ According to the 2019 Canadian Tobacco and Nicotine Survey (CTNS), 5% of adolescents aged 15-19 reported being current (daily or occasional) cigarette smokers and 15% reported being current users of e-cigarettes or other vaping devices.⁵ It is important to note that in Canada, all four of these substances are legal for use by those 18 or 19 years and older, depending on the region, which affects the prevalence of use around this age range.^{6,7} For comparison with the 15-19 age group, among adolescents aged 12-17 years, an estimated 25.6% used alcohol in the past-year.⁸

The prevalence of adolescent substance use has changed over time. 2013 was the first year that the CADS was administered and since then, the past-year prevalence of alcohol use among adolescents aged 15 to 19 years has decreased (60% to 46%), while cannabis use has

remained approximately the same (23% to 22%), and the prevalence of current cigarette smoking has decreased (11% to 5%).⁹ Of concern, the prevalence of current e-cigarette use among adolescents aged 15-19 years has increased, based on the CTADS sample, five-fold (3% to 15%).



Figure 1.1. Health Canada Substance Use Spectrum. Adapted from Health Canada 2022.

Higher-risk substance use by adolescents is of public health concern because of the consequences it can have on adolescents' physical and developmental health. Physical harms due to substance use vary by type of substance, dosage, frequency of use, context of use and mode of administration.^{10,11} Higher-risk use can be described as consuming a high dosage in one instance (e.g. binge drinking alcohol), frequent or prolonged use (e.g. daily smoking), using substances when alone, or using substances while operating a vehicle.^{10,11} Different modes of administration result in different risks, whereby smoking/inhalation may cause respiratory problems while injection use may increase the spread of blood-borne diseases. One review of Canadian studies suggests that there may also be a link between substance use and death by suicide.¹² In addition to physical harms, substance use can impact healthy growth, given that adolescence is a significant time for many aspects of development, including brain development.^{13–16} Heavy substance use in the form of alcohol, cannabis or cigarette use has been linked with structural and functional damage to the developing brain, along with deficits in cognitive function.^{14,17–20}

Substance-related harms may be acute or long-term, and may be due to the substances themselves, risk behaviours associated with substance use, or from the negative impacts of policies, such as criminalization, designed to control substance use.^{21–24} Acute harms can include blackouts, drug poisoning, accidents and injury.^{10,11,23} In 2017/18, among youth ages 10 to 24, the rate of hospitalization due to substance use was 364 per 100,000, and represented 5% of all youth hospitalizations.²⁵ It is estimated that for every hospitalization due to substance use, there

are five emergency department visits.²⁵ From 2011 to 2019, one study found that 60% of all selfharm related emergency department visits in Canada involved some form of substance use, and 37% resulted in hospitalization.²⁶ Notably, the median patient age was 16.6, suggesting that many of these hospitalizations due to self-harm with substance use occurred among youth. Alcohol and cannabis are commonly associated with substance-related hospitalizations such as those due to traffic accidents and injuries.^{10,25} Alcohol use can also have longer term consequences in the case of regular or heavy use without intervention, such as high blood pressure, obesity, and alcohol-related liver disease.^{5–10} Long term consequences of cigarette smoking include respiratory or vascular diseases and lung cancer.¹⁰ Additionally, substance use in adolescence is associated with a higher likelihood of problematic substance use in young adulthood.^{27,28}

Risk behaviours associated with substance use include use of other substances concurrently (polysubstance use), school absenteeism and poor achievement, aggression/violence perpetration or victimization, unprotected sex or sexual victimization, and impaired or distracted driving.^{11,21–23,29–31} Given that the leading cause of mortality among 15-19 year olds in Canada is unintentional injuries/accidents, one risk factor for which is intoxication, adolescent substance use is a particularly important and urgent issue for public health units to attend to.³²

Notably, the policies aimed at preventing substance use sometimes unintentionally cause harm to adolescents using substances.²⁴ Specifically, the criminalization of drugs results in a lack of regulation and quality control, increasing the chances of adolescents using contaminated products that can be even more harmful. Additionally, adolescents' experiences with law enforcement, and subsequently with other offenders, can be traumatic. Moreover, criminalization can result in short- and long-term stigmatization and hampering of career opportunities, thus impacting an important social determinant of health.^{24,33}

1.2 Relevant frameworks

This thesis will apply two frameworks to the study of adolescent substance use: the life course model and the socio-ecological model.^{34,35} These models were chosen because they emphasize the interaction between adolescents at a developmentally significant stage in their lives, with the social contexts in which they live and grow.¹⁶ The life course model describes trajectories and transitions.³⁴ Trajectories are long-term, persisting or changing patterns in

behaviour, and transitions are discrete, shorter-term events that shape trajectories.³⁴ For adolescents, secondary school is a time of transition between childhood to adulthood, as they are likely to form new relationships, partake in new activities, and take on new responsibilities or a new level of independence.³⁴ Significant brain development, physiological growth, and maturation also occurs during this period.¹⁵ Simultaneously, risk-taking and sensation seeking behaviours are common, and normal. Cigarette, alcohol and other substance use often begins in adolescence, most commonly between the ages of 15 and 18.³⁴ Interventions that prevent or delay the onset of substance use at this age, or reduce harm among those who have already initiated use, are important to protect and promote health.

To positively impact developmental and behavioural trajectories, it is useful to understand the factors that place adolescents at risk of substance use, and factors that can be protective against substance use. The social determinants of health, or "the circumstances in which people grow, live, work, and age" play an important role in shaping adolescent health behaviours, including substance use.³⁶ The socio-ecological model described by McLeroy et al. (1988) offers a framework by which to study the social determinants of adolescent substance use. It consists of five levels: intrapersonal, interpersonal, institutional/organizational, community, and public policy.³⁵ Intrapersonal factors are individual characteristics including age, gender, race, education, socioeconomic status, as well as personal values and beliefs. Interpersonal factors occur between individuals, and refer to relationships with family, peers, and community members. Institutional factors include characteristics of social structures such as educational institutions, religious institutions, and public service organizations. Institutional factors may influence adolescents through their formal and informal rules, expectations, or processes. Community level factors can be studied in two ways. Community can reflect the relationships and networks between institutions, or the characteristics of the natural and built environments that individuals interact with. Community level factors include partnerships between educational institutions and health departments, social cohesion, and neighbourhood safety. Finally, public policy refers to the local, provincial/state, or federal laws and policies that shape the social structures and systems that influence the other four levels of the ecological framework. Factors at each level interact within and between levels to create the conditions in which adolescents grow and develop.

Any discussion of the social determinants of health is incomplete without also considering inequities in the distribution of social determinants in a population. Populations experiencing poverty, racism, neocolonialism, or other forms of discrimination are often denied equal opportunity or access to social goods such as education and health care.³⁷ At the community level of the socio-ecological model, they may experience greater social exclusion, low neighbourhood safety, and low access to health or educational resources. Poor access to social determinants of health result in poor health outcomes among these populations, creating health inequities - avoidable disparities in health across the population.³⁷ At the highest level of McLeroy's socio-ecological model, public policy has the power to address health inequities by ensuring that healthful living conditions and social goods are equitably distributed. Public policy has the power to dismantle institutional processes that result in systemic discrimination, social exclusion and consequently, health inequities.

1.3 Risk and protective factors for adolescent substance use

Based on the socio-ecological model of health promotion, determinants for high-risk substance use can occur at the intrapersonal, interpersonal, institutional, community, and policy levels.³⁵ The following is a broad overview of risk and protective factors. This overview is a simplification of otherwise complex psychosocial processes. Factors associated with adolescent substance use depend on the type of substance (e.g., alcohol, illicit drugs, etc.), the dose taken, frequency of use (e.g., occasional vs heavy use) and whether adolescents are using alone or in a social setting.^{10,11}

Intrapersonal factors include beliefs and attitudes towards substance use.^{29,38} Disapproval or perception of harm are protective against substance use, while previous positive experience and sensation seeking attitudes predict future use. Individual characteristics such as age and gender are related to substance use whereby adolescents who are older and identify as males are more likely to use substances.^{30,39-41} On the other hand, high self-esteem and psychosocial well-being are protective factors.^{29,40} Additionally, school interest and strong school performance are both protective against substance use.²⁹ Although physical activity is another determinant of adolescent substance use, evidence for the direction of association is mixed, depending on the substance studied and the type of physical activity. For example, some studies report a positive association between physical activity and high-risk alcohol use (binge drinking) but a negative

association between physical activity and cigarette use.^{40,42} Patrick and Schulenberg (2014) report that physical activity in the form of general exercise is associated with a decreased odds of alcohol use whereas physical activity in the form of sports team participation is associated with increased alcohol use.²⁹ Intrapersonal factors also include characteristics of adolescents' families. There is evidence that parental education and family affluence are associated with adolescent alcohol, illicit drug, and cannabis use, though the direction and strength of association may differ by the population studied.^{43–45} Spending money, as an indicator for socioeconomic status, is also associated with substance use. Those students with more weekly spending money have higher odds of substance use.^{30,42,46}

Interpersonal factors are among the strongest predictors of substance use.^{29,35,38,47} Interpersonal factors are those that reflect the influence of adolescents' peers, family, and adults outside of family. Peer use or approval of substances, *perceived* peer use and approval of substances (the latter of which is often overestimated), along with parental use or approval of substances, are all risk factors for adolescent substance use.^{29,38,47} Conversely, family bonding, family support, parental supervision, and healthy relationships are protective against substance use.^{29,30,38,39,48} Adolescents spend a significant portion of their day at school and interact with members of the school community, including peers and educators. Connectedness with their school community or involvement at school are protective factors against adolescent substance use.^{46,49} Returning to findings by Patrick and colleagues, sports participation was found to be associated with an increased odds of alcohol use. This is likely because of the social aspect of sports participation whereby social norms, along with reduced parental supervision, may contribute to an increased likelihood for alcohol use.^{29,38}

Institutional factors are characteristics of social institutions or organizations with processes and rules that impact adolescent health. Researchers identify roles for schools, universities, public health units, religious institutions, and media companies in influencing adolescent substance use behaviours. For example, school policies and programs have the potential to protect against high-risk substance use by directly addressing the issue, or by addressing factors associated with substance use, such as poor mental health or physical activity.^{40,41,50,51} Universities can provide research capacity to guide evidence-informed program development and program evaluation.^{52,53} Public health units can address adolescent substance use by providing substance use assessment, treatment or referral services, harm reduction in the

form of needle exchange services, and counselling.^{54,55} With respect to religious institutions, adolescent involvement in religious institutions has been found to be protective against substance use.^{29,56} Exposure to media and advertising that presents substance use as a popular, enjoyable or relaxing activity is a risk factor for substance use.^{56,57}

Community level factors reflect the partnerships, or lack thereof, between institutions or organizations.³⁵ For example, public health units may collaborate with schools to provide informational resources or to support school-based programs and services that address adolescent substance use.^{54,55,58,59} Community level factors also reflect area level characteristics such as poverty rate, unemployment rate, neighborhood availability of drugs, perceived neighborhood safety, and income inequality.^{10,35,60–62} Higher poverty rates, unemployment rates, neighborhood availability of drugs, and low perceived safety are risk factors for substance use.^{10,35,61} There is mixed evidence for the impact of income inequality on adolescent alcohol use. One study of province-level income inequality found no association, but a study of nation-level income inequality and another of neighbourhood-level income inequality both found find evidence that higher income inequality may be associated with increased adolescent substance use.^{60,63,64}

Intrapersonal

Self-esteem Family bonding Beliefs, Attitudes Parental/peer use Psychosocial wellbeing Parental/peer approva Previous experience Parental supervision Spending money School connectedness Grade/age

Interpersonal

Institutional School-level policies and programs Involvement in religious comunity SS Media messaging Public health unit programs, services Community Social cohesion Income inequality Availability of drugs Perceived safety Poverty rates

Public Policy

Criminalization, decriminalization or legalization of substances Regulation on supply and marketing of substances Regulations to prevent the sale of substances to minors

Figure 1.2. Adapted from the American College Health Association. Based on conceptual framework by McLeroy, K. R., Steckler, A. and Bibeau, D. (Eds.) (1988).

Finally, social and economic policy may have a role to play in preventing adolescent substance use. An example is the laws and regulations preventing the sale of substances to youth.

The decision to take punitive or rehabilitative action on youth engagement in substance use is another important factor.^{54,65} Policies may also include those regulating the supply and marketing of substances, or the legalization of previously illegal substances such as cannabis in Canada, as of October 2018.^{6,65} Klein et al. compare regulatory measures taken around the world in regards to e-cigarette flavours, sales and advertising to adolescents for the purpose of preventing or reducing uptake and vaping related harms.⁶⁵ Economic policy involves decisions on investment in public health, and may be reflected by annual public health unit expenditure on programs and services.

Public health interventions can occur at any level of the socio-ecological model to support the mitigation of risk factors or strengthen protective factors against adolescent substance use. This thesis will focus on the community and public policy levels, and specifically consider the roles of local public health units. Public health units (PHUs) have the primary objective of protecting and promoting the health of communities within their jurisdiction.⁶⁶ This involves promoting social, mental and physical health and wellbeing, preventing illness and injury, and reducing health inequities.^{67,68} PHUs accomplish these goals by implementing public health programs and services, conducting disease surveillance, offering consultation services or health education, and more.^{67,69,70} At the community level, PHUs collaborate with other sectors such as the social service or educational sectors.^{58,59,67,71} When addressing adolescent health, schools are an important potential setting for collaboration.⁷¹ Given the amount of time adolescents spend in school, PHU-school partnerships offer a valuable point of contact with adolescents and opportunity to positively direct their developmental and behavioural trajectories.

As illustrated by the socio-ecological model, adolescent health and substance use is impacted by numerous factors at each level of society. In addition to targeting adolescents directly, PHUs influence adolescent health by addressing the health of their communities more broadly. PHUs may run programs for the healthy growth and development of young families, ensure safe food and water supplies, improve access to the social determinants of health, support poverty reduction, support communicable disease prevention, and advocate for healthy public policy, to list a few examples.⁶⁹ One key requirement for a successful public health system is sufficient resources to carry out public health activities.^{66,72} Governments are responsible for making critical decisions in regards to allocation of limited resources. In times of austerity, governments may reduce funding from some areas to invest more in others. In the case of England following the 2008 recession, or the province of Ontario in Canada in 2019, times of austerity have led governments to propose divesting from local authorities of public health.^{73,74} In 2019, the government of Ontario announced a plan to reduce the provincial contribution to cost-shared public health programs offered by local PHUs.⁷⁴ It is important that funding decisions are context-sensitive and evidence-informed. To understand the impact that spending cuts could have on population health, it may be useful to explore the association between public health spending and population health outcomes, such as adolescent substance use.

This thesis will study the role of PHUs in addressing adolescent substance use by looking at two indicators: (1) the collaboration of PHUs with secondary schools to address substance use, and (2) PHU per capita spending on public health activities. Referring again to the socio-ecological model of health, the first indicator reflects a community level intervention while the second indicator reflects a policy level factor, to address adolescent substance use.

References

 Degenhardt, L., Stockings, E., Patton, G., Hall, W. D., & Lynskey, M. The increasing global health priority of substance use in young people. *The Lancet Psychiatry*. 2016;3(3): 251-264. doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00508-8

2. Health Canada. Substance use. Published online July 20, 2022. Accessed April 19, 2023. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-use.html

Health Canada. Substance Use Spectrum. Published online May 10, 2022. Accessed April 19, 2023. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/publications/healthy-living/substance-use-spectrum-infographic.html

 Health Canada. Canadian Alcohol and Drugs Survey (CADS): summary of results for 2019. Published online December 20, 2021. Accessed April 19, 2023.

https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-alcohol-drugs-survey/2019summary.html#a4

5. Health Canada. Canadian Tobacco and Nicotine Survey (CTNS): summary of results for 2019. Published online July 7, 2020. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-tobacco-nicotine-survey/2019-summary.html

Government of Canada. Cannabis Legalization and Regulation. Published online July 7,
 2021. Accessed May 8, 2023. https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/cj-jp/cannabis/

Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. Policy and Regulations (Alcohol).
 Accessed July 6, 2023. https://ccsa.ca/policy-and-regulations-alcohol

Statistics Canada. Heavy Drinking, 2018. Published June 25, 2019. Accessed July 6,
 2023. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-625-x/2019001/article/00007-eng.htm

Health Canada. Canadian Tobacco Alcohol and Drugs (CTADS): 2013 summary.
 Published online February 3, 2015. Accessed April 19, 2023. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-alcohol-drugs-survey/2013-summary.html

Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse. Substance Abuse in Canada: Youth in Focus.
 Published online 2007. https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2019-04/ccsa-011521-2007-e.pdf

 Mason WA, Stevens AL, Fleming CB. A systematic review of research on adolescent solitary alcohol and marijuana use in the United States. *Addict Abingdon Engl.* 2019;115(1):19-31. doi:10.1111/add.14697 Orpana H, Giesbrecht N, Hajee A, Kaplan MS. Alcohol and other drugs in suicide in Canada: opportunities to support prevention through enhanced monitoring. *Inj Prev*. 2021;27(2):194-200. doi:10.1136/injuryprev-2019-043504

13. Squeglia LM, Jacobus J, Tapert SF. The effect of alcohol use on human adolescent brain structures and systems. In: *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*. Vol 125. Elsevier; 2014:501-510. doi:10.1016/B978-0-444-62619-6.00028-8

14. Squeglia LM, Jacobus J, Tapert SF. The Influence of Substance Use on Adolescent Brain Development. *Clin EEG Neurosci*. 2009;40(1):31-38. doi:10.1177/155005940904000110

15. Viner RM, Ross D, Hardy R, et al. Life course epidemiology: recognising the importance of adolescence. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2015;69(8):719-720. doi:10.1136/jech-2014-205300

 Kia-Keating M, Dowdy E, Morgan ML, Noam GG. Protecting and Promoting: An Integrative Conceptual Model for Healthy Development of Adolescents. *J Adolesc Health*. 2011;48(3):220-228. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2010.08.006

17. Ashtari M, Avants B, Cyckowski L, et al. Medial temporal structures and memory functions in adolescents with heavy cannabis use. *J Psychiatr Res*. 2011;45(8):1055-1066. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2011.01.004

 Camchong J, Lim KO, Kumra S. Adverse Effects of Cannabis on Adolescent Brain Development: A Longitudinal Study. *Cereb Cortex*. 2017;27(3):1922-1930. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhw015

19. Dwyer JB, McQuown SC, Leslie FM. The dynamic effects of nicotine on the developing brain. *Pharmacol Ther*. 2009;122(2):125-139. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2009.02.003

20. Feldstein Ewing SW, Sakhardande A, Blakemore SJ. The effect of alcohol consumption on the adolescent brain: A systematic review of MRI and fMRI studies of alcohol-using youth. *NeuroImage Clin.* 2014;5:420-437. doi:10.1016/j.nicl.2014.06.011

 Li K, Simons-Morton BG, Hingson R. Impaired-Driving Prevalence Among US High School Students: Associations With Substance Use and Risky Driving Behaviors. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301296. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301296

22. Ritchwood TD, Ford H, DeCoster J, Sutton M, Lochman JE. Risky sexual behavior and substance use among adolescents: A meta-analysis. *Child Youth Serv Rev.* 2015;52:74-88. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2015.03.005

 Boden JM, Fergusson DM. The Short- and Long-Term Consequences of Adolescent Alcohol Use. In: Saunders JB, Rey JM, eds. *Young People and Alcohol*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2014:32-44. doi:10.1002/9781118785089.ch3

24. Moskalewicz J, Dąbrowska K, Herold MD, et al. Unintended consequences of drug policies experienced by young drug users in contact with the criminal justice systems. *Drugs Educ Prev Policy*. 2021;28(1):36-47. doi:10.1080/09687637.2020.1823944

25. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Hospital Stays for Harm Caused by Substance Use Among Youth Age 10 to 24. Published online September 2019. Accessed April 19, 2023. https://www.cihi.ca/sites/default/files/document/hsu-youth-report-2019-en-web.pdf

26. Campeau A, Champagne AS, McFaull SR. Sentinel surveillance of substance-related selfharm in Canadian emergency departments, 2011 – 19. *BMC Public Health*. 2022;22(1):974. doi:10.1186/s12889-022-13287-6

27. Clark DB, Kirisci L, Tarter RE. Adolescent versus adult onset and the development of substance use disorders in males. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 1998;49(2):115-121. doi:10.1016/S0376-8716(97)00154-3

Griffin KW, Bang H, Botvin GJ. Age of alcohol and marijuana use onset predicts weekly substance use and related psychosocial problems during young adulthood. *J Subst Use*.
 2010;15(3):174-183. doi:10.3109/14659890903013109

29. Patrick ME, Schulenberg JE. Prevalence and Predictors of Adolescent Alcohol Use and Binge Drinking in the United States. *Alcohol Res Curr Rev.* 2014;35(2):193-200.

Zuckermann AME, Williams GC, Battista K, Jiang Y, de Groh M, Leatherdale ST.
 Prevalence and correlates of youth poly-substance use in the COMPASS study. *Addict Behav*.
 2020;107:106400. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106400

31. E B, MiticWayne, LeadbeaterBonnie, K D. Risk and Protective Factors for Adolescent Substance Use and Mental Health Symptoms. *Can J Commun Ment Health*. Published online July 8, 2009. doi:10.7870/cjcmh-2009-0002

32. Statistics Canada. Table 13-10-0394-01 Leading causes of death, total population, by age group. doi:https://doi.org/10.25318/1310039401-eng

Raphael D. Social Determinants of Health: Canadian Perspectives. Third edition.
 Canadian Scholars' Press Inc.; 2016. Accessed December 29, 2021.

34. Hser YI, Longshore D, Anglin MD. The Life Course Perspective on Drug Use: A
Conceptual Framework for Understanding Drug Use Trajectories. *Eval Rev.* 2007;31(6):515-547.
doi:10.1177/0193841X07307316

35. McLeroy KR, Bibeau D, Steckler A, Glanz K. An Ecological Perspective on Health Promotion Programs. *Health Educ Q*. 1988;15(4):351-377. doi:10.1177/109019818801500401

36. Viner RM, Ozer EM, Denny S, et al. Adolescence and the social determinants of health. *The Lancet*. 2012;379(9826):1641-1652. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60149-4

37. Raphael D, Bryant T, Mikkonen J, Alexander R. *Social Determinants of Health: The Canadian Facts*. Second edition. Ontario Tech University Faculty of Health Sciences and Toronto: York University School of Health Policy and Management; 2020.

Su J, Supple AJ, Kuo SIC. The Role of Individual and Contextual Factors in
 Differentiating Substance Use Profiles among Adolescents. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2018;53(5):734 743. doi:10.1080/10826084.2017.1363237

39. Reininger BM, Evans AE, Griffin SF, et al. Predicting adolescent risk behaviors based on an ecological framework and assets. *Am J Health Behav*. 2005;29(2):150-161. doi:10.5993/ajhb.29.2.6

40. Butler A, Patte KA, Ferro MA, Leatherdale ST. Interrelationships among depression, anxiety, flourishing, and cannabis use in youth. *Addict Behav.* 2019;89:206-215. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.10.007

41. Williams GC, Burns KE, Battista K, de Groh M, Jiang Y, Leatherdale ST. High School Intramural Participation and Substance Use: A Longitudinal Analysis of COMPASS Data. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2021;56(8):1108-1118. doi:10.1080/10826084.2021.1901932

42. Harvey A, Faulkner G, Giangregorio L, Leatherdale ST. An examination of school- and student-level characteristics associated with the likelihood of students' meeting the Canadian physical activity guidelines in the COMPASS study. *Can J Public Health*. 2017;108(4):348-354. doi:10.17269/CJPH.108.5925

Bachman JG, O'Malley PM, Johnston LD, Schulenberg JE, Wallace JM. Racial/Ethnic
Differences in the Relationship Between Parental Education and Substance Use Among U.S.
8th-, 10th-, and 12th-Grade Students: Findings From the Monitoring the Future Project*. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs*. 2011;72(2):279-285. doi:10.15288/jsad.2011.72.279

44. Small E, Suzuki R, Maleku A. The Impact of Family and Parental Education on
Adolescents' Substance Use: A Study of U.S. High School Seniors. *Soc Work Public Health*.
2014;29(6):594-605. doi:10.1080/19371918.2014.893855

45. Henkel D, Zemlin U. Social Inequality and Substance Use and Problematic Gambling Among Adolescents and Young Adults: A Review of Epidemiological Surveys in Germany. *Curr Drug Abuse Rev.* 2016;9(1):26-48.

46. Fenno JG. Prince Albert youth drug and alcohol use: a comparison study of Prince Albert, Saskatchewan, and Canada youth. *J Community Saf Well-Being*. 2016;1(3):61. doi:10.35502/jcswb.18

47. Allison KW, Crawford I, Leone PE, et al. Adolescent Substance Use: Preliminary
Examinations of School and Neighborhood Context. *Am J Community Psychol*. 1999;27(2):111141. doi:10.1023/A:1022879500217

48. Ljubotina D, Galić J, Jukić V. Prevalence and Risk Factors of Substance Use among Urban Adolescents: Questionnaire Study. *Croat Med J*. 2004;45:88-98.

49. Weatherson KA, O'Neill M, Lau EY, Qian W, Leatherdale ST, Faulkner GEJ. The Protective Effects of School Connectedness on Substance Use and Physical Activity. *J Adolesc Health*. 2018;63(6):724-731. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2018.07.002

50. Agabio R, Trincas G, Floris F, Mura G, Sancassiani F, Angermeyer MC. A Systematic Review of School-Based Alcohol and other Drug Prevention Programs. *Clin Pract Epidemiol Ment Health CP EMH*. 2015;11(Suppl 1 M6):102-112. doi:10.2174/1745017901511010102

51. Tremblay M, Baydala L, Khan M, et al. Primary Substance Use Prevention Programs for Children and Youth: A Systematic Review. *Pediatrics*. 2020;146(3):e20192747. doi:10.1542/peds.2019-2747

52. Cottrell L, Northrup K, Wittberg R. Challenges and Lessons Learned From a Prevention Research Center Partnership. *Am J Prev Med.* 2017;52(3):S255-S257. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2016.08.016

53. McCann H, Moore MJ, Barr EM, Wilson K. Sexual Health Services in Schools: A Successful Community Collaborative. *Health Promot Pract*. 2021;22(3):349-357. doi:10.1177/1524839919894303

54. McBride DC, Terry-McElrath YM, VanderWaal CJ, Chriqui JF, Myllyluoma J. US Public Health Agency involvement in youth-focused illicit drug policy, planning, and prevention at the

local level, 1999-2003. *Am J Public Health*. 2008;98(2):270-277. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2007.112524

55. VanderWaal CJ, McBride DC, Terry-McElrath YM, Bishop RM. The Role of Public
Health Agencies in Providing Access to Adolescent Drug Treatment Services. *J Adolesc Health*.
2006;39(6):916-924. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2006.06.011

56. Wilcox P. An ecological approach to understanding youth smoking trajectories: problems and prospects. *Addiction*. 2003;98(s1):57-77. doi:10.1046/j.1360-0443.98.s1.5.x

57. Feinstein EC, Richter L, Foster SE. Addressing the Critical Health Problem of Adolescent
Substance Use Through Health Care, Research, and Public Policy. *J Adolesc Health*.
2012;50(5):431-436. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2011.12.033

58. Vermeer J, Battista K, Leatherdale ST. Examining Engagement With Public Health in the Implementation of School-Based Health Initiatives: Findings From the COMPASS Study. *J Sch Health*. 2021;91(10):825-835. doi:10.1111/josh.13072

59. Burnett T, Battista K, Butt M, Sherifali D, Leatherdale ST, Dobbins M. The association between public health engagement in school-based substance use prevention programs and student alcohol, cannabis, e-cigarette and cigarette use. *Can J Public Health*. Published online July 21, 2022:1-10. doi:10.17269/s41997-022-00655-3

60. Pabayo, R., Cook, D. M., Farmer, G., & Molnar, B. E. Neighborhood income inequality and alcohol use among adolescents in Boston, Massachusetts. *International journal of environmental research and public health*. 2021;18(16): 8484. doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18168484

61. Lambert SF, Brown TL, Phillips CM, Ialongo NS. The Relationship Between Perceptions of Neighborhood Characteristics and Substance Use Among Urban African American Adolescents. *Am J Community Psychol*. 2004;34(3):205-218. doi:10.1007/s10464-004-7415-3

 Tucker JS, Pollard MS, De La Haye K, Kennedy DP, Green HD. Neighborhood characteristics and the initiation of marijuana use and binge drinking. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2013;128(1-2):83-89. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2012.08.006

63. Quon EC, McGrath JJ. Province-Level Income Inequality and Health Outcomes in Canadian Adolescents. *J Pediatr Psychol*. 2015;40(2):251-261. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsu089

64. Elgar FJ, Roberts C, Parry-Langdon N, Boyce W. Income inequality and alcohol use: a multilevel analysis of drinking and drunkenness in adolescents in 34 countries. *Eur J Public Health*. 2005;15(3):245-250. doi:10.1093/eurpub/cki093

65. Klein DE, Chaiton M, Kundu A, Schwartz R. A Literature Review on International Ecigarette Regulatory Policies. *Curr Addict Rep.* 2020;7(4):509-519. doi:10.1007/s40429-020-00332-w

66. Teutsch SM, Fielding J. Economics and Local Public Health Departments. *Am J Prev Med.* 2016;50(5):S81-S83. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2015.10.011

67. Raphael D, Brassolotto J, Baldeo N. Ideological and organizational components of differing public health strategies for addressing the social determinants of health. *Health Promot Int.* 2015;30(4):855-867. doi:10.1093/heapro/dau022

68. World Health Organization. Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion. Published online November 1986. Accessed May 8, 2023. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WH-1987

69. Public Health Ontario. Ontario Public Health Standards: Requirements for Programs, Services and Accountability. Published online June 2021.

70. Raphael D. Barriers to addressing the societal determinants of health: public health units and poverty in Ontario, Canada*. *Health Promot Int*. 2003;18(4):397-405. doi:10.1093/heapro/dag411

71. Veugelers PJ, Schwartz ME. Comprehensive School Health in Canada. *Can J Public Health*. 2010;101(2):S5-S8. doi:10.1007/BF03405617

72. Meyer AM, Davis M, Mays GP. Defining Organizational Capacity for Public Health Services and Systems Research. *J Public Health Manag Pract*. 2012;18(6):535-544. doi:10.1097/PHH.0b013e31825ce928

Paton D, Wright L. The effect of spending cuts on teen pregnancy. *J Health Econ*.
2017;54:135-146. doi:10.1016/j.jhealeco.2017.05.002

74. Gray J, Dickson J. Doug Ford announces that cuts to municipal public health and childcare programs will go ahead. *The Globe and Mail*.

https://www.theglobeandmail.com/politics/article-doug-ford-announces-that-cuts-to-municipal-public-health-and-childcare/. Published August 19, 2019. Accessed January 28, 2022.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter provides two narrative reviews. The first is a review of the literature on PHU engagement in secondary schools. After a brief discussion of public health involvement in schools broadly, this literature review describes the specific role of local-level PHUs. The review includes four papers that focus on adolescent substance use and the role of PHUs in capacity building and service provision. Next, this chapter offers an overview of public health structure and responsibilities in the Canadian provinces of Ontario, Alberta and British Columbia, along with the role of public health in school health specifically.

The second narrative review focuses on public health spending. The aim of this review is to summarize association studies between PHU spending and population health outcomes. Each study is described in terms of its study design, exposure and outcome of interest, and key findings, along with strengths and limitations of the research. Although there are no association studies between PHU spending and adolescent substance use, the narrative review is followed by a description of select studies that have looked at public health or social service spending broadly and its association with substance use in the general population. Chapter 2 concludes with a discussion of the gaps in the literature and how this thesis will aim to fill those gaps.

2.1 Background: Public health engagement in schools

Public health authorities engage with schools in a variety of ways, including program implementation, problem solving, and information dissemination.^{1–4} If engaging with existing school-based health programs, public health staff can improve the quality and sustainability of these programs by offering training or tools to improve capacity.^{2,5–8} Public health engagement can also support the promotion of health equity. The school setting allows public health staff to reach students who may not otherwise have access to preventative care or health promotion programming due to their socioeconomic status or membership in a marginalized community.^{3,6} School-based programming may occur in areas such as oral health, vision health, immunization, sexual and reproductive health, obesity prevention, healthy eating, bullying prevention, mental health, substance use, physical activity and addressing sedentary behaviour.^{2,6,9–11}

As an example, school immunization programs aim to administer routine and catch-up vaccines for adolescents, including Human Papillomavirus (HPV) vaccines and vaccines in response to influenza outbreaks.^{12,13} They also offer an opportunity to evaluate and improve

knowledge regarding immunization, reduce children's needle-related anxiety, and build trust among parents by engaging with them in collaboration with trusted school staff.^{12,13} Schoolbased HPV vaccine uptake has been shown to be higher when the program was implemented as a joint responsibility between the school and local health departments, as compared to being led by the health department alone, and when teachers were involved in vaccine promotion or program coordination.¹² This may be because teachers, as compared to external or unknown professionals, are likely more familiar to and trusted by students and their parents. Strong relationships between representatives from schools and local PHUs are considered key to program success.¹²

Preventative oral health services in schools are another example of public health collaboration with schools. Preventative oral health aims to reduce the risk of dental caries, provide instruction on oral hygiene, ensure healthy eating, and improve oral health overall.^{14,15} These services are offered in dental clinics within schools where they are more accessible to children and youth than community clinics that may be far in distance and/or require parents to take time off work to visit. These school-based programs may involve teaching good oral hygiene practices to children, training teachers and parents to reinforce these lessons, screening children for illnesses, and providing tools to schools (e.g. educational posters, pamphlets) or students (e.g. toothbrush and toothpaste).^{14,15}

Public health units may also be involved in school-based health centers (SBHC). SBHCs can provide primary healthcare services in a range of areas, including dental health, mental health, reproductive health, drug treatment services, and treatment and management of chronic conditions.^{16–18} However, SBHCs may also provide preventative services and health promotion programs. These include communicable disease control and prevention, STI screening and education, vision health screening, and substance use counseling.^{16,17,19}

The specific body of public health that is involved in schools may vary. Public health resources and services may be provided to schools by a national body such as the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) or the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention in the US. Alternatively, resources and services may be provided by provincial/state departments of public health, or local health departments specific to a region, city, township, or county.^{7,8,12,20,21} In Canada, PHAC serves as an advisor, supports research in school health, and offers funding for initiatives in school health.²¹ In the US, state level public health departments may offer funding, technical assistance, support in program implementation, training for health or non-health

professionals working in schools, or their expertise in the form of consultation and policy development.^{3,5,7,22,23} This thesis will focus on the role of public health units at a local level in school-based public health initiatives.

2.2 Narrative review: Public health unit engagement in schools

To explore the literature on PHU engagement in schools, a search was conducted using terms for local public health bodies ("public health unit" OR "health department" OR "health authority") combined with search terms relating to collaboration ("collaboration" OR "support" OR "engagement" OR "partnership"), and combined with "school." Databases searched were CINAHL, PsycInfo, Medline, PubMed, and Child Development and Adolescent Studies. Only articles written in English were included. Papers on public health programming in schools were excluded if they did not clearly mention whether local public health was involved or did not describe a role for local public health. For simplicity, any local public health office, health unit, or PHU. Twelve studies were identified. Ten studies took place in the United States and two in Canada. Eight are descriptive studies and four are cross-sectional association studies. All were published between 2006 and 2022. A summary of the twelve studies is shown in Table 2.1 and a narrative description of the literature can be found in Appendix A.

Briefly, PHUs have taken a diverse range of roles in their collaboration with schools. Some key roles identified in the literature were surveillance and data collection, capacity building, program or service delivery, and joint problem solving. The most common was capacity building in the form of resource provision and information dissemination. Health outcomes targeted in PHU-school collaborations include substance use, obesity, physical activity, sexual health, and COVID-19 incidence.

There were four studies found that explore the role of PHUs in schools and adolescent substance use. VanderWaal et al. (2006) and McBride et al. (2008) identify factors that are associated with PHU engagement in schools, while Vermeer et al. (2021) and Burnett et al. (2022) study the association between PHU engagement and health outcomes.¹⁻⁴ Notably, while the majority of research on PHU collaboration with schools is from the United States, Burnett et al. (2022) and Vermeer et al. (2021) offer a Canadian perspective.

VanderWaal et al. (2006) investigate the role of PHUs in offering drug treatment services to adolescents in school health clinics, juvenile drug courts, or other community agencies.⁴ The potential roles that PHUs may have played in schools were categorized as: serving as a referral agent for youth who use drugs; providing screening or treatment for youth who use drugs; providing resources dedicated to assessing alcohol, tobacco, and other drug prevention/treatment needs; providing resources dedicated to youth illicit drug use treatment and/or counseling; or any of the previously listed categories. Just over half of study participants in a nationally representative sample of American youth had their local PHU involved in school health clinics. For the majority of youth, their local PHU provided resources to assess substance use prevention or treatment needs. Researchers were interested in four area level factors: community income, urbanicity, concentration of the youth population and community racial composition. The first three factors were unrelated to the likelihood of being served by a PHU engaged in school health clinics, however racial composition of the community was significantly associated with PHU engagement. Youth who lived in communities where the size of the African American population was larger than the national average, had a higher likelihood of being served by PHUs that were involved in school health clinics, acted as referral agents, or provided screening or treatment for youth using drugs.

McBride et al. (2008) conducted an investigation of the role for PHUs in the provision of resources or education to address youth substance use as well as its role in advocacy for policy change.³ After surveying a nationally representative sample of youth, they found that 56% of respondents lived in an area where the local public health agency provided financial or human resources for the prevention of illegal drug use, and 35% of respondents lived in an area where the local PHU provided education in school health clinics on substance use prevention.³ 24% and 35% of respondents had their local PHU involved in advocacy for needle-exchange programs or alternatives to jail sentences for illicit drug use, respectively. Analyzing racial distribution as a predictor of PHU engagement, McBride et al. (2008) found that there were more respondents reporting PHU engagement in school health clinics from sites with above-average proportions of African Americans than sites with below-average proportions of African Americans. When controlling for the size of the White population, respondents living in sites with Hispanic populations larger than the national average were less likely than those in sites with smaller than average Hispanic populations, to have their local PHU providing education in school health

clinics on substance use prevention. Thus, VanderWaal et al. (2006) and McBride et al. (2008) both find that community racial composition is a predictor of the likelihood of PHU engagement in school-level substance use prevention.

Vermeer et al. (2021) studied the association between PHU engagement and numerous aspects of adolescent health and health behaviours, including depression, anxiety, physical activity, nutrition, screen time, substance use, bullying, and sedentary behaviour.¹ PHU engagement was categorized as: no engagement; provision of information/resources/ programs; problem-solving jointly with schools; or developing/implementing program activities jointly with schools. Vermeer et al. (2021) found that adolescents who had exposure to PHU provision of information/resources/programs to address sedentary behaviors had lower odds of meeting the guidelines for screen time. Adolescents who had exposure to PHU joint problem solving had higher odds of having better mental health, higher odds of meeting the guidelines for screen time, and lower odds of bullying others. Developing/implementing program activities jointly was not associated with any health outcome. No category of PHU engagement was associated with substance use.

Burnett et al. (2022) conducted a similar study, though with a focus on substance use outcomes alone.² They found no association between PHU engagement and substance use, where engagement was categorized as any form of PHU collaboration in schools compared to no collaboration. However, after stratifying schools by higher-than-average or lower-than-average substance use and looking at different types of engagement, some associations were noteworthy. For example, in schools with below average substance use, PHU provision of information/resources/programs was associated with lower odds of binge drinking alcohol, and in schools with above average substance use, it was associated with lower cigarette use. In schools with below average substance use, joint problem solving was associated with a higher odds of alcohol use, and joint development/implementation of programs was associated with higher odds of cannabis use. According to these studies by Vermeer et al. (2021) and Burnett et al. (2022), the association between PHU engagement in schools and adolescent health depends on the method of engagement (e.g., resource provision vs. joint problem-solving) and varies for different health outcomes. These findings suggest that, even if an association may exist, there is no consistent directionality. Of note, because both these studies were cross-sectional and thus lacked temporality between exposure and outcome, it is not clear whether significant

21

associations between the hypothesized exposure and outcomes were causal. PHU engagement may have been a cause of health behaviour change among students, or it may have been a result of poor health behaviours that needed to be addressed.
Author &	Location &	Study Objective(s)	Health	Method of PHU	Relevant Findings/Outcomes
Year	Study Design		Outcome(s)	Engagement	
VanderWaal et al. (2006)	USA, 1999-2003 Cross- sectional	Examine the role of PHUs in providing access to adolescent drug treatment services in school	Youth substance use	Capacity building: Involvement in school health clinics to provide resources, assess substance use or treatment	• Likelihood of having exposure to public health agency involvement in school health clinics depended on type of involvement, region, and proportion of African American residents
		drug courts, and other community agencies		screening or treatment, treatment referrals, resources for treatment, and counseling	• Youth in communities with above average concentration of African American people more likely to have PHU involvement in schools
McBride et al. (2008)	USA 1999-2003	Examine local PHU involvement in advocacy for illicit	Youth substance use	Capacity building: PHU provision of financial or human	• PHU participation in school health clinics was higher for youth in sites with above-average proportion of
	Descriptive	drug policy related to youth; determine extent of PHU involvement in local drug policy activities		resources for community- and school-based illicit drug use prevention; provision of drug use prevention education in school health clinics	 African-American residents Majority of youth were in areas where PHU provided traditional services (e.g. drug abuse prevention) but fewer in areas where PHU was involved in implementing alternative drug policies More youth were in areas where PHU was involved in alternative policy advocacy than where PHU participated in treatment-based alternatives to incarceration Youth in urban areas more likely to have advocacy by PHU for needle- exchange

Table 2.1. Summary of key findings from narrative review of public health unit (PHU) engagement in schools.

Table 2.1. Continued.

Author & Year	Location & Study Design	Study Objective(s)	Health Outcome(s)	Method of PHU Engagement	Relevant Findings/Outcomes
Cousins et al. (2011)	North Carolina, USA 2008-2009 Descriptive	Describe role of state health department in supporting local efforts toward preventing childhood obesity and overweight; examine outcomes, strengths, and barriers to success	Childhood obesity	Capacity building, joint program implementation: State level: funding, training, technical assistance for capacity building at local level Local level: partners in program implementation, as well as policy and environmental change	 Policy changes were made to support physical activity and healthy eating New phys. ed. curriculum introduced Discontinued funding was a barrier to sustainability County coordinators were instrumental to program success through information sharing, problem solving, trouble shooting, facilitating data collection
Alleman et al. (2017)	DuPage County, Illinois, USA 2011-2015 Descriptive	Describe prevalence of childhood obesity and describe role of PHU in surveillance of childhood obesity	Childhood obesity	Surveillance/data collection: Surveillance system developed and maintained by PHU using secondary data from schools	 Obesity prevalence in DuPage County public schools lower than national average Rate among males was higher than average, rate among females was lower than average; kindergarten obesity rate higher than average
Cottrell et al. (2017)	Ohio, USA 2009-2012 Descriptive/ Case study	Describe a partnership between University research center, local PHU, and local school system in addressing school health	Fitness/ physical activity	Surveillance/data collection and capacity building: Community planning and staffing, intervention programming	 Partnership allowed for research in schools: found association between fitness and standardized test scores, School-specific evidence informed intervention planning, and prompted ongoing research Interests, needs, goals of all partners were taken into consideration

Table 2.1. Continued.

Author &	Location &	Study Objective(s)	Health	Method of PHU	Relevant Findings/Outcomes
Year	Study Design		Outcome(s)	Engagement	
McCann et al. (2021)	Duval County, Florida, USA 2014-2018	Describe 5-year project to provide sexual health services (SHS) through School	Sexual health: sexual health education, sexually	Capacity building: Partnership facilitated improved processes, policies, laws, protocols; partnership	• Successful implementation of school-based SHS for at-risk youth, recruitment of youth to attend educational sessions and
	Descriptive	Based Health Centres; Document community support for this initiative	transmitted disease testing, teen pregnancy	allowed PHU to share expertise and resources for SHS	receive testing and treatment; partnership considered important to success
Vermeer et	Ontario,	Examine barriers to	Screen time,	Capacity building through	• Majority of schools receive
al. (2021)	Canada 2017-2018	improving student health in schools; Analyze extent and	mental health, bullying, physical activity	provision of resources, developing/implementing programs jointly or solving	resources from PHU, less than 30% develop/implement programs jointly, and 12%
	Cross- sectional	effect of PHU engagement on student health behaviours	sedentary behaviour, and substance use	problems jointly	 Programs jointy, and 1270 report no engagement Lack of consistent PHU engagement Stronger partnerships may alleviate some barriers to implementing health interventions
Auger et al.	Cincinnati,	Describe a partnership	COVID-19:	Surveillance/data collection	• Schools able to continue
(2022)	Ohio, USA 2020-2021	between local PHU, children's hospital, and school district, to	cases, tests, time from feeling unwell to	and capacity building: Plan, design, implementation of covid mitigation program;	operation thanks to quick identification and isolation of COVID-19 cases, case
	Descriptive	design, implement and test COVID-19 mitigation strategies	isolation	positive tests reported to PHU; close contact identification & notification by PHU staff	reporting, tracking of contacts and program improvement through daily huddles and reflection

Table 2.1. Continued	Tabl	e 2.1.	Continu	ed.
----------------------	------	--------	---------	-----

Author & Year	Location & Study Design	Study Objective(s)	Health Outcome(s)	Method of PHU Engagement	Relevant Findings/Outcomes
Bejster et al. (2022)	Lake County, Illinois, USA 2016/17- 2019/20 Descriptive	Describe a partnership between county PHU and local school district to address childhood obesity	Childhood obesity	Capacity building : support, guidance in needs assessment, program development, implementation and evaluation; financial support, materials, etc; resource and knowledge sharing	 Positive program outcomes: increased teacher knowledge and confidence and increased parental knowledge regarding healthy childhood behaviours Learned importance of resource sharing and building a stronger program with mutual partner benefits Increased community capacity to promote health
Burnett et al. (2022)	Ontario, British Columbia, and Alberta, Canada 2018-2019 Cross- sectional	Determine the impact of PHU engagement in school-based substance use prevention programs on student substance use	Substance use: alcohol, cannabis, cigarette, and e-cigarette use	Capacity building through provision of resources, developing/implementing programs jointly, or solving problems jointly	 No association between overall PHU engagement and any substance use Joint problem solving associated with higher odds of binge drinking, alcohol use, cannabis use Associations differed when looking at high and low use schools separately: for example, in low use schools, PHU provision of resources/information/programs was associated with lower binge drinking but joint problem solving was associated with higher binge drinking

Table	2.1.	Continued	Ι.

Author & Year	Location & Study Design	Study Objective(s)	Health Outcome(s)	Method of PHU Engagement	Relevant Findings/Outcomes
Kiernan et al. (2022)	California, USA 2020 Descriptive	Report on evaluation virtual training to build the knowledge and confidence of School Specialists in protecting student health and reducing learning achievement gap during COVID-19 pandemic	COVID-19	Capacity building: Local Health Department: COVID-19 guidance, case/outbreak investigation, data management; consultation with university and state health department who were designing the training program; State Health Department: provide virtual training	• School Specialist training effective in increasing knowledge and confidence of trainees
Kunz et al. (2022)	McHenry County, Illinois, USA 2020 Descriptive	Describe a multidisciplinary collaboration for healthy student outcomes in the context of the COVID- 19 pandemic, for best practice strategies to prevent illness and disseminate COVID-19 relevant information	COVID-19	Surveillance/data collection and capacity building: Public health nurse collaboration with school nurse to form School Nurse Task Force in: surveillance, health promotion, outbreak investigation, information dissemination to stakeholders, contact tracing, and team meetings for ongoing reflection & evaluation of public health activities	 School Nurse Task Force was established COVID-19 toolkit was developed Ongoing operation of school was made possible during COVID-19 pandemic

2.3 Public health unit organization in three Canadian provinces

This thesis will focus specifically on PHU collaboration with schools in the Canadian provinces of Ontario, Alberta, and British Columbia (B.C.). In each of Ontario, Alberta and B.C., one or multiple public health authorities are responsible for designing and delivering public health programs and services in their respective jurisdictions. However, the number of public health authorities and the organization of each public health system varies across provinces. Below is a brief overview of the organization of public health in each province, along with the role that public health plays in schools – including their work in substance use prevention. Of note, public health involvement in schools is guided by the Comprehensive School Health (CSH) model. CSH will be discussed further in section 2.3.4 of this chapter. Briefly, CSH aims to build healthy school communities by addressing risk factors for poor health and strengthening the physical, social, and community environments in which students live, study, and play. In other words, the CSH model calls for comprehensively addressing multiple social determinants of health.

2.3.1 Ontario

As of 2023, there are 34 local public health units in Ontario. This number was 36 in 2018 and 35 in 2019, as health units merged.²⁴ Public health in Ontario has a decentralized structure, in comparison to Alberta or British Columbia, which have fewer and larger regional health authorities.^{20,24} Each public health unit in Ontario is managed by a board of health and must operate in alignment with Ontario's Public Health Standards.²² There are nine program standards, including Healthy Environments, Immunization, Food Safety and School Health. There are also four foundational standards: Population Health Assessment, Health Equity, Effective Public Health Practice, and Emergency Management. The foundational standards outline goals and requirements for each program standard. These standards were set by the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care (MOHLTC), to which all boards of health are accountable (note that as of 2019, the MOHLTC has separated into the Ministry of Health and the Ministry of Long-Term Care). Where PHU jurisdictional boundaries overlap with First Nations communities, First Nations may have written agreements with the local PHU regarding the delivery of public health programs and services.²⁰ It is a requirement within the Health Equity standard for PHUs to foster meaningful and collaborative partnerships with First Nations communities and organizations. Public health services for on-reserve First Nations are typically a responsibility of the federal government or local community health centres.²⁵

The school health standard aims "to achieve optimal health of school aged children and youth through partnership and collaboration with school boards and schools."22 Substance use prevention and harm reduction is one area for which PHUs may offer support to schools, and intervention programs in this area must be implemented following the most up to date Substance Use Prevention and Harm Reduction Guideline, as written by the Ontario Ministry of Health. Whether PHUs support schools in the area of adolescent substance use, and how they do so, varies by jurisdiction and by school needs. Public health nurses are key players in bringing public health to the school community. They are part of multidisciplinary teams working to holistically and comprehensively promote the health of children and youth.²⁶ The Community Health Nurses Initiatives Group interviewed a sample of PHUs and found that eight of thirteen had assigned public health nurses to all schools, while three PHUs had assigned public health nurses only to specific, priority schools.²⁶ Other PHU staff who may be assigned to work with school boards include PHU managers, health promoters, or designated school health directors. PHUs may also be involved with schools through the Ontario Healthy Schools Coalition. This is a multidisciplinary team with a mission to improve the health and learning of children and youth in Ontario by promoting healthy physical and social environments for students and ensuring their access to knowledge, resources, and services.²⁷ Members of the Ontario Healthy Schools Coalition include public health units, school boards, academic institutions, hospitals, parent and student organizations and others.

2.3.2 Alberta

In Alberta, public health programs and services are primarily the responsibility of Alberta Health Services (AHS), a provincial health authority that is accountable to the AHS Official Administrator, who themselves are accountable to the province's Minister of Health.⁹⁶ In contrast to Ontario's independently operating health units, Alberta's health authority is a single, integrated system across five regional zones: North Zone, Edmonton Zone, Calgary Zone, Central Zone and South Zone. Whereas public health unit services are distinct from medical services in Ontario's public health system, AHS covers both medical care and public health. Within AHS, public health services are part of the provincial "Population and Public Health"

program and the Population and Public Health Strategic Clinical Network. AHS's strategic clinical networks are teams of professionals with expertise in a specific area of health who work collaboratively to develop innovative solutions, advance care, and improve outcomes for all Albertans.^{29,30} The Population and Public Health Strategic Clinical Network includes health care workers, researchers, and educators working to promote and protect health and health equity.^{29,31,32} This work is guided by a Population and Public Health Core Committee as well as an Indigenous Health Core Committee, both including experts from academia, government, professional associations, and non-profit organizations. Public health services for Indigenous communities in Alberta are specifically guided by the Indigenous Wellness Core.³⁰ This is a province-wide, culturally sensitive program that aims to improve and support primary health care for Alberta's Indigenous communities, but also supports health promotion and preventative care through partnerships with Indigenous communities and Indigenous decision-makers.³⁰ Public health programs and services also exist at the zone level, in coordination with the provincial Population and Public Health Centres.³³

In school settings, AHS has a School Health & Wellness Promotion team that plans and coordinates initiatives to improve nutrition, active living, and mental health in children and youth 6 to 18 years of age.³⁴ The team includes health promotion facilitators who perform or support health assessment, action planning, and the development and implementation of healthy school policies. AHS also offers expertise and resources to schools through the Healthier Together – Schools initiative, using the comprehensive school health model.^{5,35} Healthier Together is an initiative of AHS and the Government of Alberta to create an interactive website of tools and resources for health promotion in communities, workplaces, healthcare settings, and schools. Through Healthier Together – Schools, AHS also offers public health inspection services (for outbreak prevention and control, water safety testing, indoor air quality monitoring, etc.), school health nursing services (e.g. immunization education and administration, resources for parents, referrals), and general health promotion services.³⁵ To target substance use directly, AHS provides educational resources on addictions and mental health to schools, as well as a toolkit for peer leadership programs addressing substance use.³⁶

2.3.3 British Columbia

In British Columbia, both medical services as well as public health programs and services are provided by five regional health authorities alongside the Provincial Health Services Authority. One of the agencies run at the provincial level is the B.C. Centre for Disease Control.³⁷ It provides programming, services, clinics and data tools to address a wide range of public health issues. The regional health authorities are Fraser Health, Northern Health, Vancouver Coastal Health, Interior Health, and Vancouver Island Health. Similar to Ontario's public health units and Alberta's centralized health authority, each B.C. health authority is accountable to a board of directors and to the Minister of Health. The regional health authorities operate independently, but in collaboration with the Provincial Health Services Authority as part of a network that provides core public health programs province-wide.³⁸ These core programs, as per the B.C. Guiding Framework for Public Health, are in the areas of maternal, child and family health, mental health and substance-related harms, and environmental health, among others. Each health authority also collaborates with the provincial First Nations Health Authority to promote health in B.C.'s Indigenous populations. Within the Ministry of Health, the Office of Indigenous Health collaborates with the First Nations Health Authority, regional health authorities, and provincial health authority, as well as other Indigenous partners to bring an Indigenous perspective to legislation, policy and program development.³⁹ At a more local level, program and service delivery occurs within local health units as well as community-based organizations that may receive funding from regional health authorities.

Importantly, public health collaborates with different sectors of government, communitybased organizations, academia, schools, workplaces and non-profits. Similar to Ontario and Alberta, public health collaborates with the education sector within the comprehensive school health framework, in the form of its Healthy Schools B.C. initiative.⁴⁰ Healthy Schools B.C. is a partnership between the ministries of Health and Education, the registered charity Dedicated Action for School Health (DASH) B.C., regional health authorities, and others.⁴⁰ Schools are identified as partners in achieving multiple goals of the B.C. Guiding Framework for Public Health, including Positive Mental Health & Prevention of Substance Harms.⁴¹ One performance indicator, toward the goal of achieving healthy living and healthy communities, is "the percentage of students in grades 3, 4, 7, 10 and 12 who report they are learning how to stay healthy." In order to achieve this goal, school-based healthy living programs exist on topics like healthy eating, physical activity and avoiding tobacco use. Another way that substance use is addressed is through Integrated Child & Youth Teams working with school districts across the province.⁴² These are multidisciplinary teams that improve accessibility of mental health and substance use services by offering services to adolescents right in their school and community.

2.3.4 Comprehensive School Health

Common to Ontario, Alberta and B.C., is the internationally utilized Comprehensive School Health (CSH) framework.⁴³ Developed from the Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion (1986), CSH is a framework that accounts for the interdependence of children's health and educational outcomes. Health can impact learning and educational outcomes are in turn associated with health and well-being into adulthood.^{5,44,45} The Pan-Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health (JCSH) applies CSH in a Canadian context. Established in 2005, the JCSH is an agreement between provincial, territorial and federal governments, and a partnership between education and health systems, to support the health, well-being and learning of Canadian children and youth.^{11,40,43,46} The CSH framework focuses on four key areas 1) the social and physical environment 2) teaching and learning 3) policy and 4) partnerships and services.^{43,45,46} School partnerships can involve students' families, community organizations, health sector representatives, and other schools. Public health units can serve as one of those community partners, and may even help shape the social, physical and policy environments to address multiple areas of health and well-being.^{3,9,43,47}

2.4 Conclusion

PHU collaboration with schools may be beneficial in addressing a variety of health outcomes, including childhood obesity, sexual health, infectious diseases, physical activity and substance use. Collaboration between PHUs and schools may allow for school-level data collection on health outcomes, capacity building through the provision of financial and human resources and consultation, delivery of health promotion programs and services, and joint problem solving. Importantly, schools are a setting where students of all socioeconomic statuses or racial/ethnic backgrounds can be efficiently reached. In the context of social inequities that result in health disparities, the school setting offers increased accessibility and opportunity to serve students in greatest need or at highest risk of poor health outcomes.⁵⁵

2.5 Background: Public health spending and population health outcomes

Spending by public health units is a second indicator of interest in studying the role of PHUs in addressing adolescent substance use. The association between public health spending and population health has been studied for various health outcomes, and in various settings. In defining public health spending, "public health" is described by Acheson (1988) as "the art and science of preventing disease, prolonging life and promoting health through the organized efforts of society".⁴⁸ Public health spending is thus distinct from spending on medical or hospital care that is treatment-oriented rather than preventive. "Public health spending" in this thesis will refer to expenditure for preventive public health programs and services including, but not limited to, spending on tobacco and alcohol control, food and water safety, immunization and control of infectious disease, and promotion of mental and sexual health. Because of the significance of social factors on population health, spending on public health may be studied in combination with spending on social services, which is indeed the case for some previous research.^{49–52} In this thesis, public health spending will specifically refer to per capita expenditure by local level public health units, and will not include public health expenditure by provincial/state/federal governments.

Singh (2014) completed a systematic review of the association between public health spending and health outcomes, with a focus on research completed in the United States between 1985 and 2012.⁵³ All studies on public health spending and population health outcomes described analyses of public health spending either at the level of local health departments or at the state level, after aggregating local level data. There was a mix of cross-sectional and longitudinal quantitative studies, along with one qualitative case study. The case study discussed organizational efforts to align federal and state level financing for immunization service delivery with local service delivery needs. Among the quantitative studies, health outcomes included teenage birth rates and receipt of prenatal care among mothers under twenty, immunization rates among children, and infant mortality rates. Other health outcomes studied in the general population included all-cause or cause-specific mortality, county health rankings, smoking and obesity prevalence estimates, infectious disease morbidity, and premature death. The quantitative indicators of public health spending included total per capita public health expenditures by local health departments (LHD), program-specific expenditures by LHDs, locally generated tax dollars for health care, trends in LHD funding, percentage of public revenue allocated to LHDs, LHD

expenditures aggregated to the state level, and the utilization of property tax levies to fund local public health.

In this review, nine of ten studies looking at public health spending report a beneficial association between spending on public health and various health outcomes of interest.⁵³ Becker et al. (1998) found that higher expenditures on maternal and child health were associated with a lower percentage of teen births and a lower percentage of infants whose mothers did not receive adequate prenatal care.⁵⁴ Similarly, Bekemeier and colleagues found an association between the provision of maternal and child health services and lower mortality rates - though the association varied by the type of service and age or gender group studied.⁵⁵ Grembowski et al. (2010) found some evidence that increases in LHD expenditure was associated with reduced mortality rates, but only among specific groups, including infants, Black populations, and White females.⁵⁶ Mays and Smith (2011), looking at cause-specific mortality, found that a 10% increase in LHD expenditure was associated with a decline in infant mortality and mortality related to cardiovascular disease, diabetes and cancer.⁵⁷ Erwin and colleagues found that higher LHD spending was associated with reduced infectious disease-related morbidity and premature death.^{58,59} Findings of the case study on LHD organizational factors did not report on public health spending, but did find a relationship between financing decisions and the needs and challenges related to childhood immunization coverage.⁶⁰ Only one study reported a consistently inverse association between public health spending and population health.⁶¹ Boeke et al. (2008) found that increased LHD expenditure was associated with lower rankings on county health outcomes.

Two authors report inconsistent evidence on public health spending and the impact on disparities in mortality between Black and White racial groups.^{53,55,56} Grembowski et al. (2010) found that increased LHD expenditures were associated with a reduced racial disparity in mortality rates, but only among adults aged 15-44.⁵⁶ Bekemeier et al. (2012) found that, in the context of maternal and child health services, spending on family planning and prenatal care, but not other services such as obstetric care, was associated with reduced racial disparities in mortality.⁵⁵ Conversely, increased expenditure on obstetric care was associated with increased health disparities among females, by race. Nevertheless, these findings suggest public health spending may be associated not only with improved population health, but also reduced health inequities.

Since Singh's review, there has been increasing research in the area of public health investment and population health. In the US, a study from 2004-2013 on infant and neonatal health found that increased federal funding to the state level was associated with lower infant mortality, neonatal mortality, and post-neonatal mortality rates.⁶² Williams and colleagues (2019) reported that increased federal funds from the CDC to states were associated with lower cumulative rates of chlamydia and gonorrhea – 0.17% and 0.33% respectively, for a 1% increase in annual funding.⁶³ Martin et al. (2020) studied the cross sectional association between national public health grants to local authorities, and quality-adjusted life years in the UK (2013-2015).⁶⁴ They report one quality-adjusted life year as costing 3,800 pounds of the local public health budget, as compared to 13,500 pounds of the healthcare budget. This suggests a greater economic advantage of prevention-oriented spending as compared to treatment-oriented spending.

2.6 Narrative review: Public health spending and population health outcomes

To update the systematic review by Singh (2014), a literature search was conducted for studies published in the ten years from 2013 to February 2023. The search terms used were ""Public health" or government* or municipal* or provinc* or state* or federal* or territor* or "health unit*" or "health authorit*" or public or county or counties" combined using the AND operator with "expenditure* or spending* or investment* or divestment* or fund* or financ* or budget* or expense*" AND ""Community health" or "public health" or "population health."" This search was conducted in databases PsycINFO, Medline, CINAHL, PAIS, and Web of Science. The search resulted in over 6000 results. To further narrow search results during title and abstract review, only studies on local public health unit expenditure and population health units rather than the amount spent, or if they only described the amount spent by state/provincial/federal public health rather than local-level public health units. There were fourteen studies published since Singh's review that met the inclusion criteria. A summary of findings is shown in Table 2.2.

Twelve of fourteen studies took place in the United States, while the remaining two took place in England. All were ecological analyses of area level spending and area level health outcome data. Health outcomes investigated were under-18 conception rate, rate of low birth weight, child overweight or obesity, incidence of communicable diseases (enteric disease, COVID-19, sexually transmitted diseases gonorrhea and syphilis, and pertussis), immunization coverage, incidence of non-communicable diseases (cancer, heart disease, diabetes, and asthma), overall county health rankings, and mortality. Specifically, measures of mortality included infant mortality, maternal mortality, all-cause mortality, and cause-specific mortality (related to heart disease, diabetes, cancer, asthma, pneumonia and influenza). The quantitative indicators of public health spending included per capita public health expenditures by local health departments (LHD), program-specific expenditures (pregnancy services, immunization, childhood obesity, physical activity, food safety and sanitation), total non-hospital health spending (sum of public health, public clinics, behavioural health, and disability-related clinical care), and relative allocation of expenditures for community and public health. Evidence on the association between public health spending and health outcomes is mixed. Seven of these fourteen studies report a beneficial association between local level public health spending and population health, three studies report no association, one study finds increased spending to be associated with poor health outcomes, and three studies report mixed results. Of those reporting a beneficial association or mixed findings, nine are longitudinal studies and one, by McCullough and Leider (2017), is cross sectional. There is variability in the definition of public health spending whereby seven studies measure total per capita spending, four measure program-specific per capita spending, and three measure both.

Bekemeier et al. (2014) found that higher PHU spending was not associated with rates of low birth weight overall, but there was a significant association found after stratifying by youth poverty level.⁶⁵ Higher PHU spending, whether it was total spending or maternal and child health program-specific, was associated with lower rates of low birth weight in counties with the highest percent of children (<18 years) in poverty. Higher total PHU spending was also associated with lower infant mortality rates in counties of high poverty. Bernet et al. (2018) did not find total per capita spending to be associated with infant mortality, but a 10% increase in spending on infant-related programs specifically, was associated with a 2% decrease in infant mortality overall.⁶⁶ Similar to Bekemeier et al. (2012) and Grembowski et al. (2010), Bernet and colleagues (2018) stratified their model by race. They found that, although there was a null association among White infants, a 10% increase in spending was associated with a 4% decline in infant mortality among Black infants. These findings provide evidence not only for improved

health outcomes with increased public health spending, but also a reduction in health disparities based on poverty or race.^{65,66} These results are consistent with findings by Bekemeier et al. (2012), but in contrast to Grembowski et al. (2010), who did not find a reduction in Black-White mortality differences with increased spending, except among 15-44 year olds.^{55,56} Bernet and colleagues (2020) found that maternal mortality decreased by almost 4% with a 10% increase in spending on maternal and child health programs.⁶⁷ Similar to Bekemeier et al. (2012) and Bernet et al. (2018), they found that increased program-specific spending was associated with reduced health disparities. There was a null association found among White mothers, but among Black mothers, a 10% increase in targeted programs was associated with a 13.5% decline in maternal mortality.⁶⁷

Brown (2014) studied overall, all-cause mortality and found a protective effect of per capita public health spending at the county level. According to their results, a \$10 increase in per capita spending was associated with a decline in mortality by approximately 9 deaths per 100,000 - specifically when looking at the long-term (approximately 8 years following the spending exposure). There was also a protective effect in the short term of one year, but it was smaller in size, with just under 3 deaths per 100,000 prevented.⁶⁸ A strength of all four of these studies (Bekemeier et al. 2014, Brown (2014), Bernet et al. (2018 and 2020)) is that they were longitudinal, allowing for temporality to be established between spending and mortality. They also accounted for endogeneity, whereby spending may be influenced by another variable of interest within the same model, such as health outcome trends. Contrary to these results, a study by Schenck et al. (2015) found no association between per capita local health department spending and heart disease, cancer, diabetes, pneumonia, influenza, nor infant mortality rates.⁶⁹ Schenck et al. (2015) studied exposure and outcome before and after a specified time point (2008 economic recession). They were unable to account for endogenous ecological variables. Although they found no association between total spending and health outcomes, they did find evidence for reduced infant mortality with increased investment in PHU staffing and services.

Some researchers have focused on the impact of public health spending on communicable diseases, but with mixed evidence of a protective effect.^{70–72} Studying local health departments in New York and Washington states from 2000-2010, Bekemeier and colleagues (2015) found that a \$1 increase in local health department spending on food safety and sanitation was associated with 0.09 fewer cases of cryptosporidiosis per 10,000 person-years and 0.05 fewer

cases of salmonellosis per 10,000 person-years, in New York and Washington respectively.⁷¹ In the same timeframe and setting, with the addition of Florida, Bekemeier and colleagues (2017) studied immunization coverage among toddlers, and pertussis incidence per 100,000 population over 11 years.⁷² Similar to Bekemeier et al. (2015), they looked at program-specific spending but found no association between local health department immunization-related spending and immunization coverage nor between spending and pertussis incidence. Lamba and colleagues (2022) studied the association between per capita non-hospital spending in 2015 through 2017 – prior to COVID-19 – and two COVID-19-related outcomes in 2019 and 2020: time to peak incidence and case doubling time, locally.⁷⁰ Similar to Bekemeier et al. (2017), they found no association, though unlike Bekemeier and colleagues (2015, 2017), they studied total spending rather than program-specific spending. Differently from the studies discussed thus far, Lamba et al. (2022) did not look at public health unit spending alone, but rather all public health, public clinic, behavioural health, and disability-related clinical care spending, including non-PHU spending – all at a local, county level. All three studies accounted for temporality between spending and the health outcomes of interest, with health outcome measures following spending measures. A limitation of all three of these studies is that none accounted for endogenous ecological variables that may have impacted the level of public health spending.

Other authors have studied spending and teenage pregnancy or sexual health. Paton and Wright (2017) investigated expenditure related to teenage pregnancy services by local authorities in England, and under-18 conception rate from 2009-2014.⁷³ Contrary to the majority of studies discussed so far, they found that less public health spending was associated with better health outcomes, whereby a 10% reduction in spending on teen pregnancy services was associated with a 0.25% reduction in conception rate, 0.19% reduction in abortion rate, and 0.32% reduction in birth rate among teens. Gallet (2017) conducted a study of counties in California, US, investigating total public health spending per capita, rather than spending specific to any one service, and how it was related to rates of gonorrhea and syphilis.⁷⁴ They found that from 2003-2012, a \$1 increase in public health spending was associated with a 0.3% and 0.6% decline in gonorrhea and syphilis rates respectively. Unlike other studies described here, Gallet (2017) also accounted for public health spending by nearby counties in case of "spillover effects" on a given county of interest. The differing findings by Paton and Wright (2017) compared to Gallet (2017) may be due to a number of factors, including the differing locations (Europe vs the US), the

differing outcomes of interest (pregnancy outcomes vs STDs), or differing exposure (programspecific spending vs total public health spending). Both studies demonstrated temporality between spending and the health outcomes of interest and both accounted for endogeneity.

In England, Liu and colleagues (2019) compared local authority expenditure on health programs targeting children 5-19 with child obesity rates three years later.⁷⁵ They reported mixed results. Although total spending and obesity rates were not associated, increased spending on physical activity was associated with less obesity in children aged 4-5 when spending was analyzed as a categorical variable. As a continuous variable, increased spending on physical activity was associated with less obesity in children aged 10-11. These results are consistent with other studies that find a beneficial association between program-specific spending and population health,^{67,69–71} but inconsistent with studies that find no association or an inverse association between program-specific spending management.

McCullough & Leider (2016 and 2017) studied local public health spending and county health rankings. Like Lamba et al. (2022), they defined public health spending as all public spending on community or public health activities, rather than spending primarily by PHUs. In a cross-sectional analysis, the authors found that an increase in total public health spending was associated with higher county health rankings.⁷⁶ Taking a longitudinal approach, they similarly found an association between higher social spending, including community health care and public health spending, and improved county health rankings.⁷⁷ Additionally, they found that median per capita expenditure was higher for those counties in the top three quartiles of health rankings, as compared to counties in the lowest quartile of health rankings. Finally, Brown and colleagues (2014) conducted a longitudinal study that also demonstrated a beneficial impact of public health spending.⁷⁸ According to their findings, a \$100 increase in per capita PHU spending was associated with a 0.65% increase in the percentage of the population reporting good, very good, or excellent health. These latter two studies, with a five-year study period or longer, lend support for an association between public health spending now and improved population health in the future.

Though more research is needed, there has been some investigation of the pathways by which an association between public health spending and health outcomes might occur. In their systematic review, Singh (2014) found that a common hypothesis in the literature is that organizational capacity may explain this association.⁵³ Specifically, improved organizational capacity can improve public health system performance, which may then allow for improved population health outcomes. In this proposed pathway, public health spending may be considered an indicator of financial resources, which are a component of organizational capacity. Public health system performance is reflected by the internal processes and human resources of a public health department that are required to implement disease prevention and health promotion activities.^{53,70}There is mixed evidence, however, that public health system performance is associated with population health. As described in the review by Singh (2014), increased funding for public health does not guarantee improved performance of a public health organization, nor does its improved performance guarantee better health outcomes. Thus, there is greater research needed on the pathway between public health spending and health outcomes to understand the nuances of each component in the proposed pathway.



Figure 2.1. Conceptual model for association between public health spending and population health outcomes, simplified and adapted from Meyer et al. (2012).

Author, Year	Design, Location, Timeframe	Statistical Method	Exposure and Jurisdiction	Outcome	Covariates	Key Findings
Brown (2014)	Ecological, longitudinal 56 counties in California, USA 2001-2008	Dynamic panel model; approximate the lag structure using the Koyck distributed lag model	Total county level public health spending, per capita	All-cause mortality per 100,000 population	Proportion of population with: Medicaid, Medicare, and private health insurance; proportion of population under age 15, over age 85, and in each ten-year interval in between); proportion that is Hispanic, Black, Asian/Pacific Islander, Other Race; relative per capita income, unemployment rate, crime index, high school completion per 100,000, population density	 Public health spending causally related to mortality reduction - average long run effects 3.37 times the size of average short run effect An additional \$10 per capita public health spending associated with reduction in all-cause mortality by 9.1 deaths per 100,000 deaths in the long run (2.7 in the short term). In the long run, annual number of lives saved by the presence of county departments of public health in California is estimated to be approximately 27,000 (26,937 lives, 95% CI: 11.963, 41.911)
Brown et al. (2014)	Ecological, longitudinal 40 counties in California, USA 2001-2009	Dynamic panel estimation techniques; Lewbel instrumental variable technique; standard Koyck distributed lag model	Total county level public health spending, per capita	County- level general health status, by self-rated health	Proportion of population covered by health insurance, per capita income; population age categories (proportion in each category), proportion of population with a bachelor's degree or higher; proportion of individuals in each racial group (White, Black, Hispanic, Asian/Pacific Islander, Other)	• A \$10 increase in per capita public health spending is associated with an increase in the percentage of the population reporting good, very good, or excellent health by 0.065%

Table 2.2. Summary of findings from narrative review on local public health spending and population health outcomes.

Table 2.2. Continued.

Author, Year	Design, Location, Timeframe	Statistical Method	Exposure and Jurisdiction	Outcome	Covariates	Key Findings
Bekemeier et al. (2014)	Ecological, longitudinal 102 local health department (LHD) jurisdictions 2000-2010	Multivariate panel time- series with stratification by county- level poverty	Per capita LHD expenditure: total expenditure as well as service-specific expenditure in the area of maternal and child health (MCH)	County-level rates of low birth weight and infant mortality	LHD level: presence of an alternative provider of MCH services, clinician as LHD top executive; Community level: Socioeconomic Disadvantage Index, percent Black, percent Hispanic, percent completed high school; urbanicity Health system level: per capita no. of physicians, percent county-wide Medicaid-funded births, total births	 Higher LHD expenditure, total or MCH-specific, was associated with fewer rates of low birth weight in counties of high poverty Higher total LHD expenditure was associated with lower infant mortality rates in counties of high poverty Higher total LHD expenditure was associated with lower infant mortality rates of high poverty

Table 2.2. Continued.

Author, Year	Design, Location, Timeframe	Statistical Method	Exposure and Jurisdiction	Outcome	Covariates	Key Findings
Bekemeier et al. (2015)	Ecological, longitudinal 72 local health departments in Washington and New York 2000-2010	Multivariate panel time- series using panel data	LHD food safety and sanitation expenditure	Incidence rates of enteric diseases (7 most commonly notifiable in New York and Washington), per 10,000 people	Social disadvantage index (constructed from median household income, proportion of households receiving public assistance, and unemployment rate); proportion of foreign- born residents and children 0-4 years; number of per capita food and drink establishments; rurality, state, year	 In New York, significant association between food safety and sanitation expenditure and cryptosporidiosis. When New York City controlled for, every \$1 spent was associated with 0.091 fewer cases per 10,000 p-y, (0.083 if excluding New York City from model) Significant association in Washington for salmonellosis: \$1 spent associated with 0.053 fewer cases per 10,000 p-y. Significant association also for Washington + New York combined; No significant findings for other enteric diseases studied

Table	2.2.	Continued.
-------	------	------------

Author, Year	Design, Location, Timeframe	Statistical Method	Exposure and Jurisdiction	Outcome	Covariates	Key Findings
Schenck et al. (2015)	Ecological, longitudinal 83 local health departments in North Carolina, USA 2005-2010	Multilevel regression model; random intercepts for LHDs; aka 2 level random intercept model (LHDS and time)	Total LHD spending per capita; FTE per 1000 population	Age adjusted mortality rates (per 100,000) for heart disease, diabetes, cancer, pneumonia and influenza; also, infant mortality (per 1000 live births)	Percent female, percent 65 and older, percent non-White, percent non-English speakers; unemployment, percent college graduates, percent uninsured, percent in poverty; health care resources: number physicians per 100,000, public health clinics per 10,000 population, hospital beds per 100,000 population, total population, rurality	 No association between changes in spending and mortality 1% increase in LHD FTE per 1000 population, associated with 0.01 fewer infant deaths per 1000 live births Greater level of medical care treatment provided by LHDs associated with reduced infant mortality; no other association observed Provision of prenatal care and obstetrical services associated with 1-2 fewer infant deaths per 1000 live births.

Author, Year	Design, Location, Timeframe	Statistical Method	Exposure and Jurisdiction	Outcome	Covariates	Key Findings
McCullough & Leider (2016)	Ecological, longitudinal 9,713 county- years in USA 2010-2015	Lagged random- intercept multivariate longitudinal models	Total spending by local government on various health and non-health services within a county, per capita	County health rankings	County health factors (social determinants and other factors related to the physical and social environment within a county), population, state and mean spending for each category of expenditure	 7 areas of social spending have a modest, protective association with population health: community health care and public health, public hospitals, fire protection, K- 12 education, corrections, libraries, and housing and community development Median per capita expenditures were higher for counties in the top three quartiles of health factor rankings than counties in the bottom quartile Counties in the top quartile tended to allocate a larger proportion of annual budget to community health care, public health, parks and recreation, among others

Author, Year	Design, Location, Timeframe	Statistical Method	Exposure and Jurisdiction	Outcome	Covariates	Key Findings
Bekemeier et al. (2017)	Ecological, longitudinal 159 jurisdictions/ local health departments in Florida (67), New York (57), and Washington (35) 2000-2010	Multiple regression, stratified by level of poverty	Local health department immunization- related expenditures per capita (1 year, 2011, for completeness models as well as longitudinal, 11 years, 2000-2010, for pertussis rate model)	Toddler immunization completeness (1 year); annual jurisdiction- level numbers of pertussis cases per 100,000 population over 11 years	Total population size, rurality, percent Black residents, percent Hispanic residents, percent under age 5, percent older than age 65; Social disadvantage index (see Bekemeier et al 2015); whether or not local health department (LHD) is led by a clinician, whether or not an entity other than LHD providing childhood immunization services, LHD service delivery type; per capita rates of general practice physicians and nurse practitioners; state	 Immunization expenditures not associated with percent of toddler immunization completeness Immunization expenditures did not have a longitudinal association with pertussis rates Two covariates, percentage Black residents as well as social disadvantage, were associated with percent of toddler immunization completeness

Table 2.2. Continued.

Author, Year	Design, Location, Timeframe	Statistical Method	Exposure and Jurisdiction	Outcome	Covariates	Key Findings
Gallet (2017)	Ecological, longitudinal 57 counties in California, USA 2003-2012	Multivariate panel data regression model; ordinary least squares as well as two-stage least squares; regression on instrumental variables	Total county level public health spending, per capita	Rates of gonorrhea and syphilis per 100,000	Average per capita public health spending by bordering counties; number of physicians per 1000 population; county unemployment rate; percent Black, Asian, Hispanic; percent aged 15-19, 20-24, 65+; presence of a university campus; instrumental variables: cancer mortality rate, heart disease mortality rate, foreclosure rate per 100,000; percent voters who are registered democrat	 \$1 increase in per capita public health spending reduces the gonorrhea (syphilis) rate by roughly 0.30 (0.60) percent Public health spending by neighbouring counties associated with reduced STD rates

Table 2.2. Continued.

Author, Year	Design, Location, Timeframe	Statistical Method	Exposure and Jurisdiction	Outcome	Covariates	Key Findings
McCullough & Leider (2017)	Ecological, cross sectional 3,141 counties in the USA 2012-2013	Multivariate logistic regression	Community wealth (median household income, percentage of families in poverty, median home value); Total county-level public spending on various expenditure categories including community health care and public health, parks and recreation, etc)	County health rankings	Spending estimates for community health care and public health, parks and recreation, public welfare, and other categories of social spending; county governmental spending and wealth, population size	 For each additional percentage point of total public spending allocated toward community health care and public health, the odds of being an overperforming (performing better on health outcomes than would be expected as per county wealth) county increased by 3.7% Spending on public welfare, public hospitals, and solid waste management was also associated with being an overperforming county

Table 2.2. Continued.

Author, Year	Design, Location, Timeframe	Statistical Method	Exposure and Jurisdiction	Outcome	Covariates	Key Findings
Paton & Wright (2017)	Ecological, longitudinal 149 local authorities in England 2009-2014	Fixed effects panel data regression model and instrumental variable regression	Annual local authority expenditure, per 13-17 year old female, on teenage pregnancy services	Under 18 conception rate	Education (aggregate), proportion 16-24 year old females unemployed; percent of children in workless households, percent of non- White students, rate of alcohol- related hospital admissions; proportion of children in government care; political party; local authority expenditure on all services for young people, as well as alcohol and drug prevention services specifically	 10% reduction in expenditure associated with 0.25% decrease in under-18 conception rate, 0.19% decrease in abortion rate, and 0.32% decrease in birth rate Socioeconomic factors found to be predictors of teen pregnancy
Bernet et al. (2018)	Ecological, longitudinal 67 counties in Florida, USA 2001-2014	Ordinary Least Squares Regression; Generalized Method of Moments	Total public health spending and targeted spending on infant-related programs	Infant mortality	Percent of population of that is child-bearing age (15-44), non- white, Hispanic origin, age 65 and older; additionally: unemployment rate, poverty rate, per capita income, Medicaid enrollment rates, availability of physicians and hospital beds	 No association between total public health spending and infant mortality Differential impact by race: effect is non-significant for whites but significant for blacks 10% increase in targeted spending per infant associated with 2.07% decrease in infant mortality (p<0.05) 10% increase in targeted spending associated with 4.04% decrease in

black infant mortality (p<0.01)

Table 2.2. Continued.

Author, Year	Design, Location, Timeframe	Statistical Method	Exposure and Jurisdiction	Outcome	Covariates	Key Findings
Liu et al. (2019)	Ecological, longitudinal 150 local authorities in England 2013/14 to 2016/17	Random effects negative binomial models with panel data	Local authority (LA) per capita actual net current expenditure on (i) childhood obesity (ii) physical activity (iii) children 5-9 public health program (CPHP) (per capita from population aged 5- 19 years only)	Proportion of children who are overweight or obese	Percent males in 4-5 age group and 10-11 age group; rurality; deprivation (percent population living in 20% most deprived small areas); ethnicity (percent primary school pupils who are not White); access to fast-food outlets (outlets per 100,000 population); type of local authority (unitary, metropolitan, shire, London boroughs)	 Levels of spending in 2013/14 was not significantly associated with level of childhood obesity in the short term (2016/17) in either age group (4-5 y.o. or 10-11 y.o.) Exception: medium level of spending on childhood obesity or CPHP at baseline (2013/14) associated with higher level of childhood obesity in 2016/17 compared to authorities with low levels of spending for children 4-5 years old

Author, Year	Design, Location, Timeframe	Statistical Method	Exposure and Jurisdiction	Outcome	Covariates	Key Findings
Bernet et al. (2020)	Ecological, longitudinal 67 counties in Florida, USA 2001-2014	Fixed- effects ordinary least squares regression and generalized method of moments models with panel data	Public health spending on pregnancy- related programs as a sum of spending on 1) maternal health and improved pregnancy outcomes 2) Healthy Start program, 3) Women, Infants, and Children nutrition program	Maternal deaths (female deaths due to complications during pregnancy, childbirth, or the period immediately following childbirth); expressed as deaths per 100,000 live births	Demographic, socioeconomic, macroeconomic, access to health care services: percent population non-White, Hispanic, of child-bearing ages (15-44), age 65+; unemployment rate, personal income per capita, percent births covered by Medicaid, number of physicians and hospital beds per 100,000 people	 10% increase in targeted public health expenditures led to 3.9% decline in overall maternal mortality rates Effect for white mothers was not statistically significant, but effect for black mothers was statistically significant: 10% increase in pregnancy-related public health spending associated with 13.5% decline in maternal mortality for black mothers, and 20% reduction in black-white maternal mortality gap

Table 2.2. Continued.

Author, Year	Design, Location, Timeframe	Statistical Method	Exposure and Jurisdiction	Outcome	Covariates	Key Findings
Lamba et al. (2022)	Ecological, longitudinal 2775 counties in the USA 2015-17 (spending data) to 2020 (outcome data)	Time to event and generalized linear models	Total non- hospital health spending (public health, public clinics, behavioural health, disability- related clinical care), per capita	COVID-19 case incidence (time to peak incidence and doubling time of case counts within the first 30 days of local epidemic)	Population density, COVID-19 testing rates per capita, percent Hispanic, percent Black, percent under 18, percent over 65, percent residing rurally, percent international migrants, percent domestic migrants, ratio of males to females; percent adults with at least college education, income inequality ratio, percent households that are food insecure, median household income, percent adults uninsured, active primary care physicians per 100,000 population, percent current smokers, percent obese, age adjusted death rate per 100,000; average temperature in March, April, and May; percent of 2020 presidential votes for Republicans	 County level non-hospital spending not associated with time to peak nor doubling time; significant associations found for state level spending

2.7 Public health spending and substance use

No published studies that explore an association between public health unit spending and substance use have been found in the literature. However, there has been research investigating spending toward the social determinants of health, and the impact on substance use. Friebel and colleagues (2021) published a study investigating the relationship between spending cuts by the UK government and opioid-related hospitalizations and mortality.⁷⁹ This study took place in the context of austerity measures taken in the UK following the 2008 economic crisis, when in 2010, the government disinvested from local authorities in various service areas. Net expenditure on social care, housing, and planning and development was the exposure of interest. They found that a £1,000,000 increase in total social expenditure was associated with decreases in opioid-related deaths by 0.017 per 100,000 and decreases in opioid-related admissions by 0.4 per 100,000 population. Higher social spending was also protective against the negative impact of unemployment rate on opioid-related deaths. A strength of this study is that temporality could be established through the use of panel data models.

Other researchers have looked at spending on particular public health programs rather than total public health spending, and the association with substance use. In a cross-sectional analysis, Gross and colleagues found that state spending on tobacco control was significantly lower for states with higher smoking rates.⁸⁰ Tauras and colleagues, in another cross-sectional analysis, found a statistically significant association between higher per capita expenditure for tobacco control and lower youth smoking prevalence as well as lower self-reported daily cigarette use.⁸¹ The amount of spending, for most states, did not meet the suggestions provided by the national public health agency. However, modeling by Tauras et al. (2005) further suggests that, had state spending met these public health agency guidelines, youth smoking prevalence may have been 3.3% to 13.5% lower than it was. In the context of alcohol use, a study in Sweden showed that municipalities which received government support for alcohol prevention programs had more alcohol prevention policies and activities, and saw fewer indicators of alcohol-related harm.⁸² These studies suggest that increased funding for substance use prevention may be related to improved substance use outcomes by way of program and policy implementation. It cannot be said whether this is generalizable to the funding and functioning of public health units, however it may be reasonable to expect a similar pattern given that PHUs have similar goals of preventing harmful substance use.

Researchers have also conducted economic evaluations of substance use prevention programs. White et al. (2018) conducted a systematic review of economic evaluations of local authority public health interventions and found that smoking cessation services were typically found to be cost-effective, although different studies reported different extents of costeffectiveness dependent on the intervention and participant characteristics.⁸³ They found one study that reported significant cost-effectiveness of substance treatment interventions, though it did not include substance use prevention. The following year, Robertson et al. (2019) published a study examining five different public health programs in the UK: Drug and Alcohol Use, Health Checks, Smoke Stop, Sexual Health, and LiveWell Dorset.⁸⁴ They found the largest return on investment for the LiveWell Dorset program that aims to facilitate lifestyle changes by providing information, advice and support particularly in the areas of smoking cessation, reduced alcohol consumption, physical activity, and weight management. Investment in Drug and Alcohol Services, aiming to reduce dependency, had the second largest return on investment.

2.8 Conclusion

Whether we look at total or program-specific spending, there is evidence for the potential for increased public health spending to improve population health outcomes. Nevertheless, some studies also suggest a lack of, or an inverse association. There are limitations to consider when interpreting these findings. Though some authors did account for endogeneity in their analyses, not all authors did. As a result, it is possible that associations found between spending and health outcomes, beneficial or harmful, could have been confounded by other factors. For example, economic factors such as income inequality, recession, or austerity measures are known to have a negative effect on population health,⁸⁴⁻⁸⁶ and may also limit financial resources available for public health units. Political factors such as conservative or neoliberal ideology can lead to policies that restrict public health services, such as access to abortion for people of reproductive age or access to harm reduction services for those who use substances.^{3,73,79,87} Such policies may draw funding away from these public health services and result in poor health outcomes. Furthermore, spending by non-public health agencies on social services such as housing assistance, mental health services, parks and recreation, and other forms of social care are associated with improved health outcomes, but were not accounted for by most studies included in this review.^{76,77,79} In the case of the cross-sectional study by McCullough and Leider (2017)

who do account for social spending, the lack of temporality still precludes any conclusion about causality, since spending decisions may have impacted health outcomes, or may have been a response to health needs.⁷⁶ Nevertheless, the majority of studies reviewed here allowed for the study of a temporal association between exposure and outcome and do lend support for a causal association. It is difficult to make any generalizations about the impact of spending on health outcomes, given that there are numerous different health outcomes discussed in the literature, and in different settings. It is possible that public health spending is a more important variable for some outcomes than others. This is especially true if organizational capacity is the pathway by which spending affects population health, and if some programs/services require more financial resources than others. However, it is also important to return to the socio-ecological framework and recognize that it is not merely the proximal determinants or targeted public health programs that impact health.^{49,50,88} Health is influenced by numerous interacting factors across the socio-ecological model and public health spending overall may thus be an indicator of broader socioeconomic or political conditions that shape population health.

If it is true that public health spending improves population health, it may be beneficial in future research to investigate whether there is a threshold effect of spending. In other words, there may be a minimum amount necessary for a positive impact to be seen or a maximum amount may exist, beyond which increased spending may have marginal benefit. However, it is unlikely that any such absolute values exist, even if economic factors like currency and inflation are accounted for, due to the differences in programs and services across jurisdictions, differences in need, and differences in the cost of resources, etc. It may instead be useful to study whether there is an optimal proportion of public spending that can be directed toward public health for the best population outcomes. It would be important to consider the way in which population outcomes are defined. As demonstrated in this literature review, there are numerous indicators of population health and there may not be any one objective indicator to best reflect population health outcomes.

2.9 Literature Gaps and Research Objectives

This thesis addresses gaps in the literature on the association between PHU engagement and substance use. It is the first to adopt a longitudinal approach, exploring potential temporality in the association between PHU engagement at schools and adolescent substance use. While Vermeer et al (2021) and Burnett et al (2021) used data from years 6 and 7 of the COMPASS study respectively, this study will use data from years 5 through 7 (2016-2019). The first objective of this thesis will be to investigate the association, over time, between PHU support for school-level substance use prevention programs and the use of alcohol, cannabis, cigarettes, and e-cigarettes among secondary school students.

Empirical evidence indicates that public health spending is a social determinant of health associated with population health outcomes. However, there is no previous research on the association between spending and substance use among adolescents. The second objective of this thesis is to investigate the association between per capita spending by public health units in Ontario and the use of alcohol, cannabis, cigarettes, and e-cigarettes among secondary school students.

References

1. Vermeer J, Battista K, Leatherdale ST. Examining Engagement With Public Health in the Implementation of School-Based Health Initiatives: Findings From the COMPASS Study. *J Sch Health*. 2021;91(10):825-835. doi:10.1111/josh.13072

2. Burnett T, Battista K, Butt M, Sherifali D, Leatherdale ST, Dobbins M. The association between public health engagement in school-based substance use prevention programs and student alcohol, cannabis, e-cigarette and cigarette use. *Can J Public Health*. Published online July 21, 2022:1-10. doi:10.17269/s41997-022-00655-3

3. McBride DC, Terry-McElrath YM, VanderWaal CJ, Chriqui JF, Myllyluoma J. US Public Health Agency involvement in youth-focused illicit drug policy, planning, and prevention at the local level, 1999-2003. *Am J Public Health*. 2008;98(2):270-277.

doi:10.2105/AJPH.2007.112524

 VanderWaal CJ, McBride DC, Terry-McElrath YM, Bishop RM. The Role of Public Health Agencies in Providing Access to Adolescent Drug Treatment Services. *J Adolesc Health*. 2006;39(6):916-924. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2006.06.011

5. Veugelers PJ, Schwartz ME. Comprehensive School Health in Canada. *Can J Public Health*. 2010;101(2):S5-S8. doi:10.1007/BF03405617

6. Bejster M, Cygan H, Stock J, Ashworth J. A School Wellness Partnership to Address Childhood Obesity. *Prog Community Health Partnersh Res Educ Action*. 2022;16(1):85-91. doi:10.1353/cpr.2022.0008

7. Cousins JM, Langer SM, Rhew LK, et al. The role of state health departments in supporting community-based obesity prevention. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2011;8(4):A87-A87.

8. Szucs LE, Barrios LC, Young E, Robin L, Hunt P, Jayne PE. The CDC's Division of Adolescent and School Health Approach to Sexual Health Education in Schools: 3 Decades in Review*. *J Sch Health*. 2022;92(2):223-234. doi:10.1111/josh.13115

 Alleman E, Murphy E, Baskerville K, Chugh R. A Collaborative Approach to Childhood Obesity Surveillance From a Local Health Department. *J Public Health Manag Pract*.
 2017;23(6):e17-e20. doi:10.1097/PHH.00000000000615

10. Wilkins NJ, Rasberry C, Liddon N, et al. Addressing HIV/Sexually Transmitted Diseases and Pregnancy Prevention Through Schools: An Approach for Strengthening Education, Health

Services, and School Environments That Promote Adolescent Sexual Health and Well-Being. J Adolesc Health. 2022;70(4):540-549. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2021.05.017

11. Province of Ontario: Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. *School Health Guideline,* 2018. Accessed September 1, 2023.

https://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/docs/protocols_guidel ines/School_Health_Guideline_2018.pdf

12. Perman S, Turner S, Ramsay AIG, Baim-Lance A, Utley M, Fulop NJ. School-based vaccination programmes: a systematic review of the evidence on organisation and delivery in high income countries. *BMC Public Health*. 2017;17(1):252. doi:10.1186/s12889-017-4168-0

 Dubé E, Gagnon D, Clément P, et al. Challenges and opportunities of school-based HPV vaccination in Canada. *Hum Vaccines Immunother*. 2019;15(7-8):1650-1655. doi:10.1080/21645515.2018.1564440

 Gargano L, Mason MK, Northridge ME. Advancing Oral Health Equity Through School-Based Oral Health Programs: An Ecological Model and Review. *Front Public Health*. 2019;7. Accessed January 29, 2023. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00359

15. Bramantoro T, Santoso CMA, Hariyani N, et al. Effectiveness of the school-based oral health promotion programmes from preschool to high school: A systematic review. *PLOS ONE*. 2021;16(8):e0256007. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0256007

16. Arenson M, Hudson PJ, Lee N, Lai B. The Evidence on School-Based Health Centers: A Review. *Glob Pediatr Health*. 2019;6:2333794X19828745. doi:10.1177/2333794X19828745

17. Gustafson EM. History and overview of school-based health centers in the US. *Nurs Clin North Am.* 2005;40(4):595-606, vii. doi:10.1016/j.cnur.2005.08.001

Zimmerman DJ, Santelli JS. School and Adolescent Health and Managed Care. *Am J Prev Med.* 1998;14(3, Supplement 1):60-66. doi:10.1016/S0749-3797(97)00047-0

 Wang LY, Peterson A, Li J, Coleman K, Dunville R. Cost-Effectiveness Analysis of Michigan's School-Wide Sexually Transmitted Disease Screening Program in Four Detroit High Schools. J Adolesc Health. 2021;69(6):957-963. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2021.05.014

20. Profiles of Public Health Systems in Canada: Ontario. *Health Syst.* Published online 2021:32.
21. Government of Canada. Programs and Initiatives: School Health. Published October 12, 2022. Accessed February 5, 2023. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/health-promotion/childhood-adolescence/programs-initiatives/school-health.html

22. Public Health Ontario. Ontario Public Health Standards: Requirements for Programs, Services and Accountability. Published online June 2021.

23. Kiernan B, Alonis A, Diala JA, et al. Virtual Trainings Effectively Prepared the Public Health Workforce to Support Schools During the COVID-19 Pandemic in California in 2021. *J Public Health Manag Pract*. 2022;28(6):720-727. doi:10.1097/PHH.00000000001535

24. Public Health Units. Association of Local Public Health Agencies. Accessed September 1, 2022. https://www.alphaweb.org/page/PHU

25. Government of Ontario: Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Relationship with Indigenous Communities Guideline, 2018. Published online 2018.

https://health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/docs/protocols_guidelines/ Relationship_with_Indigenous_Communities_Guideline_en.pdf

26. Community Health Nurses' Initiatives Group School Health Committee. *Evidence for School Public Health Nurses*.; 2015. Accessed September 1, 2022.

http://www.ontariohealthyschools.com/uploads/2/1/7/6/21766954/evidence-school-phns.pdf

27. Ontario Healthy Schools Coalition. *Ontario Healthy Schools Coalition*. Accessed September 1, 2022. http://www.ontariohealthyschools.com/about-ohsc.html

Profiles of Public Health Systems in Canada: Alberta. *Health Syst.* Published online
 2022.

29. Alberta Health Services. Strategic Clinical Networks. Accessed September 1, 2022. https://albertahealthservices.ca/scns/scn.aspx

30. Alberta Health Services. About Indigenous Wellness Core. Alberta Health Services: Indigenous Health. Accessed August 10, 2023.

https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/info/Page11949.aspx

31. Alberta Health Services. Population, Public & Indigenous Health Strategic Clinical Network. Accessed September 1, 2022. https://albertahealthservices.ca/assets/about/scn/ahs-scn-ppih-quick-facts.pdf

32. Alberta Health Services. Meet Alberta's Strategic Clinical Networks. Accessed September 1, 2022. https://albertahealthservices.ca/assets/about/scn/ahs-scn-quick-facts.pdf

59

 Alberta Health Services. Community Health Centres. Accessed September 1, 2022. https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/info/Page17791.aspx

34. Alberta Health Services. School Health & Wellness Promotion. Accessed September 1,2022. https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/info/hcy.aspx

35. Alberta Health Services. Healthier Together. Accessed September 1, 2022. https://schools.healthiertogether.ca/en/

Alberta Health Services. AMH Education in Schools. Accessed September 1, 2022.
 https://albertahealthservices.ca/amh/Page2679.aspx

37. Profiles of Public Health Systems in Canada: British Columbia. *Health Syst.* Published online 2022.

38. Government of British Columbia. About B.C.'s Health Care System. Accessed September
1, 2022. https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/health/about-bc-s-health-care-system

39. Province of British Columbia. Indigenous Health. Published 08/11/20233. Accessed August 10, 2023. https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/indigenous-

people/supporting-communities/health

40. Healthy Schools BC. About: Healthy Schools BC. Accessed September 1, 2022. https://healthyschoolsbc.ca/about/healthy-schools-bc/

41. British Columbia Ministry of Health. Promote, protect, prevent: Our Health Begins Here. Published online March 2017. Accessed September 1, 2022.

https://www.health.gov.bc.ca/library/publications/year/2017/BC-guiding-framework-for-public-health-2017-update.pdf

42. Government of British Columbia. B.C.'s Integrated Child & Youth Teams. Accessed February 5, 2023. https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/about-the-bcgovernment/mental-health-and-addictions-strategy/integrated-child-youth-teams

43. Pan-Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health. What is Comprehensive School Health? Accessed September 1, 2022. https://www.jcsh-cces.ca/en/concepts/comprehensive-school-health/

44. Cottrell L, Northrup K, Wittberg R. Challenges and Lessons Learned From a Prevention Research Center Partnership. *Am J Prev Med*. 2017;52(3):S255-S257.
doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2016.08.016 45. World Health Organization. Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion. Published online November 1986. Accessed May 8, 2023. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WH-1987

46. Government of Alberta. The CSH Framework. Healthier Together. Accessed September1, 2023. https://schools.healthiertogether.ca/en/learn/the-csh-framework/

47. O'brien LM, Polacsek M, MacDonald PB, Ellis J, Berry S, Martin M. Impact of a School Health Coordinator Intervention on Health-Related School Policies and Student Behavior. *J Sch Health*. 2010;80(4):176-185. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.2009.00484.x

48. Acheson ED. On the state of the public health [The fourth Duncan lecture]. *Public Health*. 1988;102(5):431-437. doi:10.1016/S0033-3506(88)80080-5

49. Raphael D, Bryant T, Mikkonen J, Alexander R. *Social Determinants of Health: The Canadian Facts*. Second edition. Ontario Tech University Faculty of Health Sciences and Toronto: York University School of Health Policy and Management; 2020.

50. Marmot M, Friel S, Bell R, Houweling TAJ, Taylor S, Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. *Lancet Lond Engl.* 2008;372(9650):1661-1669. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61690-6

51. Sipsma HL, Canavan M, Gilliam M, Bradley E. Impact of social service and public health spending on teenage birth rates across the USA: an ecological study. *BMJ Open*.
2017;7(5):e013601. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013601

52. Liu T, Dutton DJ. With great inequality comes great responsibility: the role of government spending on population health in the presence of changing income distributions. *Can J Public Health Rev Can Santé Publique*. 2020;112(2):199-209. doi:10.17269/s41997-020-00407-1

53. Singh SR. Public Health Spending and Population Health. *Am J Prev Med*.2014;47(5):634-640. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2014.05.017

54. Becker ER, Principe K, Adams EK, Teutsch SM. Returns on investment in public health: effect of public health expenditures on infant health, 1983-1990. *J Health Care Finance*. 1998;25(1):5-18.

55. Bekemeier B, Grembowski D, Yang YR, Herting JR. Local Public Health Delivery of Maternal Child Health Services: Are Specific Activities Associated with Reductions in Black–

White Mortality Disparities? *Matern Child Health J*. 2012;16(3):615-623. doi:10.1007/s10995-011-0794-9

56. Grembowski D, Bekemeier B, Conrad D, Kreuter W. Are local health department expenditures related to racial disparities in mortality? *Soc Sci Med*. 2010;71(12):2057-2065. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.09.004

57. Mays GP, Smith SA. Evidence Links Increases In Public Health Spending To Declines In Preventable Deaths. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2011;30(8):1585-1593.

doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2011.0196

58. Erwin PC, Greene SB, Mays GP, Ricketts TC, Davis MV. The Association of Changes in Local Health Department Resources With Changes in State-Level Health Outcomes. *Am J Public Health*. 2011;101(4):609-615. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.177451

59. Erwin PC, Mays GP, Riley WJ. Resources That May Matter: The Impact of Local Health Department Expenditures on Health Status. *Public Health Rep.* 2012;127(1):89-95. doi:10.1177/003335491212700110

60. Ransom J, Schaff K, Kan L. Is There an Association Between Local Health Department Organizational and Administrative Factors and Childhood Immunization Coverage Rates? *J Health Hum Serv Adm*. 2012;34(4):418-455.

61. Boeke MC, Zahner SJ, Booske BC, Remington PL. Local public health department funding: trends over time and relationship to health outcomes. *WMJ Off Publ State Med Soc Wis*. 2008;107(1):25-32.

62. McLaughlin M, Rank MR. Impact of federal transfers upon US infant mortality rates: a secondary analysis using a fixed effects regression approach. *BMJ Open*. 2018;8(9):e021533. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-021533

63. Williams AM, Kreisel K, Chesson HW. Impacts of Federal Prevention Funding on Reported Gonorrhea and Chlamydia Rates. *Am J Prev Med*. 2019;56(3):352-358. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2018.09.012

64. Martin S, Lomas J, Claxton K. Is an ounce of prevention worth a pound of cure? A crosssectional study of the impact of English public health grant on mortality and morbidity. *BMJ Open.* 2020;10(10):e036411. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2019-036411 65. Bekemeier B, Yang Y, Dunbar MD, Pantazis A, Grembowski DE. Targeted Health Department Expenditures Benefit Birth Outcomes at the County Level. *Am J Prev Med*. 2014;46(6):569-577. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2014.01.023

66. Bernet PM, Gumus G, Vishwasrao S. Effectiveness of public health spending on infant mortality in Florida, 2001–2014. *Soc Sci Med.* 2018;211:31-38.

doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.05.044

67. Bernet P, Gumus G, Vishwasrao S. Maternal Mortality and Public Health Programs: Evidence from Florida. *Milbank Q.* 2020;98(1):150-171. doi:10.1111/1468-0009.12442

68. Brown TT. How effective are public health departments at preventing mortality? *Econ Hum Biol.* 2014;13:34-45. doi:10.1016/j.ehb.2013.10.001

69. Schenck AP, Meyer AM, Kuo TM, Cilenti D. Building the Evidence for DecisionMaking: The Relationship Between Local Public Health Capacity and Community Mortality. *Am J Public Health*. 2015;105(S2):S211-S216. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.302500

70. Lamba S, Wolfson C, Cardona C, et al. Past local government health spending was not correlated with COVID-19 control in US counties. *SSM - Popul Health*. 2022;1:101027. doi:10.1016/j.ssmph.2022.101027

71. Bekemeier B, Yip MPY, Dunbar MD, Whitman G, Kwan-Gett T. Local Health
Department Food Safety and Sanitation Expenditures and Reductions in Enteric Disease, 2000–
2010. Am J Public Health. 2015;105(Suppl 2):S345-S352. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302555

72. Bekemeier B, Pantazis A, Yip MPY, Kwan-Gett T. Developing the Evidence for Public Health Systems to Battle Vaccine Preventable Disease at the Local Level: Data Challenges and Strategies for Advancing Research. *J Public Health Manag Pract JPHMP*. 2017;23(2):131-137. doi:10.1097/PHH.000000000000411

Paton D, Wright L. The effect of spending cuts on teen pregnancy. *J Health Econ*. 2017;54:135-146. doi:10.1016/j.jhealeco.2017.05.002

74. Gallet CA. The Impact of Public Health Spending on California STD Rates. *Int Adv Econ Res.* 2017;23(2):149-159. doi:10.1007/s11294-017-9631-2

75. Liu D, Mason A, Marks L, et al. Effects of local authority expenditure on childhood obesity. *Eur J Public Health*. 2019;29(4):785-790. doi:10.1093/eurpub/cky252

76. McCullough JM, Leider JP. Associations Between County Wealth, Health and Social Services Spending, and Health Outcomes. *Am J Prev Med*. 2017;53(5):592-598. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2017.05.005

McCullough JM, Leider JP. Government Spending In Health And Nonhealth Sectors Associated With Improvement In County Health Rankings. *Health Aff (Millwood)*.
2016;35(11):2037-2043. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0708

78. Brown TT, Martinez-Gutierrez MS, Navab B. The impact of changes in county public health expenditures on general health in the population. *Health Econ Policy Law*. 2014;9(3):251-269. doi:10.1017/S1744133114000024

79. Friebel R, Yoo KJ, Maynou L. Opioid abuse and austerity: Evidence on health service use and mortality in England. *Soc Sci Med*. 2021;1:114511. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114511

80. Gross CP, Soffer B, Bach P B, Rajkumar R, Forman HP. State Expenditures for Tobacco-Control Programs and the Tobacco Settlement. *N Engl J Med*. 2002;347(14):7.

81. Tauras JA, Chaloupka FJ, Farrelly MC, et al. State Tobacco Control Spending and Youth Smoking. *Am J Public Health*. 2005;95(2):338-344. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2004.039727

82. Nilsson T, Allebeck P, Leifman H, Andréasson S, Norström T, Guldbrandsson K. Effects on Alcohol Consumption and Alcohol Related Harm of a Community-Based Prevention Intervention With National Support in Sweden. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2018;53(3):412-419. doi:10.1080/10826084.2017.1334063

83. White P, Skirrow H, George A, Memon A. A systematic review of economic evaluations of local authority commissioned preventative public health interventions in overweight and obesity, physical inactivity, alcohol and illicit drugs use and smoking cessation in the United Kingdom. *J Public Health*. 2018;40(4):e521-e530. doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdy026

84. Robertson L, Skelly C, Phillips D. Making Hard Choices in Local Public Health Spending With a Cost-Benefit Analysis Approach. *Front Public Health*. 2019;7. Accessed January 17, 2022. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00147

85. Pabayo R, Kawachi I, Gilman SE. US State-level income inequality and risks of heart attack and coronary risk behaviors: longitudinal findings. *Int J Public Health*. 2015;60(5):573-588. doi:10.1007/s00038-015-0678-7

86. Pabayo R, Kawachi I, Gilman SE. Income inequality among American states and the incidence of major depression. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2014;68(2):110-115. doi:10.1136/jech-2013-203093

87. Baru RV, Mohan M. Globalisation and neoliberalism as structural drivers of health inequities. *Health Res Policy Syst.* 2018;16(1):91. doi:10.1186/s12961-018-0365-2

88. McLeroy KR, Bibeau D, Steckler A, Glanz K. An Ecological Perspective on Health Promotion Programs. *Health Educ Q.* 1988;15(4):351-377. doi:10.1177/109019818801500401

CHAPTER 3: PUBLIC HEALTH UNIT ENGAGEMENT IN SECONDARY SCHOOLS AND ADOLESCENT SUBSTANCE USE

3.1 Introduction

Adolescent substance use is a significant public health concern. In 2019, 46% of Canadian youth reported using alcohol in the past year and 22% reported using cannabis in the past year, while 5% reported using cigarettes, and 15% reported using electronic cigarettes (ecigarettes) in the past month.^{1,2} Compared to six years previously, adolescent alcohol and cigarette use declined, cannabis use stayed approximately the same, and e-cigarette use increased five-fold.³

Substance use during adolescence can have negative effects in the short and long term, potentially impacting developmental trajectories.^{4–6} In the short term, adolescents may experience drug poisoning, respiratory problems in the case of cigarette or e-cigarette smoking, or impaired cognition as a result of alcohol or cannabis use.⁷ Heavy substance use may negatively impact brain development in adolescents.^{12–14} Substance use is also associated with high-risk behaviours such as distracted driving, aggression, unprotected sex or sexual victimization, and violence perpetration or violence victimization.^{7–11} Depending on the type and frequency of substance use, long-term impacts can include substance use disorder, alcohol-related liver disease, and cancers related to cigarette smoking.

Various factors at the individual and interpersonal level are associated with adolescent substance use. There is evidence in the literature for a difference in substance use patterns between boys and girls.^{15,16} Among students in grade 9-12, substance use is found to be higher in boys as compared to girls, and generally increases for those in higher grades.^{16–19} Student race/ethnicity has also been found to be associated with substance use. For example, some studies have reported a lower likelihood of substance use among Asian or Black students as compared to White students.^{16,17} Higher personal spending money has been found to be associated with more substance use.^{17,20,21} Conversely, higher feelings of connectedness at school have been found to be protective against substance use.^{19,21}

Public health aims to promote and protect health and implement primary prevention programs against poor health and illness. To address adolescent substance use, secondary schools are an ideal setting for action. Adolescents spend a large portion of their time in schools, making them relatively easy to reach for intervention activities. School-based substance use intervention can involve: distributing educational materials (e.g. information on substances and substancerelated harms); fostering skill development in resisting peer pressure and developing healthy coping strategies; fostering self-esteem and self-awareness; promoting mental wellbeing, and more.^{22,23} While there is a significant amount of research on such programs and their effectiveness, there is little research on the role of public health units in these programs or in schools generally.

Studies on the role of public health units in schools describe surveillance and data collection activities to inform the development of school-based programs and policies, as well as capacity building by offering staff training programs, funding, or material resources.^{24–28} Public health units can also take a more direct role by leading interventions in schools, or by engaging in problem-solving and program implementation together with school staff.^{26,29} Two studies were conducted in Canadian provinces to explore the association between PHUs characteristics and adolescent health, both using data from the Cannabis, Obesity, Mental Health, Physical activity, Alcohol, Smoking, Sedentary behaviour (COMPASS) study based at the University of Waterloo, Ontario.³⁰ Using data from 2017/18, Vermeer et al. (2021) found that public health engagement in joint problem solving with schools was associated with a higher odds for better mental health, higher odds of meeting screen time guidelines, and lower odds of bullying others.²⁶ However, public health engagement, in any form, was not found to be associated with healthy eating, physical activity, or substance use.²⁶ Burnett et al. (2022) did a similar investigation using data from 2018/19 of the COMPASS study, with a focus on substance use alone. Contrary to Vermeer et al. (2021), they found that joint problem solving was associated with increased odds of alcohol and cannabis use. For other forms of engagement and types of substance use (cigarette and ecigarette use), no association was observed. When schools were stratified by low or high overall substance use, differing findings were observed regarding the relationship between public health unit engagement and substance use. For example, joint implementation of a program to address substance use was associated with higher odds of cannabis use in low-use schools, but a lower odds of cannabis use in high-use schools. Provision of material resources or information was associated with lower cigarette use in high-use schools, but this association was absent in lowuse schools. These findings by Burnett et al. (2022) indicate an inconsistent direction of association between PHU engagement and substance use in a cross-sectional analysis.

A limitation of cross-sectional studies is that temporality cannot be assessed. Thus, it is unclear whether PHU engagement was a response to an identified need in schools, or if substance use patterns were impacted by PHU engagement. To build on findings by Burnett et al. (2022), this study will use data collected longitudinally to investigate the association between PHU engagement and adolescent substance use.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Study Design and Study Sample

A longitudinal analysis was conducted to investigate the association between PHU engagement in school-based substance use prevention and adolescent use of alcohol, cannabis, cigarettes, e-cigarettes. Conducted over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19, this design can provide support for a temporal association between program implementation in 2016 and the pattern of substance use in subsequent years, though this is not enough evidence to infer a causal association. The data for this analysis were obtained from the COMPASS prospective cohort study. The COMPASS study involves administration of surveys to a convenience sample of Canadian grade 9-12 students, as well as staff at the secondary schools they attend.³⁰ Data on student socio-demographic information and health indicators were collected through a student questionnaire (Cq) while school level data were collected from administrators through the School Policies and Programs (SPP) questionnaire.³⁰ The Cq is a pen-and-paper survey that can be completed in a 30-40 minute sitting.³¹ Parental consent is obtained through an active information-passive consent process.³² Parents are informed of the study through various school media channels, and are determined to have given consent unless they ask that their child be excluded. The SPP is completed by a school staff member who has knowledge on the topic of school policies and practices.³⁰

This analysis focused on grade 9-12 students in Ontario, Alberta and British Columbia who participated in year 5 of the COMPASS study (2016/17) and had at least one follow-up in a subsequent year. The sample consisted of 17,510 students in 68 schools. After excluding those students who were missing baseline (2016/17) exposure, covariate and outcome data, a sample of 16,575 students (95% of original sample) in 68 schools remained.

68

3.2.2 Main Exposure

The main exposure of interest is PHU engagement in school-based substance use prevention programs. PHU engagement in addressing substance use will be identified by two questions. The first is, "During the past 12 months, what role did your local Public Health Unit play when working with your school on tobacco or e-cigarette use for students?" and the second is, "During the past 12 months, what role did your local Public Health Unit play when working with your school on alcohol and/or marijuana use for students?" Survey respondents could select all that apply from the following: (1) No contact with local public health unit (2) provided information/resources/programs (3) solved problems jointly (4) developed/implemented program activities jointly. Schools were categorized as having PHU support if they selected any one of (2) through (4). Additionally, school administrators were asked whether or not they offered any programs that address alcohol, cannabis, cigarette or e-cigarette use, and if those programs were run by the school, the local PHU, or external organizations. Schools were categorized as having PHU support if they indicated that they do have a program addressing substance use that is run by the local PHU. Although multiple options could have been selected on the SPP survey, schools with PHU engagement were categorized during data analysis by the highest level of PHU engagement they reported. Additionally, the response options of joint problem-solving and joint development/implementation of programs were combined. Thus, levels of PHU engagement from lowest to highest were: provision of information/resources/programs, joint problem solving or program development/implementation, and PHU-led program implementation. The SPP survey is based on the Healthy School Planner tool by the Joint Consortium on School Health. The Health School Planner has been previously validated and is an evidence-based online tool to help schools build healthier school environments and policies.³³

3.2.3 Main Outcome

The outcomes of interest are current alcohol use, alcohol binge drinking, cannabis use, cigarette use or e-cigarette use. Current use was defined as self-reported use of a given substance at least once in the past month or once per month on average. Binge drinking alcohol was defined as having five or more standard drinks on one occasion. These definitions were consistent with other studies on adolescent substance use by COMPASS researchers as well as national substance use surveillance surveys.^{1,17,18,34,35} A validity study of self-reported smoking

69

status found that self-report is a valid measure of current smoking levels among Canadians aged 12 and older.³⁶

3.2.4 Individual Level Covariates

Consistent with previous literature by COMPASS researchers, this analysis included five individual level covariates to explain a portion of the variation in adolescent substance use. These were sex, grade, race, and spending money as categorical variables, and school connectedness score as a continuous variable. Sex was identified by the question, "Are you female or male?"^{17,19,37} Based on the literature, gender can influence risk factors for substance use.^{16,38} Given the impact of sex on the way children and adolescents are socialized and the impact of social norms and expectations on behaviour, it may be more informative to interpret sex differences as being attributable to gender rather than biological factors.³⁹ Thus, the remainder of this study will treat this variable as gender. Grade was one of grade 9, 10, 11, or 12. Students reported their race as being one or more of the following: White, Black, Asian, Latinx, or Other. "Other" included those who selected "other" and those who selected multiple race categories. Spending money was included as a proxy for socioeconomic status and defined as the amount of money received in a usual week for a student to spend on themselves or to save, from allowance or paid work. Response categories were "\$0", "\$1 to \$20", \$21 to \$100", "\$100", and "Do not know" consistent with Burnett et al. (2022) and Williams et al. (2021).^{18,29} A limitation of using spending money as a proxy for SES is potential for misclassification. Students may under- or over-report their spending money, or it may change over time, as in the case of seasonal work. Moreover, students' weekly spending may not be correlated with the SES of their family as parental attitudes on weekly allowance money may differ independently of SES. Nevertheless, it is the best proxy available for SES.

Social connectedness was quantified as a composite score based on six questions asking students about their feelings of closeness with others at school, their feelings of belongingness, happiness, fair treatment, and safety at school, as well as the importance to them of getting good grades. School connectedness was measured using a scale adapted from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health school connectedness scale, which has been found in a study of 18 different sociocultural groups to have an acceptable reliability ($\alpha = .82$ to .88) and concurrent validity (r = .44 to .55).^{40,41}

3.2.5 School Level Covariates

Covariates at the school level were school enrolment size, median household income, rurality, and the province in which the school was located. School enrolment size, the total number of students enrolled in 2016/17, was defined as a categorical variable whereby small, medium and large schools respectively, were those that had 1-500, 501-1000, or more than 1000 students enrolled. Median household income was the median after-tax household income of the census division in which the school was located, determined using the school postal code. Rurality was determined using forward sortation area, whereby a zero as the second character denotes an area as being rural, and a non-zero denotes an area as being ruban.

3.2.6 Statistical Analysis

There were two research questions investigated:

- Was public health engagement in 2016/17 associated with adolescent substance use over time?
- 2. Did different methods of public health engagement in 2016/17 have different associations with adolescent substance use over time compared to the absence of public health engagement?

For the first question, any type of PHU engagement at baseline was compared with an absence of PHU engagement as the reference category. The second question also studied PHU engagement at baseline, but with dummy variables for each different method of engagement. Three methods of engagement were identified, with no PHU engagement as a reference category: PHU provision of information/resources/programs; PHU engagement in solving problems and/or implementing programs jointly at baseline; and PHU-run programs. A longitudinal association was studied by including an interaction between baseline PHU engagement and year. An additional analysis was conducted to account for the time varying nature of the exposure variable. This analysis explored the association between no engagement at all, intermittent engagement, or consistent engagement across the three years, and substance use over time. Results are presented in Appendix B.

Observations in this dataset were nested within students, as students were followed up over time. There was also nesting of students within schools. Because of the likelihood of within student and within school similarities, a multilevel model was used to account for the hierarchical data structure. One advantage of using a multilevel model in a longitudinal analysis is that it allows for unbalanced student level data such that each student may have different numbers of repeated observations. This is useful because not all students had outcome measures for all three years. Despite some missingness, students could be retained in the sample to maintain statistical power. It was assumed in the multilevel model that missing data occurred at random (MAR). Equations for the three levels of this hierarchically nested data are shown in Appendix F. Level-1 represents repeated observations for a given student, level-2 represents student characteristics, and level-3 represents school characteristics.

The first step in running the multilevel model was to fit a model including only the variables of time and substance use, to determine whether there is a change in the outcome over time. This intercept-only model was used to calculate the 95% plausible value ranges, which indicate the range of variability between schools, for each study outcome. The intercept-only model was also used to determine the intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC), which indicate the proportion of variability in substance use explained by student and school characteristics. The second step was to fit an unadjusted model to study only the association between PHU engagement and substance use, without accounting for any student or school level covariates. The third step was to fit adjusted models that accounted for student and school level covariates. The final step was to check for cross-level interaction effects between PHU engagement and sex, as some previous COMPASS research on substance use has involved stratification of participants due to differences by sex.¹⁸

Finally, it is important to verify whether there is enough power to detect a statistically significant association between exposure and outcome. The limiting factor in a multilevel analysis is the highest grouping variable – in this case, the number of schools. Simulation studies have shown that, in 2-level model, a level 2 sample size of 50 or more will give unbiased estimates of standard errors of the estimated regression coefficients.^{97,98} Because the COMPASS data used in this analysis are obtained from a sample of more than 50 schools, the sample size was considered sufficiently large and the analyses had sufficient statistical power. All analyses

were completed using STATA version 17.0 (StataCorp. 2021. *Stata Statistical Software: Release 17*. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC.)

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Descriptive statistics

Tables 3.1.1 and 3.1.2 describe the individual and school level characteristics of the study sample (n=16,575) at baseline, 2016/17. 52% of the sample was female. 75% of students were in grade 9 or 10, 25% were in grade 11 or 12, and 71% identified as being White. At baseline, 25% of students reported using alcohol in the past month and 13% reported binge drinking in the past month. 9%, 6% and 9% of students reported past-month use of cannabis, cigarettes and electronic cigarettes respectively. There was an increase in substance use with advancing grade level (Figure 3.1)

The majority of sample schools (n=68) were in Ontario (84%), followed by some in Alberta (10%) and British Columbia (6%). Of the 68 schools, 85% were located in an urban area. School size fluctuated over the three years, however at baseline, 29% of schools were categorized as being small, 56% as being medium-size, and 15% as being large. Schools were in census divisions with median household income ranging from \$53,127 to \$87,183, and the median value across all census divisions of this study sample was \$60,652 (standard deviation (SD)=8,053).

In 2016/17, 44 of 68 schools (65%) engaged with their local PHU in addressing alcohol and cannabis use. More specifically, 20 (29%) schools received information/resources/programs from their local PHU and 8 (12%) solved problems jointly with their local PHU or developed/implemented program activities jointly. PHUs had programs outside of class/curriculum to address alcohol and cannabis use in 12 (18%) and 15 (22%) of schools respectively, and 11 (16%) schools had both alcohol and cannabis programs. Similarly, 44 of 68 (65%) schools had their local PHUs engaged in addressing tobacco and e-cigarette use. 21 (31%) schools received information/resources/programs from their local PHU and 6 (9%) schools solved problems or developed/implemented program activities jointly with their local PHU. PHUs had programs outside of class/curriculum to address tobacco and e-cigarette use in 15 (22%) and 10 (15%) schools respectively, and 8 (12%) had both tobacco and e-cigarette programs. Students exposed to PHU engagement in 2016/17 had a slightly lower prevalence of alcohol, cannabis and e-cigarette use at baseline compared to students who were not exposed to PHU engagement (Table 3.1.3 and 3.1.4). Schools with any type of PHU engagement were similar to schools with no PHU engagement in 2016/17 (Appendix D). Notably however, though the difference was not statistically significant, a higher proportion of schools with PHU engagement were in an urban area and were large in enrolment size as compared to schools without PHU engagement. If this difference is real, the lack of statistical significance may be due to a relatively small sample size in at least one category of school size or rurality.

Variable	n	%
Sex		
Female	8,613	52.0
Male	7,962	48.0
Grade		
9	6.430	38.8
10	6.031	36.4
11	3,849	23.2
12	265	1.6
Race		
White	11,823	71.3
Black	550	3.3
Asian	1,234	7.4
Latinx	405	2.4
Other	2,563	15.5
Spending money		
Zero	3,183	19.2
\$1-\$20	5,185	31.3
\$21-\$100	3,954	23.9
\$100+	2,064	12.5
Don't know	2,189	13.2
Binge drinking		
No	14,436	87.1
Yes	2,139	12.9
Alcohol use		
No	12,449	75.1
Yes	4,126	24.9
Cannabis use		
No	15,046	90.8
Yes	1,529	9.2
Cigarette use		
No	15,603	94.1
Yes	972	5.9
E-cigarette use		
No	15,048	90.8
Yes	1,527	9.2

Table 3.1.1. Demographic characteristics of cohort with complete data at baseline (n=16,575).

Variable	n	%
Enrolment size		
Small	20	29.4
Medium	38	55.9
Large	10	14.7
Missing		
Rurality		
Urban	58	85.3
Rural	10	14.7
Province		
Ontario	57	83.8
Alberta	7	10.3
British Columbia	4	5.9
Area level median income		
Mean, SD	64,399	8,355.71
Median	60,243	

 Table 3.1.2. Characteristics of schools at baseline (n=68).

	Exposure baseline P	to HE	No exposi baseline P	ire to PHE	Chi Sq	uare / T-te	est
Variable	n	%	n	%	df	test statistic	p-value
Sex Female Male	5,942 5,422	52.29 47.71	2,671 2,540	51.26 48.74	1	1.52	0.22
Grade 9 10 11 12	4,527 4,002 2,627 208	39.84 35.22 23.12 1.83	1,903 2,029 1,222 57	36.52 38.94 23.45 1.09	3	36.02	<0.001
Race White Black Asian Latinx Other	7,975 426 807 308 1,848	70.18 3.75 7.10 2.71 16.26	3,848 124 427 97 715	73.84 2.38 8.19 1.86 13.72	4	58.50	<0.001
Weekly Spending Money Zero \$1-\$20 \$21-\$100 \$100+ Don't know	2,217 3,621 2,680 1,365 1,481	19.51 31.86 23.58 12.01 13.03	966 1,564 1,274 699 708	18.54 30.01 24.45 13.41 13.59	4	13.26	0.01
Binge drinking No Yes	9,933 1,431	87.41 12.59	4,503 708	86.41 13.59	1	3.14	0.08
Alcohol use No Yes	8,625 2,739	75.90 24.10	3,824 1,387	73.38 26.62	1	12.08	0.001
Cannabis use No Yes	10,351 1,013	91.09 8.91	4,695 516	90.10 9.90	1	4.16	0.04

Table 3.1.3. Baseline characteristics of students exposed to public health unit engagement (PHE) in addressing alcohol/cannabis use compared to students unexposed to PHE in 2016/17 (n=16,575)

	Mean	SD	Mean	SD			
School connectedness Mean, SD	18.45	3.09	18.58	3.03	16573	2.47	0.01

Table 3.1.4. Baseline characteristics of students exposed to public health unit (PHU)
engagement in addressing tobacco/e-cigarette use compared to students unexposed to PHU
engagement in 2016/17 (n=16,575).

	Exposur engagem	e to ient	No exposure to engagement		ure to Chi Square / T-test ent		est
Variable	n	%	n	%	df	test statistic	p-value
Sex							
Female	6,008	52.44	2,605	50.89	1	3.43	0.06
Male	5,448	47.56	2,514	49.11			
Grade							
9	4,534	39.58	1,896	37.04	3	25.25	< 0.001
10	4,073	35.55	1,958	38.25			
11	2,640	23.04	1,209	23.62			
12	209	1.82	56	1.09			
Race							
White	8,179	71.39	3,644	71.19	4	94.50	< 0.001
Black	438	3.82	112	2.19			
Asian	742	6.48	492	9.61			
Latinx	315	2.75	90	1.76			
Other	1,782	15.55	781	15.25			
Weekly Spending							
Money							
Zero	2,247	19.61	936	18.28	4	20.48	< 0.001
\$1-\$20	3,652	31.88	1,533	29.95			
\$21-\$100	2,683	23.42	1,271	24.83			
\$100+	1,360	11.87	704	13.75			
Don't know	1,514	13.22	675	13.19			
Cigarette use							
No	10,809	94.35	4,794	93.65	1	3.15	0.08
Yes	647	5.65	325	6.35			
E-cigarette use							
No	10,473	91.42	4,575	89.37	1	17.72	< 0.001
Yes	983	8.58	544	10.63			

	Mean	SD	Mean	SD			
School Connectedness Mean, SD	18.45	3.08	18.58	3.07	16573	2.48	0.01

Missingness of information at baseline was associated with gender, race, and school connectedness (Appendix E). Males, those self-identifying as Black or Other, and those with low school connectedness were more likely to have been excluded due to missing data at baseline. Those excluded were also more likely to attend a school in an area belonging to the highest quartile of median after-tax household income. Additionally, there was significant attrition. There were 4,114 grade 11 and 12 students at baseline, 25% of the total sample. As these students graduated, it was expected that the sample would be reduced to 75% of the original size, approximately 12,431 students, by 2018/19. However, the actual remaining sample was 8,422 students, only 51% of the baseline sample, indicating significant loss to follow up for reasons other than graduation. Those who remained in the study until 2018/19 were more likely to be in grade 9 at baseline, have little to no weekly spending money, and experience higher school connectedness. (Appendix C).



□ Alcohol □ Alcohol binge □ Cannabis □ Cigarette ■ E-cigarette

Figure 3.1. Proportion of grade 9-12 secondary students in COMPASS year 2016/17 who used alcohol (any use or binge drinking), cannabis, cigarettes, or e-cigarettes in the past month or at least monthly.

3.3.2 Research Question 1: Is public health engagement in 2016/17 associated with adolescent substance use over time?

For all outcomes, adjusted odds ratio estimates were conditional on the random effect and controlled for individual and school level covariates. There was no evidence of an interaction between PHU engagement and students' sex. Overall, there was no association between PHU engagement and substance use over time (Figure 3.2). Although the unadjusted models indicated an increase in substance use over time, there was no association between time and substance use once grade was adjusted for (Figure 3.2). Those in grades 10, 11 and 12 each had larger odds of using any substance compared to those in grade 9, with a larger effect size for those in higher grades.

Alcohol use

Based on the intercept-only model for past-month alcohol use, 6% of the variation in alcohol use is attributable to between-school differences (ICC: 0.06; 95% CI: 0.04, 0.08) and 64% of the variation is attributable to between-student differences (ICC: 0.64; 95% CI: 0.62, 0.66). The prevalence of past-month alcohol use across schools ranged from 5.8% to 53.3% (see Appendix G for formula used to calculate plausible range). Boys had a higher odds of alcohol use compared to girls (adjusted odds ratio (AOR): 1.24; 95% CI: 1.12, 1.38). No statistically significant association between baseline PHU engagement in addressing alcohol/cannabis use and past month alcohol use was observed (AOR: 1.01, 95% CI: 0.69, 1.47) (Table 3.2.1). Similarly, there was no significant interaction between PHU engagement and year. There was no difference in alcohol use two years later between those exposed to PHU engagement in 2016/17 compared to those who were not exposed (AOR: 1:08, 95% CI: 0.73, 1.60).

Alcohol binge drinking

Based on the intercept-only model for past-month binge drinking, 7% of the variation in binge drinking is attributable to between-school differences (ICC: 0.07; 95% CI: 0.05, 0.09) and 65% of the variation in alcohol use is attributable to between-student differences (ICC: 0.65; 95% CI: 0.63, 0.67). The prevalence of past-month binge drinking across schools ranged from 1.6% to 26.0%. Boys had a higher odds of binge drinking compared to girls (AOR: 1.39; 95% CI: 1.23, 1.56). Similar to overall alcohol use, no statistically significant association was

observed between PHU engagement in addressing alcohol/cannabis use and past-month binge drinking (AOR: 1.11, 95% CI: 0.75, 1.69) (Table 3.2.2). Likewise, there was no significant interaction between PHU engagement and year. There was no difference in binge drinking two years later between those exposed to PHU engagement in 2016/17 compared to those who were not exposed (AOR: 1.17, 95% CI: 0.77, 1.79).

Cannabis use

Based on the intercept-only model for past-month cannabis use, 2% of the variation in cannabis use is attributable to between-school differences (ICC: 0.02; 95% CI: 0.02, 0.03) and 73% of the variation is attributable to between-student differences (ICC: 0.73; 95% CI: 0.71, 0.75). The prevalence of past-month cannabis use across schools ranged from 1.1% to 7.8%. Compared to alcohol use, past-month cannabis use appears to be much less influenced by school level factors than student level factors. Boys had a higher odds of cannabis use compared to girls (AOR: 2.08; 95% CI: 1.79, 2.41). Although there was no statistically significant association between baseline PHU engagement in addressing alcohol/cannabis use and past-month cannabis use, the adjusted odds ratio observed was moderately protective (AOR: 0.73, 95% CI: 0.51, 1.03) (Table 3.2.3). Similarly, there was no significant interaction between PHU engagement and year. There was no difference in cannabis use by 2018/19 between those exposed to PHU engagement in 2016/17 compared to those who were not exposed (AOR: 0.93, 95% CI: 0.66, 1.31).

Cigarette use

Based on the intercept-only model for past-month cigarette use, 10% of the variation in cigarette use is attributable to between-school differences (ICC: 0.10; 95% CI: 0.07, 0.14) and 76% of the variation is attributable to between-student differences (ICC: 0.76; 95% CI: 0.73, 0.79). The prevalence of past-month cigarette use across schools ranged from 0.1% to 8.9%. School level factors appear to have a greater influence on past-month cigarette use as compared to alcohol or cannabis use. Boys had a higher odds of cigarette use compared to girls (AOR: 2.03; 95% CI: 1.73, 2.41). As with alcohol or cannabis use, there was no association between PHU engagement in addressing cigarette/e-cigarette use and past month cigarette use (AOR: 0.98, 95% CI: 0.58, 1.63) and no significant interaction with year (Table 3.2.4). There was no

difference in cigarette use by 2018/19 between those exposed to PHU engagement in 2016/17 compared to those who were not exposed (AOR: 0.78, 95% CI: 0.46, 1.34).

E-cigarette use

Based on the intercept-only model for past-month e-cigarette use, 5% of the variation in e-cigarette use is attributable to between-school differences (ICC: 0.05; 95% CI: 0.03, 0.07) and 49% of the variation is attributable to between-student differences (ICC: 0.49; 95% CI: 0.47, 0.51). The prevalence of past-month e-cigarette use across schools ranged from 3.9% to 25.6%. Boys had a higher odds of e-cigarette use compared to girls (AOR: 2.67; 95% CI: 2.38, 2.99). Similar to cannabis use, although there was no statistically significant association between PHU engagement in addressing cigarette/e-cigarette use and past month e-cigarette use, the association observed was moderately protective (AOR: 0.83, 95% CI: 0.59, 1.17) (Table 3.2.5). There was no significant interaction between PHU engagement and year. There was no difference in e-cigarette use by 2018/19 between those exposed to PHU engagement in 2016/17 compared to those who were not exposed (AOR: 0.88, 95% CI: 0.62, 1.23).

Variable		Past-month alcohol use	
	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Constant	0.11 (0.08, 0.16)	0.09 (0.06, 0.13)	0.14 (0.08, 0.24)
Engagement (ref: None)			
Any	0.82 (0.54, 1.24)	0.85 (0.59, 1.23)	1.01 (0.69, 1.47)
Time (ref: 2016)			
2017	2.86 (2.52, 3.25)	1.07 (0.93, 1.24)	1.07 (0.93, 1.24)
2018	5.04 (4.31, 5.89)	0.96 (0.79, 1.16)	0.96 (0.79, 1.16)
Engagement x Time			
Engaged 2017	1.03 (0.88, 1.20)	0.98 (0.84, 1.14)	0.98 (0.84, 1.14)
Engaged 2018	1.09 (0.90, 1.31)	1.08 (0.89, 1.30)	1.08 (0.89, 1.30)
Grade (ref: 9)			
10		3.89 (3.38, 4.47)	3.89 (3.39, 4.47)
11		7.51 (6.33, 8.92)	7.53 (6.34, 8.94)
12		12.05 (9.66, 15.03)	12.07 (9.68, 15.06)
Sex (ref: Female)			
Male		1.24 (1.12, 1.38)	1.24 (1.12, 1.38)
Race (ref: White)			
Black		0.38 (0.27, 0.52)	0.38 (0.28, 0.53)
Asian		0.18 (0.14, 0.23)	0.19 (0.15, 0.24)
Latinx		0.87 (0.62, 1.22)	0.88 (0.62, 1.23)
Other		0.71 (0.61, 0.82)	0.71 (0.61, 0.82)

Table 3.2.1. Association between public health engagement¹ in 2016/17 and adolescent monthly alcohol use over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.2.1. Continued.

Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Spending Money (ref: \$0)			
\$1-\$20		1.72 (1.50, 1.97)	1.72 (1.50, 1.97)
\$21-\$100		3.35 (2.93, 3.84)	3.35 (2.92, 3.83)
\$100+		4.59 (3.98, 5.28)	4.58 (3.97, 5.27)
Do not know		1.78 (1.53, 2.09)	1.78 (1.52, 2.09)
Connectedness		0.93 (0.92, 0.94)	0.93 (0.92, 0.94)
Median after tax			
household income (ref: 1 st			
quartile)			
2 nd quartile			0.89 (0.56, 1.43)
3 rd quartile			1.08 (0.68, 1.72)
4 th quartile			0.56 (0.32, 1.00)
Rural (ref: urban)			
Rural			0.80 (0.48, 1.31)
School Size (ref: Small)			
Medium			0.55 (0.37, 0.83)
Large			0.47 (0.27, 0.80)
Province (ref: Ontario)			
Alberta			1.91 (0.95, 3.83)
British Columbia			0.68 (0.31, 1.49)
¹ Public health engagement is defin	ed as any form of engagement by	the local public health unit, includ	ing providing resources, solvir
problems jointly, or running progra	ams to address alcohol and cannab	is use.	
Bold indicates statistical significan	ce at p≤0.05		

84

Variable	Past-month binge drinking					
	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)			
Constant	0.02 (0.02, 0.03)	0.02 (0.01, 0.03)	0.02 (0.01, 0.05)			
Engagement (ref: None)						
Any	0.93 (0.61, 1.43)	0.92 (0.61, 1.38)	1.11 (0.73, 1.69)			
Time (ref: 2016)						
2017	3.12 (2.68, 3.64)	1.16 (0.98, 1.37)	1.16 (0.98, 1.37)			
2018	5.35 (4.44, 6.45)	1.04 (0.83, 1.30)	1.04 (0.83, 1.30)			
Engagement x Time						
Engaged 2017	0.92 (0.77, 1.10)	0.90 (0.75, 1.08)	0.90 (0.75, 1.08)			
Engaged 2018	1.07 (0.86, 1.33)	1.05 (0.84, 1.32)	1.05 (0.84, 1.31)			
Grade (ref: 9)						
10		4.40 (3.67, 5.28)	4.40 (3.67, 5.28)			
11		8.52 (6.87, 10.57)	8.52 (6.87, 10.57)			
12		13.58 (10.43, 17.68)	13.56 (10.42, 17.66)			
Sex (ref: Female)						
Male		1.39 (1.24, 1.56)	1.39 (1.23, 1.56)			
Race (ref: White)						
Black		0.66 (0.45, 0.95)	0.67 (0.47, 0.97)			
Asian		0.27 (0.20, 0.37)	0.28 (0.21, 0.38)			
Latinx		1.15 (0.78, 1.68)	1.15 (0.79, 1.69)			
Other		0.82 (0.69, 0.97)	0.82 (0.70, 0.97)			

Table 3.2.2. Association between public health engagement¹ in 2016/17 and adolescent monthly alcohol binge drinking over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.2.2. Continued

Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Spending Money (ref: \$0)			
\$1-\$20		1.65 (1.39, 1.96)	1.65 (1.39, 1.97)
\$21-\$100		3.49 (2.95, 4.12)	3.48 (2.95, 4.11)
\$100+		4.94 (4.17, 5.86)	4.93 (4.16, 5.84)
Do not know		1.79 (1.48, 2.18)	1.79 (1.47, 2.18)
Connectedness		0.92 (0.90, 0.93)	0.92 (0.90, 0.93)
Median after tax household			
income (ref: 1 st quartile)			
2 nd quartile			0.91 (0.54, 1.52)
3 rd quartile			0.93 (0.57, 1.54)
4 th quartile			0.44 (0.23, 0.82)
Rural (ref: urban)			
Rural			0.96 (0.56, 1.65)
School Size (ref: Small)			
Medium			0.62 (0.40, 0.97)
Large			0.53 (0.29, 0.95)
Province (ref: Ontario)			
Alberta			3.18 (1.48, 6.81)
British Columbia			0.67 (0.28, 1.58)
¹ Public health engagement is defined	l as any form of engagement by	the local public health unit, inclue	ding providing resources, solving
problems jointly, or running program	ns to address alcohol and cannal	ois use.	

Bold indicates statistical significance at p≤0.05

Variable	Past-month cannabis use					
	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)			
Constant	0.002 (0.001, 0.003)	0.03 (0.01, 0.05)	0.03 (0.02, 0.06)			
Engagement (ref: None)						
Any	0.80 (0.56, 1.15)	0.81 (0.57, 1.13)	0.73 (0.51, 1.03)			
Time (ref: 2016)						
2017	4.92 (4.00, 6.06)	1.54 (1.24, 1.91)	1.54 (1.24, 1.91)			
2018	11.48 (8.95, 14.74)	1.83 (1.38, 2.42)	1.83 (1.38, 2.42)			
Engagement x Time						
Engaged 2017	1.02 (0.80, 1.31)	0.96 (0.76, 1.21)	0.96 (0.76, 1.21)			
Engaged 2018	1.38 (1.03, 1.83)	1.28 (0.97, 1.69)	1.28 (0.97, 1.69)			
Grade (ref: 9)						
10		5.18 (4.03, 6.66)	5.19 (4.04, 6.68)			
11		9.67 (7.15, 13.07)	9.71 (7.18, 13.13)			
12		15.88 (11.06, 22.79)	15.95 (11.11, 22.90)			
Sex (ref: Female)						
Male		2.08 (1.79, 2.41)	2.08 (1.79, 2.41)			
Race (ref: White)						
Black		1.33 (0.87, 2.02)	1.37 (0.90, 2.09)			
Asian		0.22 (0.15, 0.33)	0.23 (0.15, 0.34)			
Latinx		1.31 (0.81, 2.12)	1.30 (0.80, 2.10)			
Other		1.61 (1.31, 1.97)	1.62 (1.32, 1.99)			

Table 3.2.3. Association between public health engagement¹ in 2016/17 and adolescent monthly cannabis use over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.2.3. Continued

Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Spending Money (ref:			
\$0)			
\$1-\$20		1.81 (1.46, 2.23)	1.81 (1.46, 2.24)
\$21-\$100		3.21 (2.62, 3.95)	3.21 (2.61, 3.95)
\$100+		4.50 (3.66, 5.54)	4.49 (3.64, 5.52)
Do not know		1.68 (1.31, 2.15)	1.68 (1.31, 2.15)
Connectedness		0.80 (0.78, 0.81)	0.80 (0.78, 0.81)
Median after tax			
household income (ref:			
1 st quartile)			
2 nd quartile			1.38 (0.93, 2.04)
3 rd quartile			0.94 (0.64, 1.38)
4 th quartile			0.67 (0.41, 1.09)
Rural (ref: urban)			
Rural			0.51 (0.33, 0.78)
School Size (ref: Small)			
Medium			0.92 (0.65, 1.31)
Large			0.91 (0.58, 1.42)
Province (ref: Ontario)			
Alberta			1.49 (0.82, 2.73)
British Columbia			0.84 (0.44, 1.60)
¹ Public health engagement is defi	ined as any form of engagement b	y the local public health unit, inclu	iding providing resources,

solving problems jointly, or running programs to address alcohol and cannabis use.

Bold indicates statistical significance at $p \le 0.05$

Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Constant	0.004 (0.002, 0.006)	0.07 (0.03, 0.14)	0.09 (0.04, 0.23)
Engagement (ref: None)			
Any	0.90 (0.47, 1.72)	0.84 (0.47, 1.52)	0.98 (0.58, 1.63)
Time (ref: 2016)			
2017	3.60 (2.92, 4.48)	2.18 (1.72, 2.75)	2.16 (1.72, 2.75)
2018	3.63 (2.80, 4.71)	1.72 (1.25, 2.36)	1.72(1.25, 2.36)
Engagement x Time			
Engaged 2017	0.79 (0.61, 1.02)	0.79 (0.62, 1.02)	0.79 (0.62, 1.02)
Engaged 2018	0.79 (0.58, 1.07)	0.80 (0.59, 1.11)	0.80 (0.59, 1.09)
Grade (ref: 9)			
10		2.51 (1.97, 3.19)	2.51 (1.97, 3.19)
11		4.01 (3.00, 5.37)	4.01 (3.00, 5.37)
12		4.71 (3.29, 6.75)	4.71 (3.29, 6.75)
Sex (ref: Female)			
Male		2.05 (1.73, 2.41)	2.03 (1.73, 2.41)
Race (ref: White)			
Black		0.81 (0.48, 1.38)	0.85 (0.50, 1.45)
Asian		0.32 (0.21, 0.50)	0.33 (0.21, 0.52)
Latinx		0.68 (0.36, 1.30)	0.69 (0.36, 1.31)
Other		1.60 (1.28, 1.99)	1.62 (1.28, 2.01)

Table 3.2.4. Association between public health engagement¹ in 2016/17 and adolescent monthly cigarette use over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.2.4. Continued

Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Spending Money (ref: \$0)			
\$1-\$20			2.18 (1.68, 2.86)
\$21-\$100			4.44 (3.35, 5.81)
\$100+			5.21 (3.82, 7.10)
Do not know			1.77 (1.28, 2.46)
Connectedness			0.77 (0.75, 0.79)
Median after tax household			
income (ref: 1 st quartile)			
2 nd quartile			1.52 (0.79, 2.92)
3 rd quartile			1.31 (0.66, 2.56)
4 th quartile			0.40 (0.17, 0.93)
Rural (ref: urban)			
Rural			1.16 (0.57, 2.34)
School Size (ref: Small)			
Medium			0.52 (0.29, 0.93)
Large			0.30 (0.13, 0.66)
Province (ref: Ontario)			
Alberta			3.97 (1.43, 11.13)
Divisit Colored is			0.73(0.22, 2.34)

Bold indicates statistical significance at $p \le 0.05$

Table 3.2.5. Association between public health engagement¹ in 2016/17 and adolescent monthly e-cigarette use over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Variable		e	
	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Constant	0.01 (0.01, 0.02	0.01 (0.01, 0.02)	0.02 (0.01, 0.03)
Engagement (ref: None)			
Any	0.74 (0.50, 1.08)	0.74 (0.51, 1.07)	0.83 (0.59, 1.17)
Time (ref: 2016)			
2017	6.65 (5.63, 7.84)	4.14 (3.47, 4.95)	4.15 (3.47, 4.95)
2018	22.07 (18.03, 27.00)	10.40 (8.26, 13.08)	10.40 (8.27, 13.09)
Engagement x Time			
Engaged 2017	1.01 (0.83, 1.23)	0.96 (0.79, 1.16)	0.96 (0.79, 1.16)
Engaged 2018	1.14 (0.91, 1.42)	1.06 (0.85, 1.32)	1.06 (0.85, 1.32)
Grade (ref: 9)			
10		1.52 (1.28, 1.81)	1.52 (1.28, 1.81)
11		1.87 (1.52, 2.29)	1.87 (1.52, 2.29)
12		2.08 (1.63, 2.66)	2.08 (1.63, 2.67)
Sex (ref: Female)			
Male		2.67 (2.38, 2.99)	2.67 (2.38, 2.99)
Race (ref: White)			
Black		0.72 (0.51, 1.01)	0.73 (0.52, 1.03)
Asian		0.28 (0.21, 0.36)	0.28 (0.21, 0.36)
Latinx		1.09 (0.75, 1.57)	1.08 (0.75, 1.56)
Other		1.03 (0.88, 1.20)	1.03 (0.88, 1.20)

Table 3.2.5. Continued.

Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Spending Money (ref: \$0)			
\$1-\$20		2.13 (1.80, 2.53)	2.14 (1.80, 2.53)
\$21-\$100		3.82 (3.25, 4.50)	3.82 (3.24, 4.50)
\$100+		5.79 (4.90, 6.85)	5.78 (4.89, 6.83)
Do not know		1.87 (1.54, 2.27)	1.87 (1.54, 2.26)
Connectedness		0.92 (0.91, 0.94)	0.93 (0.91, 0.94)
Median after tax household			
income (ref: 1 st quartile)			
2 nd quartile			0.79 (0.52, 1.21)
3 rd quartile			0.85 (0.55, 1.31)
4 th quartile			0.45 (0.27, 0.76)
Rural (ref: urban)			
Rural			0.77 (0.49, 1.23)
School Size (ref: Small)			
Medium			1.00 (0.68, 1.46)
Large			0.82 (0.49, 1.36)
Province (ref: Ontario)			
Alberta			2.88 (1.49, 5.56)
British Columbia			1.95 (0.93, 4.09)
¹ Public health engagement is defined	as any form of engagement by th	e local public health unit, includin	ng providing resources, solving

problems jointly, or running programs to address alcohol and cannabis use. **Bold** indicates statistical significance at $p \le 0.05$



Figure 3.2. Predicted Probability of adolescent alcohol use, binge drinking, cannabis use, cigarette use, and e-cigarette use (A-E respectively) by public health unit engagement in COMPASS secondary schools from 2016/17 to 2018/2019.

3.3.3 Research Question 2: Do different methods of public health engagement in 2016/17 have different associations with adolescent substance use over time compared to the absence of public health engagement?

For all outcomes, adjusted odds ratio estimates were conditional on the random effect and controlled for individual and school level covariates.

Alcohol use

Both time, in reference to baseline, and higher grades compared to grade 9, were associated with increased odds of alcohol use. Boys had a higher odds of alcohol use compared to girls (AOR: 1.24; 95% CI: 1.12, 1.38). While there was a non-significant association between overall PHU engagement and alcohol use, the association varied by method of engagement. Though non-significant, the unadjusted odds of alcohol use at baseline for those exposed to PHU-run programs in 2016/17 compared to those with no PHU engagement was 0.62 (95% CI: 0.37, 1.03) (Table 3.3.1 and Figure 3.3). After adjusting for student and school covariates, this association remained moderately protective but statistically non-significant (AOR: 0.80; 95% CI: 0.51, 1.26). PHU provision of information/resources/programs, and PHU engagement in solving problems and/or implementing programs jointly, were both associated with higher odds of adolescent alcohol use at baseline, after controlling for other factors, but estimates were not statistically significant (AOR 1.06; CI: 0.67, 1.66 and AOR 1.23; CI: 0.69, 2.20 respectively). There was no significant longitudinal association between any method of baseline PHU engagement and alcohol use.

Alcohol binge drinking

Increases in both time and grade were associated with increased odds of alcohol binge drinking. Boys had a higher odds of alcohol binge drinking compared to girls (AOR: 1.39; 95% CI: 1.24, 1.56). In the unadjusted model, there was a lower, non-significant odds of binge drinking at baseline for those exposed to PHU-run programs compared to those not exposed to PHU-run programs (OR: 0.84; 95% CI: 0.49, 1.42). However, this non-significant effect was absent after controlling for other covariates (AOR: 0.99; 95% CI: 0.60, 1.64) (Table 3.3.2 and Figure 3.3). Joint program implementation/problem solving was not associated with binge drinking at baseline (AOR: 0.94; 95% CI: 0.49, 1.78). For PHU provision of
information/resources/ programs, an odds ratio of 1.30 suggested moderately increased binge drinking at baseline for those with this exposure compared to those without, though this was not statistically significant (AOR: 1.30, 95% CI: 0.78, 2.15). Interestingly, there was a significant, protective interaction between PHU provision of information/resources/programs and year in 2017/18 (AOR: 0.77; 95% CI: 0.62, 0.96). As a result, despite the effect size of 1.30 at baseline, by 2017/18, there was no significant difference in the odds of binge drinking when comparing those exposed to PHU provision of information/resources/programs at baseline with those unexposed (AOR: 1.00, 95% CI: 0.61, 1.64). This suggests that PHU provision of information/resources/programs may have a protective effect over time on past-month binge drinking. On the other hand, exposure to joint problem solving or program implementation at baseline was significantly associated with an excess rise in binge drinking by 2018/19 (AOR: 1.45; 95% CI: 1.02, 2.05). Though non-significant, the adjusted odds of binge drinking for those with this exposure increased from 0.94 (95% CI: 0.49, 1.78) in 2016/17 to 1.35 (95% CI: 0.71, 2.59) in 2018/19. These results suggest that, while overall PHU engagement may have a nonsignificant association with binge drinking, different methods of engagement may have different and even opposing longitudinal associations with binge drinking.

Cannabis use

As with alcohol use, increases in both time and grade were associated with increased odds of cannabis use. Boys had a higher odds of cannabis use compared to girls (AOR: 2.11; 95% CI: 1.82, 2.46). PHU engagement may be protective against cannabis use at baseline, whether engagement is studied overall (AOR: 0.73; CI: 0.51, 1.03), or by method of engagement as described below (Table 3.3.3 and Figure 3.3). Students exposed to PHU engagement in the form of solving problems and/or implementing programs jointly, compared to students not exposed to PHU engagement, have a 57% reduction in the odds of baseline cannabis use (95% CI: 0.25, 0.76) after adjusting for other individual and school level factors. Though statistically non-significant, the odds of cannabis use for those exposed to PHU provision of information/resources/programs or those exposed to PHU-run programs, was 0.72 (95% CI: 0.47, 1.10) and 0.84 (95% CI: 0.55, 1.27) respectively, compared to no baseline engagement and after controlling for other factors. There was a significant interaction between PHU engagement and year, whereby those who experienced PHU joint problem solving and/or program

implementation or PHU provision of information/resources/programs, had a significantly larger increase in cannabis use by 2018/19 than those with no baseline exposure to PHU engagement. For each of these exposures, the adjusted odds of past-month cannabis use in 2018/19 were 0.78 (95% CI: 0.46, 1.31) and 1.09 (95% CI: 0.73, 1.63) times the odds for those exposed to no engagement – effect sizes that are larger in 2018/19 than at baseline. The significant interactions with year suggests that these two methods of PHU engagement may be associated with lower odds of cannabis use at baseline but with higher odds of cannabis use over time.

Cigarette use

Increases in both time and grade were associated with increased odds of cigarette use. Boys had a higher odds of cigarette use compared to girls (AOR: 2.05; 95% CI: 1.73, 2.41). There was no statistically significant association between overall PHU engagement in addressing cigarette/e-cigarette use and past-month cigarette use. Similarly, after controlling for other covariates, there was no association between PHU provision of information/resources/programs, or PHU-run programs, and baseline cigarette use (AOR: 1.02; 95% CI: 0.54, 1.92 and AOR: 0.65; 95% CI: 0.26, 1.65 respectively) (Table 3.3.4 and Figure 3.3). Though statistically nonsignificant, the association appears to be moderately protective when comparing PHU engagement in solving problems and/or implementing programs jointly to no PHU engagement at all, whereby the odds of baseline cigarette use for those with PHU engagement is 0.65 (95% CI: 0.26, 1.65) times the odds for those without PHU engagement, after controlling for other covariates. There was a significant interaction between PHU engagement and time, in the case of exposure to PHU-run programs. Those who were exposed to PHU-run programs at baseline had a smaller increase in their odds of cigarette use over time than those who were not exposed to PHU-run programs. After adjusting for other factors, the odds of past-month cigarette use in 2017/18 and 2018/19 for those exposed to PHU-run programs were 0.60 (95% CI: 0.32, 1.14) and 0.68 (95% CI: 0.35, 1.32) compared to those who were unexposed. The significant interaction suggests that PHU-run programs may be protective against cigarette use over time.

E-cigarette use

As with cigarette use, increases in both time and grade were associated with increased odds of e-cigarette use. Boys had a higher odds of e-cigarette use compared to girls (AOR: 2.77;

95% CI: 2.46, 3.11). There was no statistically significant association between overall PHU engagement in addressing cigarette/e-cigarette use at baseline and adolescent e-cigarette use, however, the association did vary by method of engagement. PHU provision of information/resources/programs was moderately protective against baseline e-cigarette use (AOR: 0.81, 95% CI: 0.53, 1.24), but this association was statistically non-significant (Table 3.3.5 and Figure 3.3). PHU engagement in solving problems and/or implementing programs jointly, compared to no PHU engagement, was significantly protective against baseline ecigarette use with an AOR of 0.38 (95% CI: 0.20, 0.72), after controlling for other covariates. There was no association between exposure to PHU-led programs and e-cigarette use. Significant interactions were found between two methods of PHU engagement and year. Those exposed to PHU provision of information/resources/programs at baseline had 0.60 (95% CI: 0.40, 0.90) times the odds of e-cigarette use by 2017/18 as compared to those exposed to no PHU engagement at baseline. Conversely, PHU-school joint problem solving or program implementation at baseline, compared to no PHU engagement, was associated with a larger increase in the odds of e-cigarette use in subsequent years. For those with this exposure compared to those without, the adjusted odds of e-cigarette use in 2017/18 and 2018/19 respectively were 0.97 (95% CI: 0.55, 1.72) and 0.99 (95% CI: 0.55, 1.79), after controlling for other covariates. Similar to the case of cannabis use, the significant interactions with year suggest that PHU engagement in joint problem solving or program implementation may be associated with lower odds of e-cigarette use at baseline, but a larger increase in the odds of ecigarette use in subsequent years.

		Past-month alcohol use	
Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Constant	0.11 (0.08, 0.16)	0.08 (0.05, 0.12)	0.11 (0.06, 0.21)
Engagement (ref: None)			
Method 1	0.84 (0.51, 1.37)	0.88 (0.57, 1.37)	1.06 (0.67, 1.66)
Method 2	1.37 (0.70, 2.68)	1.23 (0.69, 2.20)	1.23 (0.69, 2.20)
Method 3	0.62 (0.37, 1.03)	0.67 (0.43, 1.06)	0.80 (0.51, 1.26)
Time (ref: 2016)			
2017	2.86 (2.52, 3.25)	1.38 (1.20, 1.59)	1.38 (1.20, 1.59)
2018	5.04 (4.31, 5.89)	1.63 (1.34, 1.98)	1.63 (1.34, 1.98)
Engagement*year			
Method 1*17	0.95 (0.79, 1.14)	0.94 (0.78, 1.13)	0.94 (0.78, 1.13)
Method 1*18	0.97 (0.78, 1.22)	0.97 (0.78, 1.22)	0.97 (0.77, 1.22)
Method 2*17	1.07 (0.84, 1.37)	1.04 (0.81, 1.33)	1.04 (0.81, 1.33)
Method 2*18	1.32 (0.99, 1.78)	1.27 (0.94, 1.71)	1.27 (0.94, 1.71)
Method 3*17	1.09 (0.91, 1.32)	1.09 (0.91, 1.32)	1.09 (0.91, 1.32)
Method 3*18	1.13 (0.90, 1.41)	1.14 (0.91, 1.44)	1.14 (0.91, 1.43)
Grade (ref: 9)			
10		3.71 (3.23, 4.27)	3.71 (3.23, 4.27)
11		6.90 (5.79, 8.21)	6.90 (5.80, 8.22)
12		9.59 (7.66, 2.02)	9.61 (7.67, 12.04)
Sex (ref: female)			
Male		1.24 (1.12, 1.38)	1.24 (1.12, 1.38)

Table 3.3.1. Association between public health engagement¹ in 2016/17, by method of engagement, and adolescent monthly alcohol use, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.3.1. Continued

VariableModel 1 (95% C.Race (ref: White)BlackAsianLatinxOutloopOutloop	I) Model 2 (95% CI) 0.33 (0.24, 0.46) 0.18 (0.14, 0.23) 0.87 (0.62, 1.23) 0.68 (0.59, 0.79)	Model 3 (95% CI) 0.34 (0.24, 0.46) 0.18 (0.14, 0.23) 0.87 (0 (2, 1, 22))
Race (ref: White) Black Asian Latinx	0.33 (0.24, 0.46) 0.18 (0.14, 0.23) 0.87 (0.62, 1.23) 0.68 (0.59, 0.79)	0.34 (0.24, 0.46) 0.18 (0.14, 0.23)
Black Asian Latinx	0.33 (0.24, 0.46) 0.18 (0.14, 0.23) 0.87 (0.62, 1.23) 0.68 (0.59, 0.79)	0.34 (0.24, 0.46) 0.18 (0.14, 0.23)
Asian Latinx	0.18 (0.14, 0.23) 0.87 (0.62, 1.23) 0.68 (0.59, 0.79)	0.18 (0.14, 0.23)
Latinx	0.87 (0.62, 1.23)	0.07(0.(2, 1.22))
	0 68 (0 50 0 70)	0.8/(0.62, 1.23)
Other	0.00 (0.39, 0.79)	0.68 (0.59, 0.79)
Spending Money (ref: \$0)		
\$1-\$20	2.53 (2.16, 2.97)	2.54 (2.16, 2.97)
\$21-\$100	5.91 (4.99, 7.01)	5.91 (4.98, 7.00)
\$100+	11.06 (9.02, 13.57)	11.02 (8.98, 13.52)
Do not know	2.28 (1.88, 2.77)	2.28 (1.88, 2.76)
Connectedness	0.92 (0.90, 0.93)	0.92 (0.90, 0.93)
Median after tax household		
income (ref: 1 st quartile)		
2 nd quartile		0.87 (0.54, 1.39)
3 rd quartile		1.03 (0.64, 1.65)
4 th quartile		0.61 (0.34, 1.08)
Rural (ref: Urban)		
Rural		0.77 (0.47, 1.28)
School Size (ref: Small)		
Medium		0.60 (0.40, 0.91)
Large		0.54 (0.31, 0.93)
Province		
Alberta		1.93 (0.97, 3.86)
British Columbia		0.66 (0.30, 1.44)
¹ Public health engagement is defined based on method of engage	gement by the local public health unit. M	ethod 1 is defined as provid

Method 3 is defined as independently running a program at schools to address substance use.

Note: **Bold** indicates statistical significance at $p \le 0.05$

	Past-month binge drinking			
Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)	
Constant	0.02 (0.02, 0.03)	0.02 (0.01, 0.03)	0.02 (0.01, 0.05)	
Engagement (ref: None)				
Method 1	0.99 (0.60, 1.65)	1.00 (0.61, 1.64)	1.30 (0.78, 2.15)	
Method 2	1.01 (0.51, 1.98)	0.95 (0.50, 1.84)	0.94 (0.49, 1.78)	
Method 3	0.84 (0.49, 1.42)	0.83 (0.50, 1.39)	0.99 (0.60, 1.64)	
Time (ref: 2016)				
2017	3.12 (2.68, 3.64)	1.50 (1.27, 1.77)	1.50 (1.27, 1.77)	
2018	5.36 (4.45, 6.46)	1.79 (1.43, 2.24)	1.79 (1.43, 2.24)	
Engagement*year				
Method 1*17	0.78 (0.63, 0.97)	0.77 (0.62, 0.96)	0.77 (0.62, 0.96)	
Method 1*18	0.95 (0.73, 1.24)	0.94 (0.72, 1.22)	0.93 (0.72, 1.22)	
Method 2*17	1.17 (0.88, 1.57)	1.14 (0.85, 1.52)	1.14 (0.85, 1.52)	
Method 2*18	1.49 (1.06, 2.11)	1.45 (1.02, 2.06)	1.45 (1.02, 2.05)	
Method 3*17	0.99 (0.79, 1.23)	0.99 (0.79, 1.24)	0.99 (0.79, 1.24)	
Method 3*18	1.05 (0.80, 1.37)	1.05 (0.80, 1.37)	1.05 (0.80, 1.37)	
Grade (ref: 9)				
10		4.16 (3.47, 4.99)	4.16 (3.47, 4.99)	
11		7.72 (6.23, 9.57)	7.72 (6.23, 9.57)	
12		10.53 (8.08, 13.71)	10.51 (8.07, 13.70)	
Sex (ref: female)			· · /	
Male		1.39 (1.24, 1.56)	1.39 (1.24, 1.56)	

Table 3.3.2. Association between public health engagement¹ in 2016/17, by method of engagement, and adolescent monthly alcohol binge drinking, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.3.2. Continued

_		Past-month binge drinkin	g
Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Race (ref: White)			
Black		0.57 (0.40, 0.82)	0.58 (0.40, 0.84)
Asian		0.27 (0.20, 0.36)	0.28 (0.21, 0.37)
Latinx		1.11 (0.75, 1.63)	1.11 (0.76, 1.63)
Other		0.78 (0.66, 0.93)	0.78 (0.66, 0.93)
Spending Money (ref: \$0)			
\$1-\$20		2.43 (2.02, 2.93)	2.44 (2.02, 2.94)
\$21-\$100		5.62 (4.63, 6.82)	5.61 (4.62, 6.81)
\$100+		10.72 (8.56, 13.42)	10.67 (8.53, 13.36)
Do not know		2.58 (2.06, 3.22)	2.57 (2.06, 3.21)
Connectedness		0.90 (0.88, 0.92)	0.90 (0.89, 0.92)
Median after tax			
household income (ref: 1 st			
quartile)			
2 nd quartile			0.90 (0.53, 1.51)
3 rd quartile			0.89 (0.53, 1.48)
4 th quartile			0.44 (0.23, 0.85)
Rural (ref: Urban)			
Rural			0.94 (0.54, 1.62)
School Size (ref: Small)			
Medium			0.64 (0.40, 1.01)
Large			0.59 (0.32, 1.07)
Province			
Alberta			3.19 (1.48, 6.88)
British Columbia			0.64 (0.27, 1.52)

¹ Public health engagement is defined based on method of engagement by the local public health unit. Method 1 is defined as providing information/resources/program. Method 2 is defined as solving problems jointly or developing/implementing program activities jointly. Method 3 is defined as independently running a program at schools to address substance use. Note: **Bold** indicates statistical significance at $p \le 0.05$

	Past-month cannabis use		
Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Constant	0.002 (0.001, 0.003)	0.04 (0.02, 0.07)	0.05 (0.02, 0.10)
Engagement (ref: None)			
Method 1	0.82 (0.53, 1.26)	0.80 (0.53, 1.20)	0.72 (0.47, 1.10)
Method 2	0.51 (0.28, 0.93)	0.55 (0.31, 0.96)	0.43 (0.25, 0.76)
Method 3	0.94 (0.60, 1.46)	0.91 (0.60, 1.39)	0.84 (0.55, 1.27)
Time (ref: 2016)	×		
2017	4.93 (4.00, 6.07)	2.05 (1.65, 2.54)	2.05 (1.65, 2.54)
2018	11.52 (8.97, 14.79)	3.25 (2.44, 4.33)	3.24 (2.43, 4.31)
Engagement*year			
Method 1*17	0.98 (0.73, 1.32)	0.96 (0.73, 1.27)	0.96 (0.73, 1.27)
Method 1*18	1.53 (1.08, 2.15)	1.50 (1.08, 2.09)	1.51 (1.08, 2.11)
Method 2*17	1.38 (0.90, 2.11)	1.27 (0.86, 1.89)	1.27 (0.86, 1.89)
Method 2*18	1.91 (1.17, 3.10)	1.81 (1.13, 2.87)	1.80 (1.13, 2.86)
Method 3*17	0.95 (0.71, 1.29)	0.95 (0.71, 1.25)	0.95 (0.71, 1.25)
Method 3*18	1.10 (0.78, 1.55)	1.05 (0.75, 1.47)	1.05 (0.75, 1.46)
Grade (ref: 9)	×		
10		5.20 (4.03, 6.70)	5.22 (4.04, 6.73)
11		9.22 (6.77, 12.55)	9.27 (6.81, 12.62)
12		13.10 (9.05, 18.96)	13.18 (9.11, 19.09)
Sex (ref: female)			
Male		2.11 (1.82, 2.46)	2.11 (1.82, 2.46)

Table 3.3.3. Association between public health engagement¹ in 2016/17, by method of engagement, and adolescent monthly cannabis use, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.3.3. Continued.

_		Past-month cannabis use	
Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Race (ref: White)			
Black		1.11 (0.73, 1.70)	1.14 (0.75, 1.75)
Asian		0.21 (0.14, 0.31)	0.21 (0.14, 0.32)
Latinx		1.30 (0.80, 2.11)	1.28 (0.79, 2.08)
Other		1.54 (1.26, 1.89)	1.55 (1.26, 1.90)
Spending Money (ref: \$0)			
\$1-\$20		2.06 (1.63, 2.60)	2.07 (1.64, 2.62)
\$21-\$100		5.15 (4.04, 6.58)	5.17 (4.05, 6.59)
\$100+		6.80 (5.14, 9.00)	6.77 (5.11, 8.96)
Do not know		1.55 (1.16, 2.07)	1.55 (1.16, 2.08)
Connectedness		0.77 (0.75, 0.79)	0.77 (0.75, 0.79)
Median after tax			
household income (ref: 1 st			
quartile)			
2 nd quartile			1.47 (0.99, 2.17)
3 rd quartile			0.93 (0.64, 1.37)
4 th quartile			0.65 (0.40, 1.05)
Rural (ref: Urban)			
Rural			0.49 (0.32, 0.75)
School Size (ref: Small)			
Medium			0.86 (0.60, 1.22)
Large			0.93 (0.59, 1.45)
Province			
Alberta			1.43 (0.79, 2.59)
British Columbia			0.85 (0.45, 1.59)

¹ Public health engagement is defined based on method of engagement by the local public health unit. Method 1 is defined as providing information/resources/program. Method 2 is defined as solving problems jointly or developing/implementing program activities jointly. Method 3 is defined as independently running a program at schools to address substance use. Note: **Bold** indicates statistical significance at $p \le 0.05$

	Past-month cigarette use		
Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Constant	0.004 (0.002, 0.01)	0.07 (0.03, 0.14)	0.09 (0.04, 0.23)
Engagement (ref: None)			
Method 1	0.91 (0.42, 1.95)	0.83 (0.41, 1.67)	1.02 (0.54, 1.92)
Method 2	0.67 (0.21, 2.14)	0.71 (0.25, 2.05)	0.65 (0.26, 1.65)
Method 3	0.93 (0.42, 2.08)	0.88 (0.43, 1.80)	1.01 (0.53, 1.93)
Time (ref: 2016)			
2017	3.63 (2.92, 4.48)	2.18 (1.72, 2.75)	2.16 (1.72, 2.75)
2018	3.67 (2.83, 4.76)	1.72 (1.25, 2.36)	1.72 (1.25, 2.36)
Engagement*year			
Method 1*17	0.92 (0.68, 1.26)	0.93 (0.68, 1.26)	0.93 (0.69, 1.27)
Method 1*18	0.86 (0.58, 1.27)	0.88 (0.59, 1.31)	0.88 (0.59, 1.30)
Method 2*17	1.28 (0.81, 2.03)	1.26 (0.79, 1.99)	1.26 (0.79, 1.99)
Method 2*18	1.09 (0.63, 1.90)	1.14 (0.65, 1.97)	1.13 (0.65, 1.97)
Method 3*17	0.59 (0.44, 0.79)	0.59 (0.44, 0.80)	0.59 (0.44, 0.80)
Method 3*18	0.66 (0.46, 0.96)	0.67 (0.46, 0.97)	0.67 (0.46, 0.97)
Grade (ref: 9)			
10		2.51 (1.97, 3.22)	2.53 (1.97, 3.22)
11		4.06 (3.00, 5.42)	4.06 (3.03, 5.42)
12		4.76 (3.29, 6.82)	4.76 (3.29, 6.82)
Sex (ref: female)			
Male		2.05 (1.73, 2.44)	2.05 (1.73, 2.41)

Table 3.3.4. Association between public health engagement¹ in 2016/17, by method of engagement, and adolescent monthly cigarette use, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.3.4. Continued.

		Past-month cigarette use	
Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Race (ref: White)			
Black		0.81 (0.48, 1.38)	0.84 (0.50, 1.45)
Asian		0.32 (0.20, 0.50)	0.33 (0.21, 0.52)
Latinx		0.68 (0.36, 1.30)	0.69 (0.36, 1.31)
Other		1.60 (1.27, 1.99)	1.62 (1.28, 2.01)
Spending Money (ref: \$0)			
\$1-\$20		2.18 (1.67, 2.83)	2.18 (1.67, 2.86)
\$21-\$100		4.44 (3.39, 5.87)	4.44 (3.35, 5.81)
\$100+		5.31 (3.90, 7.17)	5.21 (3.86, 7.10)
Do not know		1.79 (1.30, 2.48)	1.77 (1.28, 2.46)
Connectedness		0.77 (0.75, 0.79)	0.77 (0.75, 0.79)
Median after tax household			
income (ref: 1 st quartile)			
2 nd quartile			1.52 (0.79, 2.92)
3 rd quartile			1.21 (0.60, 2.41)
4 th quartile			0.35 (0.15, 0.86)
Rural (ref: Urban)			
Rural			1.16 (0.58, 2.34)
School Size (ref: Small)			
Medium			0.52 (0.29, 0.95)
Large			0.30 (0.13, 0.67)
Province			
Alberta			4.01 (1.45, 11.13)
British Columbia			0.78 (0.24, 2.56)
¹ Public health engagement is defined providing information/resources/pro- activities jointly. Method 3 is defined Note: Bold indicates statistical signi	I based on method of engagemen gram. Method 2 is defined as sol I as independently running a pro ficance at $p \le 0.05$	nt by the local public health unit. ving problems jointly or develop gram at schools to address substa	Method 1 is defined as ing/implementing program ance use.

		Past-month e-cigarette use	
Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Constant	0.01 (0.01, 0.02)	0.01 (0.01, 0.02)	0.02 (0.01, 0.03)
Engagement (ref: None)			
Method 1	0.75 (0.47, 1.19)	0.71 (0.46, 1.10)	0.81 (0.53, 1.24)
Method 2	0.35 (0.17, 0.70)	0.35 (0.18, 0.67)	0.38 (0.20, 0.72)
Method 3	0.88 (0.55, 1.39)	0.90 (0.58, 1.39)	0.98 (0.64, 1.49)
Time (ref: 2016)			
2017	6.69 (5.67, 7.90)	5.32 (4.43, 6.38)	5.32 (4.43, 6.38)
2018	22.30 (18.21, 27.31)	16.69 (13.12, 21.23)	16.68 (13.11, 21.23)
Engagement*year			
Method 1*17	0.74 (0.58, 0.93)	0.74 (0.58, 0.94)	0.74 (0.59, 0.94)
Method 1*18	1.17 (0.88, 1.55)	1.19 (0.90, 1.58)	1.19 (0.90, 1.57)
Method 2*17	2.59 (1.76, 3.82)	2.54 (1.73, 3.73)	2.54 (1.73, 3.72)
Method 2*18	2.63 (1.71, 4.04)	2.59 (1.69, 3.97)	2.58 (1.69, 3.96)
Method 3*17	1.04 (0.83, 1.30)	1.04 (0.83, 1.30)	1.04 (0.83, 1.30)
Method 3*18	0.93 (0.72, 1.20)	0.93 (0.72, 1.21)	0.93 (0.72, 1.21)
Grade (ref: 9)			· · · · ·
10		1.50 (1.26, 1.79)	1.50 (1.26, 1.79)
11		1.83 (1.48, 2.26)	1.83 (1.48, 2.26)
12		1.84 (1.42, 2.38)	1.84 (1.42, 2.38)
Sex (ref: female)			
Male		2.77 (2.46, 3.11)	2.77 (2.46, 3.11)

Table 3.3.5. Association between public health engagement¹ in 2016/17, by method of engagement, and adolescent monthly e-cigarette use, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table 3.3.5. Continued.

	Past-month e-cigarette use		
Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Race (ref: White)			
Black		0.64 (0.45, 0.91)	0.65 (0.46, 0.92)
Asian		0.26 (0.20, 0.34)	0.26 (0.19, 0.34)
Latinx		1.02 (0.70, 1.48)	1.01 (0.70, 1.48)
Other		1.00 (0.85, 1.17)	1.00 (0.85, 1.17)
Spending Money (ref: \$0)			. ,
\$1-\$20		2.50 (2.10, 2.98)	2.51 (2.10, 2.99)
\$21-\$100		5.23 (4.34, 6.31)	5.23 (4.34, 6.31)
\$100+		8.27 (6.63, 10.30)	8.24 (6.61, 10.27)
Do not know		2.24 (1.81, 2.77)	2.24 (1.81, 2.77)
Connectedness		0.91 (0.90, 0.93)	0.91 (0.90, 0.93)
Median after tax			
household income (ref: 1 st			
quartile)			
2 nd quartile			0.81 (0.54, 1.23)
3 rd quartile			0.90 (0.57, 1.40)
4 th quartile			0.49 (0.28, 0.85)
Rural (ref: Urban)			
Rural			0.74 (0.47, 1.17)
School Size (ref: Small)			
Medium			0.98 (0.66, 1.43)
Large			0.83 (0.50, 1.36)
Province			. ,
Alberta			2.90 (1.51, 5.58)
British Columbia			1.84 (0.88, 3.86)

¹ Public health engagement is defined based on method of engagement by the local public health unit. Method 1 is defined as providing information/resources/program. Method 2 is defined as solving problems jointly or developing/implementing program activities jointly. Method 3 is defined as independently running a program at schools to address substance use. Note: **Bold** indicates statistical significance at $p \le 0.05$



Figure 3.3. Predicted probability of adolescent alcohol use, binge drinking, cannabis use, cigarette use, and e-cigarette use (A-E respectively) by public health unit engagement in COMPASS secondary schools from 2016/17 to 2018/2019. PHU engagement was categorized by four methods of engagement. Method 1 is defined as providing information/resources/program. Method 2 is defined as solving problems jointly or developing/implementing program activities jointly. Method 3 is defined as independently running a program at schools to address substance use.

3.4 Discussion

This study investigated the association between PHU engagement in schools and adolescent substance use over time. Overall, no significant association was observed between PHU engagement and substance use at baseline nor over time.

The first objective of this study was to understand the impact of baseline PHU engagement on substance use over a three-year period. No significant association was found between PHU engagement at baseline and substance use over time when comparing those who were exposed to PHU engagement at baseline with those who were not exposed. These findings were consistent with Burnett et al. (2022), though Burnett et al. conducted a cross-sectional analysis. Although Burnett et al. (2022) found no association between PHU engagement and substance use overall, they did find noteworthy associations after stratifying schools by lowerthan-average substance use versus higher-than-average use.²⁹ In high-use schools, there were some protective associations found against cannabis and cigarette use, lending support for taking a targeted approach. Conversely, in low-use schools, some methods of PHU-engagement were associated with a higher odds of alcohol use and cannabis use. If the association between PHU engagement and substance use in low-use schools is truly the opposite of the associations in high-use schools, this may partly explain the null findings of the present study, where there was no stratification by school prevalence of substance use.

The second objective of this study was to investigate whether different methods of engagement were differently associated with substance use over time. Some associations were observed, depending on substance type. Longitudinally, PHU leadership in running cigarette/e-cigarette use prevention programs was associated with a smaller rise in cigarette use as compared to the absence of any PHU engagement. Though it was not statistically significant, a similar relationship was observed between PHU leadership in running programs to prevent alcohol/cannabis use, and adolescent self-reported cannabis use. Additionally, joint problem solving or program implementation by PHUs and schools was associated with lower odds of cannabis and e-cigarette use at baseline but a larger increase in use over time. These findings are not consistent with Burnett et al. (2022).²⁹ Burnett et al. (2022) found that PHU engagement in solving problems jointly was associated with higher odds of alcohol and cannabis use, and they found no association between any method of PHU engagement and cigarette or e-cigarette use. The latter finding by Burnett et al. (2022) is also consistent with Vermeer et al. (2021).²⁶ The

results of this analysis provide evidence that the association between PHU engagement and adolescent substance use depends on the method of engagement chosen and the substance type. When designing collaborative interventions, PHUs and schools may consider which methods have been useful previously and which ones best address school needs.

The null findings of this study are contrary to the protective associations that would be hypothesized. There are many possible explanations for these findings. As illustrated by the socio-ecological and life course models of adolescent health, adolescent substance use is a complex issue and prevention efforts need to consider the context and needs of their target population. While in the case of social drinking, it may be useful to target sports teams and help adolescents build skills in resisting social influence, such a behavioural approach may be ineffective for adolescents engaging in isolated drinking or binge drinking as a means of coping with adverse life events.^{15,42–45} Trying cannabis once in the past month, perhaps motivated by peer use, has very different risk factors from daily or solitary cannabis use that may result from a serious underlying issue such as poor mental health or family dysfunction.^{15,42} In this study, the binary outcome of past-month substance use can include anything from a single, low-dose use of a given substance to daily, high-dose use. It is unclear whether the impact of PHU engagement would differ by the severity of an individual's substance use. Additionally, the binary outcomes used here do not account for the possibility of using more than one substance simultaneously.¹⁷ This is noteworthy because of the differing risk factors associated with poly-substance use, and therefore the interventions that may be needed from schools and PHUs.^{15,17} The findings in this study may be different from previous literature that used data from different years of the COMPASS study, as PHU activities may differ from year to year, due to changes in staff, resources, or protocols. There may also be non-differential misclassification due to variation in PHU activities across schools or jurisdictions, as each PHU operates independently from others.

Of note, this investigation assumes that the resources provided, and programs implemented at schools in this study sample, are in fact effective at preventing or reducing problematic substance use. There has been a vast amount of research over the past 30 years on school-level substance use prevention programs, with evidence varying in quality.^{22,44} According to this research, many factors influence the effectiveness of school-based interventions in preventing or reducing substance misuse, including the program content (e.g. lessons in abstinence versus lessons on social influence and norms), the professionals who lead the programs (e.g. school staff versus PHU staff), and the modes of program delivery (e.g. didactic

versus interactive).^{43,46} Program types that were associated with positive outcomes more often, though effect size may have been small, were those that helped build personal and social skills (e.g. resilience, self-awareness, self-regulation, empathy, coping with stress), cleared misconceptions around substance use, and aimed to reduce harm rather than creating fear.^{23,43,47,48} Delivery styles associated with positive health outcomes, assuming that execution was effective and in line with available evidence, were interactive and participatory.^{43,46,49} In fact, involving students in every stage of the process, from intervention design and goal setting to delivery, was found to be particularly effective.⁴⁹ There is mixed evidence on effectiveness when evaluating program delivery by external specialists compared to delivery by teaching staff. One suggests that there is greater impact when delivery is by external specialists, while another finds that program delivery by teachers is more effective when teachers are involved in delivery compared to when they are not involved.^{47,49} While external specialists such as PHU staff may have greater knowledge and experience in health promotion, teachers are more likely to have a stronger connection and familiarity with their students, along with greater trust built with parents. It was beyond the scope of this study to assess the quality of PHU engagement or the extent to which PHU activities were evidence-informed. It is possible that the null findings in this analysis are a result of some but not all schools and PHUs implementing evidence-informed substance use prevention programs.

3.5 Limitations

A limitation of this study is misclassification due to the broad definition of exposure categories. Although four different types of substances were studied, the study questionnaire inquiring about PHU engagement grouped them into two: PHU engagement to address alcohol OR cannabis use and PHU engagement to address cigarette OR e-cigarette use. Similarly, this study grouped together two methods of engagement: joint problem solving and joint development/implementation of programs. Although this was done to maintain statistical power by minimizing the number of exposure categories, it resulted in a lack of clarity on whether it was problem solving or program implementation, or both, that was associated with substance use. If these two methods had opposing effects on substance use, the resulting association would be biased toward the null.

Another limitation of this work is potential misclassification bias due to the assumption that PHU engagement overall, or by category, looks the same in each school. In other words, it is

111

assumed that all who have the exposure, have the same exposure. Realistically, the way that PHUs collaborate with schools may vary from the resources they choose to provide and the experience level of PHU staff, to the programs they run. Consequently, the association between exposure and outcome in this study would have been influenced by factors like the type, quality and relevance of PHU engagement - which remains unaccounted for. A poorly designed intervention may increase substance use or diminish any protective impact PHU engagement could otherwise have. This is likely to result in an association that is biased toward the null. Furthermore, the analyses presented here do not consider the time varying nature of PHU engagement. Some schools discontinued collaboration with their local PHU after 2016/17, while others had PHU engagement consistently over the three-year study period. The results shown here do not account for the impact of discontinued or consistent PHU engagement.

Selection bias is likely to have occurred in this study in the form of attrition of students over time. Students may have been lost to follow up due to absence, graduation, changing schools, or their school choosing to withdraw from COMPASS participation.⁵⁰ Additionally, there is likely to be missingness related to the study outcome. Those students who use substances often may be more likely to be absent from school, and thus to be absent from school-based surveys.^{30,51} One strength of this study that served to reduce selection bias was the active information-passive consent protocol used to recruit students without depending on students to return signed consent forms.

The study results may have been affected by residual confounding due to factors that were unaccounted for in the final regression models. One such factor may be PHU engagement in areas apart from, but related to substance use prevention, such as bullying prevention or addressing mental health. The presence of PHU-run substance use prevention or harm reduction programs in the community but outside of schools may have impacted the study results if these programs also target youth ages 15-19.

Finally, the data for this study were taken from a convenience sample of schools, not necessarily representative of all Canadian secondary schools, resulting in limited external validity. Moreover, those schools that do not participate in the COMPASS study may be different from those that do. It is possible that schools with staff or funding shortages may choose not to participate in COMPASS research due to limited time and capacity.⁵⁰

3.6 Conclusion

This study found no consistent or significant association between PHU engagement in schoolbased substance use prevention and trends in adolescent alcohol, cannabis, cigarette, or ecigarette use. However, some significant associations were observed when PHU engagement was analyzed by method of engagement rather than as a binary presence/absence measure. It may be valuable in the future to conduct another longitudinal analysis studying PHU engagement by method of engagement, but with stratification of schools by low versus high substance use, similar to the cross-sectional study by Burnett et al. (2022).²⁹ Additionally, future research could control for ethnic concentration at the area level, using the Canadian Marginalization Index. Given that both VanderWaal et al. (2006) and McBride et al. (2008) found racial composition to be associated with PHU engagement in schools in the United States, it may be an important confounding variable, or even effect modifier of the association, in a Canadian context as well. It is also recommended that process evaluations be conducted to understand whether or not collaboration is meeting the needs of students, and where gaps may exist, to ensure that the time and resources of PHUs and schools are being optimally utilized to protect and promote adolescent health. Finally, a non-significant difference between schools with and without PHU engagement, namely that a higher proportion of those without PHU engagement are in a rural area or of small enrolment size, is an indicator of potential inequity in PHU engagement. It is recommended that PHUs aim for greater investment of time or resources in schools in a rural area and/or of smaller enrolment size, as they may already have limited resources available for substance use prevention efforts than schools in an urban area or of larger enrolment size.

References

 Health Canada. Canadian Alcohol and Drugs Survey (CADS): summary of results for 2019. Published online December 20, 2021. Accessed April 19, 2023. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-alcohol-drugs-survey/2019summary.html#a4

2. Health Canada. Canadian Tobacco and Nicotine Survey (CTNS): summary of results for 2019. Published online July 7, 2020. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-tobacco-nicotine-survey/2019-summary.html

3. Health Canada. Canadian Tobacco Alcohol and Drugs (CTADS): 2013 summary. Published online February 3, 2015. Accessed April 19, 2023. https://www.canada.ca/en/healthcanada/services/canadian-alcohol-drugs-survey/2013-summary.html

4. Squeglia LM, Jacobus J, Tapert SF. The Influence of Substance Use on Adolescent Brain Development. *Clin EEG Neurosci*. 2009;40(1):31-38. doi:10.1177/155005940904000110

5. Viner RM, Ross D, Hardy R, et al. Life course epidemiology: recognising the importance of adolescence. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2015;69(8):719-720. doi:10.1136/jech-2014-205300

 Hser YI, Longshore D, Anglin MD. The Life Course Perspective on Drug Use: A Conceptual Framework for Understanding Drug Use Trajectories. *Eval Rev.* 2007;31(6):515-547. doi:10.1177/0193841X07307316

Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse. Substance Abuse in Canada: Youth in Focus.
 Published online 2007. https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2019-04/ccsa-011521-2007-e.pdf

 Boden JM, Fergusson DM. The Short- and Long-Term Consequences of Adolescent Alcohol Use. In: Saunders JB, Rey JM, eds. *Young People and Alcohol*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2014:32-44. doi:10.1002/9781118785089.ch3

9. Ritchwood TD, Ford H, DeCoster J, Sutton M, Lochman JE. Risky sexual behavior and substance use among adolescents: A meta-analysis. *Child Youth Serv Rev.* 2015;52:74-88. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2015.03.005

 Li K, Simons-Morton BG, Hingson R. Impaired-Driving Prevalence Among US High School Students: Associations With Substance Use and Risky Driving Behaviors. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301296. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301296 11. Schulte MT, Hser YI. Substance Use and Associated Health Conditions throughout the Lifespan. *Public Health Rev.* 2013;35(2):3. doi:10.1007/BF03391702

12. Squeglia LM, Jacobus J, Tapert SF. The effect of alcohol use on human adolescent brain structures and systems. In: *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*. Vol 125. Elsevier; 2014:501-510. doi:10.1016/B978-0-444-62619-6.00028-8

 Camchong J, Lim KO, Kumra S. Adverse Effects of Cannabis on Adolescent Brain Development: A Longitudinal Study. *Cereb Cortex*. 2017;27(3):1922-1930. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhw015

14. Dwyer JB, McQuown SC, Leslie FM. The dynamic effects of nicotine on the developing brain. *Pharmacol Ther*. 2009;122(2):125-139. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2009.02.003

 Mason WA, Stevens AL, Fleming CB. A systematic review of research on adolescent solitary alcohol and marijuana use in the United States. *Addict Abingdon Engl.* 2019;115(1):19-31. doi:10.1111/add.14697

16. Patrick ME, Schulenberg JE. Prevalence and Predictors of Adolescent Alcohol Use and Binge Drinking in the United States. *Alcohol Res Curr Rev.* 2014;35(2):193-200.

Zuckermann AME, Williams GC, Battista K, Jiang Y, de Groh M, Leatherdale ST.
 Prevalence and correlates of youth poly-substance use in the COMPASS study. *Addict Behav*.
 2020;107:106400. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106400

 Williams GC, Burns KE, Battista K, de Groh M, Jiang Y, Leatherdale ST. High School Intramural Participation and Substance Use: A Longitudinal Analysis of COMPASS Data. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2021;56(8):1108-1118. doi:10.1080/10826084.2021.1901932

 Weatherson KA, O'Neill M, Lau EY, Qian W, Leatherdale ST, Faulkner GEJ. The Protective Effects of School Connectedness on Substance Use and Physical Activity. *J Adolesc Health*. 2018;63(6):724-731. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2018.07.002

20. Harvey A, Faulkner G, Giangregorio L, Leatherdale ST. An examination of school- and student-level characteristics associated with the likelihood of students' meeting the Canadian physical activity guidelines in the COMPASS study. *Can J Public Health*. 2017;108(4):348-354. doi:10.17269/CJPH.108.5925

21. Fenno JG. Prince Albert youth drug and alcohol use: a comparison study of Prince Albert,
Saskatchewan, and Canada youth. *J Community Saf Well-Being*. 2016;1(3):61.
doi:10.35502/jcswb.18

22. Agabio R, Trincas G, Floris F, Mura G, Sancassiani F, Angermeyer MC. A Systematic Review of School-Based Alcohol and other Drug Prevention Programs. *Clin Pract Epidemiol Ment Health CP EMH*. 2015;11(Suppl 1 M6):102-112. doi:10.2174/1745017901511010102

23. Hodder RK, Freund M, Wolfenden L, et al. Systematic review of universal school-based 'resilience' interventions targeting adolescent tobacco, alcohol or illicit substance use: A metaanalysis. *Prev Med.* 2017;100:248-268. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.04.003

24. Cottrell L, Northrup K, Wittberg R. Challenges and Lessons Learned From a Prevention Research Center Partnership. *Am J Prev Med.* 2017;52(3):S255-S257.

doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2016.08.016

25. McBride DC, Terry-McElrath YM, VanderWaal CJ, Chriqui JF, Myllyluoma J. US Public Health Agency involvement in youth-focused illicit drug policy, planning, and prevention at the local level, 1999-2003. *Am J Public Health*. 2008;98(2):270-277.

doi:10.2105/AJPH.2007.112524

26. Vermeer J, Battista K, Leatherdale ST. Examining Engagement With Public Health in the Implementation of School-Based Health Initiatives: Findings From the COMPASS Study. *J Sch Health*. 2021;91(10):825-835. doi:10.1111/josh.13072

27. Bejster M, Cygan H, Stock J, Ashworth J. A School Wellness Partnership to Address Childhood Obesity. *Prog Community Health Partnersh Res Educ Action*. 2022;16(1):85-91. doi:10.1353/cpr.2022.0008

28. Kunz DJ, Manno MS, Ruffatti DM, et al. Collaboration Between a School Nurse Task Force and the Local Health Department in Illinois: Development of a COVID-19 Toolkit. *NASN Sch Nurse*. 2022;37(1):36-40. doi:10.1177/1942602X211015298

29. Burnett T, Battista K, Butt M, Sherifali D, Leatherdale ST, Dobbins M. The association between public health engagement in school-based substance use prevention programs and student alcohol, cannabis, e-cigarette and cigarette use. *Can J Public Health*. Published online July 21, 2022:1-10. doi:10.17269/s41997-022-00655-3

30. Leatherdale ST, Brown KS, Carson V, et al. The COMPASS study: a longitudinal hierarchical research platform for evaluating natural experiments related to changes in school-level programs, policies and built environment resources. *BMC Public Health*. 2014;14(1):331. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-331

31. Bredin C, Leatherdale ST. *Development of the COMPASS Student Questionnaire*. University of Waterloo; 2014. Accessed July 10, 2023. https://uwaterloo.ca/compasssystem/publications/development-compass-student-questionnaire

32. Thompson-Haile A, Bredin C, Leatherdale ST. *Rationale for Using Active-Information Passive-Consent Permission Protocol in COMPASS*. University of Waterloo; 2013. Accessed July 10, 2023. https://uwaterloo.ca/compass-system/publications/rationale-using-active-information-passive-consent

 Joint Consortium for School Health. Healthy School Planner. Published online 2014. http://healthyschoolplanner.com/

34. Butler A, Romano I, Patte K, et al. Psychological correlates and binge drinking behaviours among Canadian youth: a cross-sectional analysis of the mental health pilot data from the COMPASS study. *BMJ Open*. 2019;9(6):e028558. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-028558

35. Health Canada. Canadian Tobacco, Alcohol and Drugs (CTADS) Survey: 2017 detailed tables. Published October 30, 2018. Accessed January 27, 2022.

https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-alcohol-drugs-survey/2017summary/2017-detailed-tables.html

36. Wong SL, Shields M, Leatherdale S, Malaison E, Hammond D. Assessment of validity of self-reported smoking status. *Health Rep.* 2012;23(1):47-53.

37. Williams GC, Burns KE, Battista K, de Groh M, Jiang Y, Leatherdale ST. High school sport participation and substance use: A cross-sectional analysis of students from the COMPASS study. *Addict Behav Rep.* 2020;12:100298. doi:10.1016/j.abrep.2020.100298

38. Flannery DJ, Vazsonyi AT, Torquati J, Fridrich A. Ethnic and gender differences in risk for early adolescent substance use. *J Youth Adolesc*. 1994;23(2):195-213. doi:10.1007/BF01537445

39. Johnson JL, Greaves L, Repta R. Better science with sex and gender: Facilitating the use of a sex and gender-based analysis in health research. *Int J Equity Health*. 2009;8(1):14. doi:10.1186/1475-9276-8-14

40. Furlong MJ, O'brennan LM, You S. Psychometric properties of the Add Health School Connectedness Scale for 18 sociocultural groups. *Psychol Sch*. 2011;48(10):986-997. doi:10.1002/pits.20609 41. McNeely CA, Nonnemaker JM, Blum RW. Promoting School Connectedness: Evidence from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. *J Sch Health*. 2002;72(4):138-146. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.2002.tb06533.x

42. Su J, Supple AJ, Kuo SIC. The Role of Individual and Contextual Factors in
Differentiating Substance Use Profiles among Adolescents. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2018;53(5):734743. doi:10.1080/10826084.2017.1363237

43. Griffin KW, Botvin GJ. Evidence-Based Interventions for Preventing Substance Use Disorders in Adolescents. *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am*. 2010;19(3):505-526. doi:10.1016/j.chc.2010.03.005

44. Thomas RE, McLellan J, Perera R. Effectiveness of school-based smoking prevention curricula: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open*. 2015;5(3):e006976. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006976

45. Hughes K, Bellis MA, Hardcastle KA, et al. The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Public Health*.
2017;2(8):e356-e366. doi:10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30118-4

46. Ennett ST, Ringwalt CL, Thorne J, et al. A Comparison of Current Practice in School-Based Substance Use Prevention Programs with Meta-Analysis Findings. *Prev Sci.* Published online 2002:14.

47. Lee NK, Cameron J, Battams S, Roche A. What works in school-based alcohol education: A systematic review. *Health Educ J*. 2016;75(7):780-798. doi:10.1177/0017896915612227

48. Faggiano F, Minozzi S, Versino E, Buscemi D. Universal school-based prevention for illicit drug use. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2014;2014(12):CD003020. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003020.pub3

49. Cairns G, Purves R, McKell J. Combining school and family alcohol education: a systematic review of the evidence. *Health Educ*. 2014;114(6):451-472. doi:10.1108/HE-12-2013-0066

50. Reel B, Bredin C, Leatherdale ST. *Compass Year 5 and 6 School Recruitment and Retention*. University of Waterloo; 2018. https://uwaterloo.ca/compass-system/publications/compass-year-5-and-6-school-recruitment-and-retention

51. Gakh M, Coughenour C, Assoumou BO, Vanderstelt M. The Relationship between School Absenteeism and Substance Use: An Integrative Literature Review. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2020;55(3):491-502. doi:10.1080/10826084.2019.1686021

CHAPTER 4: PUBLIC HEALTH UNIT PER CAPITA SPENDING AND ADOLESCENT SUBSTANCE USE

4.1 Introduction

In 2019, the prevalence of alcohol and cannabis use in the past year was 46% and 19% respectively among Canadian youth aged 15-19, as reported by the Canadian Alcohol and Drugs Survey.¹ The past-month prevalence of cigarette or electronic cigarette (e-cigarette) use was 5% and 15% respectively, as reported by the Canadian Tobacco and Nicotine survey². Similar patterns of adolescent substance use have been observed in the province of Ontario, Canada. According to the Ontario Student Drug Use and Health Survey, the percentage of youth in grade 9-12 reporting past year use of alcohol, cannabis, cigarette and e-cigarettes in 2019 was 51%, 28%, 7%, and 28% respectively.³ E-cigarette use more than doubled in only two years among students in grades 7-12, from 10.7% in 2017 to 22.7% in 2019.

The social determinants of health framework (SDOH) is a useful model to use in addressing adolescent substance use.⁴ The SDOH framework describes the conditions in which people live, grow, work and age, as well as the structures and systems that shape these conditions.⁴ The social determinants include individual, interpersonal, and area level factors as well as the political environment and socioeconomic policies. At the individual and interpersonal levels, personal attitudes and beliefs about substance use, and the attitudes and beliefs of peers and parents, may be predictive of adolescents' use of alcohol, cannabis, cigarettes, or ecigarettes.^{5–7} While a cautious attitude about the social and health consequences of substance use may be protective for some adolescents, a sensation seeking attitude or expectation of a positive experience may increase the likelihood of substance use initiation for other adolescents. Feeling connected with family and school is protective, as is having positive parental support, however having peers or family members who use substances is a risk factor for use.^{5,7–10} Among secondary school students, boys, older students, and students with higher weekly spending money have a higher likelihood of substance use.^{5,11} Some studies find that non-White race is associated with a lower likelihood of substance use in some age groups.^{5,11,12} However, adolescent substance use behaviour is complex. Both protective and risk factors have differing associations with different types of substances and in different contexts of use. For example, Mason et al. (2019) identified distinct risk factors for solitary alcohol/cannabis use as compared to social use.⁶ While conformity and expectations of a positive group experience are two risk

factors for social drinking and cannabis use, poor mental health or familial dysfunction are risk factors for solitary, higher-risk use of alcohol or cannabis.⁶

In addition to individual-level and interpersonal risk factors, characteristics of the neighbourhood in which individuals live may also be predictors of substance use. For example, material deprivation, as reflected by low median household income, high unemployment rates, poor housing or a lack of social services have been found in some studies to be risk factors for cigarette and cannabis use.^{13–15} However, other studies have found no association between area level deprivation and substance use.^{13,16–18} Some studies have found residential mobility to be a risk factor for cigarette use but not alcohol use¹⁸ while others have found it to be protective.¹⁷ Some researchers have found that higher immigrant concentration was associated with reduced alcohol use, but there was no association found between immigrant concentration and other types of substance use.^{14,17,19}

Less attention has been given to socioeconomic environments and policies when studying adolescent substance use. Yet, these structural factors may be important in shaping adolescent health directly, or through their impact on individual, interpersonal or area level factors downstream.²⁰ One such socioeconomic factor that may have an impact on adolescent health outcomes is public health spending. Public health spending is an indicator for investment in public health programs and services.^{21,22} McLaughlin and Rank (2018) found that increased federal funding to state health departments was associated with lower infant, neonatal, and postneonatal mortality rates.²³ At the level of local public health spending, Bernet and colleagues (2018) studied the impact of total public health unit (PHU) spending as well as program-specific spending on infant mortality. They found that total spending was not associated with infant mortality rates, however a 10% increase in infant-related program spending was associated with a 2% decline in infant mortality rates.²⁴ Conversely, Bekemeier and colleagues (2017) studied program-specific spending on immunizations among toddlers and found no association between spending and immunization coverage.²⁵ Liu and colleagues studied the impact of public health program spending for children's health on childhood obesity rates and physical activity.²⁶ They found limited impact of spending on childhood obesity rates. In comparison with the lowest tercile of spending on physical activity, the medium tercile of spending was associated with higher obesity among 4 to 5 year olds. Otherwise, no other level or type of spending was found to be associated with childhood obesity. Another study conducted in England by Paton and Wright (2017) looked at teenage pregnancy. They found that a reduction in local health authority

spending on teenage pregnancy-related services was associated with a lower conception rate, abortion rate, and birth rate among teens.²⁷ Thus, the findings in the literature are mixed. It appears that the association between spending and child and adolescent health may vary by health outcome of interest, region, age group and/or the type of spending (i.e., program-specific vs total spending).

Some studies have also found a role for PHU spending in reducing health disparities. Bekemeier et al. (2014) found that higher PHU spending was associated with a lower rate of babies born with low birth weight, but only in PHU jurisdictions with the highest under-18 poverty rates.²⁸ Similarly, higher PHU spending was associated with a lower infant mortality rate in PHU jurisdictions with the highest poverty rate. Bernet et al. (2018 and 2020) found PHU spending to have a role in reducing health disparities by race.^{24,29} In one study, a 10% increase in PHU spending on infant-related programs was associated with a 2% decrease in infant mortality rates overall, but a 4% decrease among Black infants specifically. In another study, Bernet and colleagues found that a 10% increase in pregnancy-related PHU spending was associated with a 3.9% reduction in maternal mortality overall, but a 13.5% reduction among Black mothers. These findings suggest that, not only does investment in public health have the potential to improve population health outcomes, but also to bring greater health equity in areas of disparities due to poverty or race.

Research on public health spending and population health has mostly taken place in the United States or Europe. To the best of our knowledge, there are no studies in this area in a Canadian context. The research has largely been in the form of ecological studies, looking at area-level spending and area-level health outcomes. There is limited literature on area-level spending and individual-level health outcomes. Additionally, there have been no studies investigating the association between public health spending and adolescent substance use. However, similar questions have been investigated. A study in the adult population by Friebel and colleagues (2021) found that cuts to government funding for local health authorities in the UK were associated with increased opioid use.³⁰ Conversely, a £1,000,000 increase in social spending was associated with a decline in opioid-related deaths by 0.017 per 100,000 and opioid-related hospital admissions by 0.4 per 100,000 population. This funding was directed toward social services: social care, housing and planning and development. A similar study in the US that investigated adolescent smoking found that increased state-level funding allocated toward tobacco control was associated with a lower prevalence of adolescent smoking and a lower

quantity of cigarettes smoked daily.³¹ In the context of alcohol use, Nilsson et al. (2017) reported that government funding for alcohol prevention programs was associated with more prevention policies and indicators of less frequent alcohol-related harm.³²

To address gaps in the literature, this study focuses on the association between local public health spending and adolescent past-month use of alcohol, cannabis, cigarettes, or e-cigarettes. Additionally, this study will investigate whether public health spending has a role in reducing health inequities by testing for differences in the spending-substance use association by ethnic composition or material deprivation.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Data Source

For this cross-sectional study, data were obtained from the 2018/19 wave of the Cannabis, Obesity, Mental health, Physical activity, Alcohol use, Smoking, and Sedentary behavior (COMPASS) study. The COMPASS study is an ongoing prospective cohort study, aimed at improving adolescent health in multiple domains, including substance use prevention.³³ The COMPASS study collects data from a convenience sample of secondary schools and students in grades 9-12 in Canada. COMPASS data includes a paper-based, student questionnaire (Cq) of demographic information and health indicators that takes approximately 30 minutes to complete. Parents are informed about the details through a letter, voicemail or bulletin page from their child's school, and consent is obtained passively unless parents inform COMPASS study and data collection processes can be found online (https://uwaterloo.ca/compass-system/) or in print.³³

Because exposure information was limited to Ontario, only the Ontario-based COMPASS 2018/19 sample was used for this study. Any students with missing covariate or outcome measures were excluded. This represented 5% of the full sample of 30,675 student in Ontario. The final analytical sample consisted of 29,056 students in grade 9 to 12, attending 61 schools across 15 of Ontario's PHU jurisdictions. Those students with missing outcome data were more likely to be male compared to female, or identify as Black, Asian or Other compared to White (see Appendix I).

4.2.2 Main Exposure

Public health spending was measured as the per capita expenditure in 2018 by Ontario's local public health units. Expenditure data were collected from audited financial statements of each PHU and accessed from the Ontario Public Health Information Database (OPHID). The per capita spending amount was calculated as the total gross expenditure a given PHU made on public health operations in 2018, divided by the health region population in 2018, as estimated by Public Health Ontario. This includes both programmatic and non-programmatic costs, such as salaries and benefits for PHU staff, program supplies, and administrative costs. PHU spending is distinct from spending on public health by state or national governments or private entities. It is also distinct from funding received by public health units for their operations, from municipalities, provincial or federal grants, fees, or other sources.

4.2.3 Main Outcome

The outcome of interest is substance use in the form of current alcohol use, alcohol binge drinking, cannabis use, cigarette use, and e-cigarette use. "Current use" is defined as using at least once in the last 30 days, or at least once per month on average, in accordance with previous literature on substance use.^{11,34,35} Binge drinking is defined as having 5 or more drinks of alcohol on one occasion.³ These indicators were consistent with national substance use surveillance surveys and other studies on adolescent substance use by COMPASS researchers.^{1,11,34,36,37}

The frequency of alcohol use was evaluated based on students' response to the question, "In the last 12 months, how often did you have a drink of alcohol that was more than just a sip?" Frequency of binge drinking was evaluated based on students' response to the question "In the last 12 months, how often did you have 5 drinks of alcohol or more on one occasion?" Cannabis use was identified from the question "In the last 12 months, how often did you use marijuana or cannabis? (a joint, pot, weed, hash)." Response options for all three questions ranged from "I have never done this" to "Daily or almost daily" or "Every day." Individuals were categorized as being current users if they selected "once a month" or any higher frequency. Frequency of cigarette use was determined by the question, "On how many of the last 30 days did you smoke one or more cigarettes?" Frequency of e-cigarette use is determined by a subsequent question, "On how many of the last 30 days (every day)." Individuals were categorized as being current users if they selected "1 day" or any higher frequency.

4.2.4 Individual Level Covariates

Consistent with other literature by COMPASS researchers, the individual-level characteristics included as covariates in this analysis were sex, grade, race, and spending money. Sex is defined as "female" of "male" and treated as a binary variable. Because adolescent risk behaviours are more likely influenced by gender-based socialization rather than biological differences, any sex differences found will be interpreted as differences due to gender identity.^{36,38,39} Grade is a categorical variable defined as one of grade 9, 10, 11, or 12. Students identified their racial identity as being one of the following: White, Black, Asian, Latinx, or Other. Spending money is a categorical variable defined as the amount of money received in a usual week for a student to spend on themselves or to save, from allowance or paid work. The response categories were "\$0", "\$1 to \$20", "\$21 to \$100", "more than \$100", and "I do not know."

4.2.5 School Level Covariates

School-level characteristics included in this analysis were rurality and school enrolment size. Rurality, a binary variable, was determined using the forward sortation area of each school, whereby a 0 in the second digit identifies an area as rural, and urban otherwise.⁴⁰ School enrolment size was included as a categorical variable of three levels: small (\leq 500), medium (501-1000) and large (>1000) similar to previous research by the COMPASS team.⁴¹

4.2.6 Public Health Unit Level Covariates

At the area level, marginalization scores were included, by PHU jurisdiction, as potential confounders of the association between PHU spending and adolescent substance use. Three marginalization indices used were residential instability, material deprivation, and ethnic concentration. Marginalization scores were obtained from the Ontario Marginalization Index (ON-Marg), made available online by Public Health Ontario.⁴² The ON-Marg is derived from the Canadian Marginalization Index which has been validated for use in health research and has demonstrated associations with health outcomes and behaviours.⁴³ Scores for each index in the ON-Marg are factors constructed using principal component factor analysis from indicators in the Canadian Census.⁴⁴ Specifically, residential instability includes the indicators, (1) proportion of population living alone, (2) proportion of population who are not youth (age 5 to 15), (3) average number of persons per dwelling, (4) proportion of dwellings that are apartment

buildings, (5) proportion of population who are single/divorced/widowed, (6) proportion of dwellings not owned, and (7) proportion of population who moved during the past 5 years. Material deprivation includes the following indicators: (1) proportion of population aged 20+ without a high-school diploma, (2) proportion of families who are lone parent families, (3) proportion of total income from government transfer payments for population aged 15+, (4) proportion of population aged 15+ who are unemployed, (5) proportion of population considered low-income, and (6) proportion of households living in dwellings in need of major repair. Ethnic concentration includes the indicators (1) proportion of population who immigrated in the past five years and (2) proportion of population who self-identify as a visible minority.

The indicators making up the 2016 ON-Marg are constructed from the 2016 Canadian Census. There were 36 PHUs in Ontario in 2016 and this number was reduced to 35 in 2018 as two PHUs, Elgin-St. Thomas Health Unit and Oxford County Health Unit were merged into one. As a result, the 2016 ON-Marg index does not perfectly reflect the PHU-level marginalization scores that would have been calculated in 2018, the year of exposure and outcome data in this analysis. To approximate the marginalization score of what would become a merged PHU in 2018, Southwestern Health Unit, weighted average scores were calculated from scores of Elgin-St. Thomas Health Unit and Oxford County Health Unit individually. This calculation was guided by the 2016 ON-Marg User Guide calculation of marginalization score for higher-order geographical units.⁴⁴ In reference to the Canadian Marginalization Index, scores from the ON-Marg are standardized with a mean of zero and standard deviation of one, where lower scores correspond to lower levels of marginalization, and higher scores correspond to higher levels of marginalization.⁴⁴

The postal code of each school was used to identify the PHU jurisdiction in which the school was located and to link school level data with PHU spending data. Schools and PHUs were de-identified and saved in the final dataset using only a numerical school ID.

4.2.7 Statistical Analysis

The students in this study were nested within schools, which were nested within PHU jurisdictions. Due to this hierarchical structure, three-level multilevel models (MLM) were used to account for shared characteristics among students in the same school and schools in the same PHU jurisdiction. Level 1 represented the student level data, level 2 represented school level data, and level 3 represented PHU level data. Equations for the three levels of this hierarchically

nested data, when e-cigarette use is the outcome of interest, are shown in Appendix H. Multilevel models, as compared to standard multiple regression, prevent underestimation of the standard error of the estimated regression coefficients. MLM allows for random variation between schools and between PHUs such that information is not lost due to aggregation. Specifically, multilevel logistic regression was used in order to obtain the association between PHU spending per capita and the odds of each binary outcome (current substance use or not).

First, a null model was estimated to calculate the 95% plausible value range of each outcome and to calculate the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) at each level (i.e., school and PHU levels). The ICC indicates the percent of variability in outcome that is attributable to school or PHU level factors. Next, individual-, school-, and PHU-level covariates were added to the model to adjust for their effects on adolescent substance use. Finally, interactions were tested between spending and material deprivation, as well as spending and ethnic concentration. A cross-level interaction was also tested between spending and gender as substance use patterns are found in some studies to vary by gender.³⁶ All analyses were completed using STATA version 17.0 (StataCorp. 2021. *Stata Statistical Software: Release 17*. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC.)

4.3 Results

Student, school, and area level characteristics are presented in Tables 4.A and 4.B. 49.6% of students identify as female and 66.7% identify as White. The sample consists of 28.2%, 26.9%, 24.2% and 20.7% of students in grades 9, 10, 11 and 12 respectively. 32.8% of schools have an enrolment of 500 or fewer students, 59% of schools have an enrolment of 501 to 1000 students, and 8.2% of schools have an enrolment of more than 1000 students. The mean area-level marginalization scores are below the national average, suggesting that the sample lives in areas of lower marginalization (in the form of residential instability, material deprivation, and ethnic concentration) than the national average. Higher public health spending was significantly associated with lower ethnic concentration, and non-significantly associated with higher material deprivation.

Of the sample, 30.6% are current alcohol users and 17.7% engaged in binge drinking in the past month. 17.4% of students are current cannabis users, 7.8% are current cigarette users, and 30.5% are current e-cigarette users. The 95% plausible value range for alcohol use across PHUs and schools is 20% to 46% and 21% to 45%, respectively. The 95% plausible value range

for binge drinking alcohol across PHUs and schools is 9% to 32% and 10% to 30%, respectively. The 95% plausible value range for cannabis use across both PHUs and schools is 11% to 25%. The 95% plausible value range for cigarette use across PHUs and schools is 3% to 19% and 4% to 15%, respectively. The 95% plausible value range for e-cigarette use across PHUs and schools is 22% to 40% and 20% to 43%, respectively.

The range in annual per capita spending by PHUs in this sample was \$54.07 to \$224.95, and the median per capita spending amount was \$89.62. The mean per capita spending amount was \$95.96 (SD: \$42.33) indicating a right skewed distribution, likely due to one PHU in the sample spending nearly twice as much per capita amount as the second highest spending PHU, spending \$118.80. There were 22 (36%) schools located in a PHU in the lowest quartile of per capita expenditure (\$54-\$66), 16 (26%) schools located in the second quartile (\$68-\$90), 12 (20%) schools located in the third quartile (\$91-\$115), and 11 (18%) schools located in the highest quartile (\$117-\$225). To test whether there was truly a difference in spending by quartile, on overall chi-square test was conducted. A test statistic of 16.39 and p-value of <0.001 provided evidence for a difference in association between spending and alcohol use, by quartile of spending. A similar test was done for all five study outcomes and a statistically significant result for each test justified the analysis of spending by quartile, for all five outcomes.

Overall, boys, students in higher grades, and students with more weekly spending money all had higher odds of substance use compared to girls, students in lower grades, and students without weekly spending money. School level factors (i.e., school enrolment size and rural/urban location of school) were unrelated to substance use.

When testing for effect modification by material deprivation, there were no significant interactions found. There was a significant interaction between PHU spending and ethnic concentration when investigating the association with alcohol use and alcohol binge drinking. However, not only were the 95% confidence intervals of each interaction term relatively large, the confidence intervals for the main effects of PHU spending categories were much larger than those seen in the fully adjusted models for alcohol use or binge drinking, prior to testing interaction. Thus, the odds ratio estimates were unreliable and effect modification by ethnic concentration was concluded not to be meaningful. Additionally, there was a significant cross-level interaction between PHU spending and gender only for alcohol and alcohol binge drinking. The results of all five analyses are described in detail below, by substance type.

Individual Characteristics	n	%
Gender		
Female	14,401	49.6
Male	14,655	50.4
Race		
White	19,373	66.7
Black	1,832	6.3
Asian	2,548	8.8
Latinx	1,395	4.8
Other	3,908	13.4
Grade		
9	8,196	28.2
10	7,812	26.9
11	7,041	24.2
12	6,007	20.7
Weekly Spending Money		
\$0	5.212	17.9
\$1-\$20	7.039	24.2
\$21-\$100	6,753	23.2
\$100+	6,142	21.1
Do not know	3,910	13.5
School oprolmont		
< 500	4 798	16.5
501 - 1000	19.838	68.3
>1000	4.420	15.2
	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	20 (
Current alcohol user	8,900	30.6
Current binge drinker	5,146	17.7
Current cannabis user	5,045	17.4
Current cigarette user	2,266	7.8
Current e-cigarette user	8,854	30.5

 Table 4.1. Sociodemographic characteristics of Ontario students (n=29,056) in the 2018/19 wave of the COMPASS study.

School Level	n	%
School enrolment		
\leq 500	20	32.8
501 - 1000	36	59.0
>1000	5	8.2
Rurality		
Urban	52	85.2
Rural	9	14.8
Area Characteristics	Mean (SD)	Range
Instability	-0.100 (0.24)	-0.556, 0.294
Deprivation	-0.043 (0.28)	-0.723, 0.378
Ethnic composition	-0.363 (0.50)	-0.858, 0.887

Table 4.2. Characteristics of Ontario schools (n=61) in the 2018/19 wave of the COMPASS study.

Alcohol Use

The variation in alcohol use that is attributed to between-school differences is 5.2% while the variation attributed to PHU level differences is 2.9%. Unadjusted models indicate a higher odds of alcohol use for adolescents in the third (OR: 1.88; 95% CI: 1.34, 2.64) or fourth (OR: 1.79; 95% CI: 1.23, 2.60) quartile of spending, as compared to the lowest quartile (Table 4.3). The association with the fourth quartile remains statistically significant, though the effect size is reduced, after individual and area level factors are accounted for (AOR: 1.41; 95% CI: 1.04, 1.91). When testing for a cross-level interaction between gender and PHU spending, there is a significant interaction between the two variables, with a significant association between the highest quartile of spending and alcohol use. When other factors are kept constant, boys have a slightly higher odds of alcohol use as compared to girls (OR: 1.10; 95% CI: 1.01, 1.20). However, being in the highest quartile of spending offers a protective interaction with male gender compared to female gender. Among girls alone, those attending school in a PHU jurisdiction in the highest quartile of spending have a 41% higher odds of alcohol use than those attending school in a PHU jurisdiction in the lowest quartile of spending (OR: 1.41; 95% CI: 1.04, 1.91) (Figure 4.1). However, among boys, there is no significant association between
attending school in the highest quartile of spending and the odds of alcohol use (OR: 1.18; 95% CI: 0.87, 1.60). With respect to marginalization, adolescents in more deprived areas (OR: 0.46; 95% CI: 0.26, 0.81) as well as adolescents in area of higher ethnic concentration (OR: 0.53; 95% CI: 0.39, 0.72) have lower odds of alcohol use.

Alcohol Binge Drinking

When investigating binge drinking, the variation that is attributable to between-school differences is 7.4% while the variation attributable to between PHU jurisdictions is 4.1%. Similar to alcohol use generally, unadjusted models indicate a higher odd of binge drinking for adolescents in the third (OR: 1.93; 95% CI: 1.28, 2.90) or fourth (OR: 2.29; 95% CI: 1.45, 3.60) quartile of spending, as compared to the lowest quartile (Table 4.4). These associations remain statistically significant, with a smaller effect size, after accounting for individual level characteristics. However, when area level factors are adjusted for as well, there is a statistically significant association only between the highest quartile of spending and binge drinking (AOR: 1.71; 95% CI: 1.18, 2.48). Additionally, when testing for a cross-level interaction between gender and PHU spending, there is a significant, protective interaction between the highest quartile of spending and male gender. Keeping other factors constant, boys have higher odds of binge drinking as compared to girls (OR: 1.31; 95% CI: 1.18, 1.46). However, among girls alone, those attending school in a PHU jurisdiction in the highest quartile of spending have 71% higher odds of binge drinking alcohol compared to those attending school in a PHU jurisdiction in the lowest quartile of spending (OR: 1.71; 95% CI: 1.18, 2.48) (Figure 4.1). On the other hand, among boys, there is no significant association between attending school in the highest quartile of spending and the odds of binge drinking (OR: 1.30; 95% CI: 0.90, 1.89). Similar to alcohol use generally, living in relatively more deprived areas (OR: 0.37; 95% CI: 0.18, 0.76) or areas of higher ethnic concentration (OR: 0.42; 95% CI: 0.28, 0.62) is associated with a lower odds of binge drinking.

Cannabis Use

The variation in cannabis use that is attributable to between-school differences is 3.6% while the variation attributable to PHU characteristics is 1.9%. Unadjusted models indicate higher odds of cannabis use for adolescents in the fourth quartile of spending, as compared to the lowest quartile (OR: 1.69; 95% CI: 1.35, 2.12) (Table 4.5). This association remains statistically

significant after individual characteristics are accounted for. After adding area level factors however, there remains no statistically significant association between the fourth quartile of PHU spending and adolescent cannabis use (OR: 1.07; 95% CI: 0.83, 1.38). Likewise, there is no significant association between any other quartile of PHU spending and adolescent cannabis use. In the fully adjusted model, boys have a significantly higher odds of cannabis use as compared to girls (OR: 1.41; 95% CI: 1.32, 1.50). With respect to marginalization, adolescents in more deprived areas (OR: 1.69; 95% CI: 1.03, 2.77) have higher odds of cannabis use while adolescents in areas of higher ethnic concentration (OR: 0.56; 95% CI: 0.42, 0.73) have lower odds of cannabis use.

Cigarette Use

The variation in cigarette use that is attributable to between-school differences is 9.8% while the variation attributable to PHU characteristics is 6.6%. Unadjusted models indicate higher odds of cigarette use for adolescents in the third (OR: 2.07; 95% CI: 1.28, 3.34) or fourth (OR: 2.95; 95% CI: 1.72, 5.08) quartile of spending, as compared to the lowest quartile (Table 4.6). These associations remain statistically significant when individual level characteristics are accounted for. After adding area level factors however, there is a statistically significant association only between the highest quartile of spending and the odds of cigarette use. These adolescents have twice the odds of cigarette use as compared to adolescents exposed to the lowest quartile of PHU spending (OR: 2.19; 95% CI: 1.23, 3.91). In the fully adjusted model, boys have higher odds of cigarette use as compared to girls (OR: 1.32; 95% CI: 1.21, 1.45). There were no area level factors associated with cigarette use.

E-cigarette Use

The variation in e-cigarette use that is attributable to between-school differences is 3.7% while the variation attributable to between PHU jurisdictions is 1.3%. Unadjusted models indicate higher odds of e-cigarette use for adolescents in the third (OR: 1.36; 95% CI: 1.00, 1.84) or fourth (OR: 1.67; 95% CI: 1.19, 2.34) quartiles of spending, as compared to the lowest quartile (Table 4.7). The association remains statistically significant only for the fourth quartile after individual characteristics are accounted for. However, when area level factors are added to the model, there remains no statistically significant association between the fourth quartile of PHU spending and adolescent e-cigarette use (OR: 0.99; 95% CI: 0.76, 1.30). Rather, in the fully

132

adjusted model, the third quartile of PHU spending is associated with adolescent e-cigarette use such that adolescents in the third quartile of spending have a lower odds of e-cigarette use (OR: 0.74; 95% CI: 0.56, 0.98) as compared to adolescents in the lowest quartile of spending. In the fully adjusted model, boys have significantly higher odds of e-cigarette use as compared to girls (OR: 1.33; 95% CI: 1.27, 1.41). As was seen with alcohol and cannabis use, adolescents in areas of higher ethnic concentration have lower odds of e-cigarette use (OR: 0.51; 95% CI: 0.38, 0.68).

	Past-month alcohol use			
	Model 1 OR (95%	Model 2 OR (95%	Model 3 OR (95%	Model 4 OR (95% CI)
	CI)	CI)	CI)	
Constant	0.33 (0.26, 0.41)	0.10 (0.08, 0.12)	0.10 (0.07, 0.12)	0.09 (0.07, 0.12)
PHU Spending				
Level 2	1.36 (0.96, 1.92)	1.30 (0.94, 1.79)	1.09 (0.86, 1.38)	1.11 (0.87, 1.42)
Level 3	1.88 (1.34, 2.64)	1.72 (1.25, 2.35)	1.06 (0.79, 1.42)	1.02 (0.75, 1.38)
Level 4	1.79 (1.23, 2.60)	1.72 (1.21, 2.44)	1.29 (0.96, 1.72)	1.41 (1.04, 1.91)
Gender (ref: female)				
Male		1.08 (1.02, 1.13)	1.08 (1.02, 1.13)	1.10 (1.01, 1.20)
*2 nd quartile spending				0.97 (0.85, 1.10)
*3 rd quartile spending				1.07 (0.92, 1.25)
*4 th quartile spending				0.84 (0.71, 0.99)
Race (ref: White)				
Black		0.77 (0.68, 0.87)	0.77 (0.68, 0.87)	0.77 (0.68, 0.87)
Asian		0.51 (0.46, 0.57)	0.51 (0.46, 0.58)	0.51 (0.46, 0.58)
Latinx		0.93 (0.82, 1.06)	0.93 (0.82, 1.06)	0.93 (0.82, 1.06)
Other		0.91 (0.84, 0.99)	0.91 (0.84, 0.99)	0.91 (0.84, 0.99)
Grade (ref: 9)				
10		1.75 (1.62, 1.90)	1.76 (1.62, 1.90)	1.76 (1.62, 1.90)
11		2.42 (2.24, 2.62)	2.42 (2.24, 2.62)	2.42 (2.24, 2.63)
12		3.04 (2.80, 3.30)	3.04 (2.80, 3.30)	3.04 (2.80, 3.30)
Personal Spending				
Money (ref: \$0)				
\$1-\$20		1.47 (1.34, 1.62)	1.47 (1.34, 1.62)	1.47 (1.34, 1.62)
\$21-\$100		2.52 (2.30, 2.75)	2.52 (2.30, 2.76)	2.52 (2.30, 2.76)
\$100+		3.34 (3.05, 3.66)	3.34 (3.04, 3.66)	3.34 (3.05, 3.66)
Do not know		1.47 (1.32, 1.63)	1.47 (1.32, 1.64)	1.47 (1.32, 1.63)

Table 4.3. Association between per capita PHU spending and the odds of current alcohol use among grade 9-12 students (n=29,056) in COMPASS schools in Ontario (2018/19).

Table 4.3. Continued.

	Past-month alcohol use				
Variable	Model 1 OR (95% CI)	Model 2 OR (95% CI)	Model 3 OR (95% CI)	Model 4 OR (95% CI)	
Schoolsize (ref: Small)					
Medium			0.92 (0.77, 1.11)	0.92 (0.74, 1.17)	
Large			0.89 (0.66, 1.19)	0.89 (0.68, 1.43)	
Instability			0.97 (0.55, 1.70)	0.97 (0.55, 1.70)	
Deprivation			0.47 (0.27, 0.84)	0.47 (0.27, 0.84)	
Ethnic concentration			0.52 (0.38, 0.71)	0.52 (0.38, 0.71)	
Rurality (ref: urban)					
Rural			1.12 (0.89, 1.41)	1.12 (0.89, 1.41)	
Note: Bold indicates sta	tistical significance at p≤0.	05	·	·	

	Past-month binge drinking			
	Model 1 OR (95% CI)	Model 2 OR (95% CI)	Model 3 OR (95% CI)	Model 4 OR (95% CI)
Constant	0.14 (0.11, 0.19)	0.03 (0.03, 0.05)	0.03 (0.02, 0.04)	0.03 (0.02, 0.04)
PHU Spending				
Level 2	1.41 (0.93, 2.13)	1.33 (0.89, 1.99)	1.02 (0.76, 1.37)	1.08 (0.80, 1.47)
Level 3	1.93 (1.28, 2.90)	1.80 (1.22, 2.66)	0.94 (0.66, 1.36)	0.92 (0.63, 1.34)
Level 4	2.29 (1.45, 3.60)	2.25 (1.46, 3.47)	1.48 (1.03, 2.12)	1.71 (1.18, 2.48)
Gender (ref: female)				
Male		1.23 (1.15, 1.31)	1.23 (1.15, 1.31)	1.31 (1.18, 1.46)
*2 nd quartile spending				0.90 (0.77, 1.05)
*3 rd quartile spending				1.05 (0.87, 1.26)
*4 th quartile spending				0.76 (0.63, 0.93)
Race (ref: White)				
Black		1.04 (0.90, 1.20)	1.04 (0.90, 1.20)	1.04 (0.90, 1.20)
Asian		0.62 (0.53, 0.71)	0.62 (0.53, 0.71)	0.62 (0.53, 0.71)
Latinx		1.11 (0.95, 1.30)	1.11 (0.95, 1.29)	1.11 (0.95, 1.29)
Other		1.09 (0.99, 1.20)	1.09 (0.99, 1.20)	1.09 (0.99, 1.20)
Grade (ref: 9)				
10		1.95 (1.76, 2.16)	1.95 (1.76, 2.16)	1.95 (1.76, 2.16)
11		2.70 (2.44, 2.99)	2.70 (2.44, 2.99)	2.70 (2.44, 2.99)
12		3.63 (3.27, 4.03)	3.64 (3.28, 4.03)	3.64 (3.28, 4.04)
Personal Spending				
Money (ref: \$0)				
\$1-\$20		1.33 (1.17, 1.50)	1.33 (1.18, 1.50)	1.33 (1.17, 1.50)
\$21-\$100		2.30 (2.05, 2.58)	2.30 (2.05, 2.58)	2.30 (2.05, 2.58)
\$100+		3.22 (2.87, 3.60)	3.22 (2.87, 3.61)	3.22 (2.88, 3.61)
Do not know		1.34 (1.16, 1.53)	1.34 (1.17, 1.53)	1.33 (1.16, 1.53)

Table 4.4. Association between per capita PHU spending and the odds of current binge drinking among grade 9-12 students (n=29,056) in COMPASS schools in Ontario (2018/19).

Table 4.4. Continued.

	Past-month binge drinking			
	Model 1 OR (95% CI)	Model 2 OR (95% CI)	Model 3 OR (95% CI)	Model 4 OR (95% CI)
Schoolsize (ref: Small)				
Medium			0.93 (0.74, 1.17)	0.93 (0.74, 1.17)
Large			0.99 (0.68, 1.43)	0.99 (0.68, 1.43)
Instability			1.24 (0.61, 2.52)	1.24 (0.61, 2.51)
Deprivation			0.37 (0.18, 0.76)	0.37 (0.18, 0.76)
Ethnic concentration			0.42 (0.28, 0.62)	0.42 (0.28, 0.62)
Rurality (ref: urban)				
Rural			1.19 (0.89, 1.57)	1.19 (0.90, 1.57)
Note: Bold indicates statis	tical significance at p≤0.05			

	Past-month cannabis use		
=	Model 1 OR (95% CI)	Model 2 OR (95% CI)	Model 3 OR (95% CI)
Constant	0.19 (0.16, 0.21)	0.04 (0.04, 0.05)	0.04 (0.03, 0.05)
PHU Spending			
Level 2	1.06 (0.87, 1.28)	1.02 (0.85, 1.24)	0.95 (0.77, 1.16)
Level 3	1.14 (0.92, 1.41)	1.10 (0.89, 1.36)	0.82 (0.63, 1.06)
Level 4	1.69 (1.35, 2.12)	1.58 (1.26, 1.97)	1.07 (0.83, 1.38)
Gender (ref: female)			
Male		1.41 (1.32, 1.50)	1.41 (1.32, 1.50)
Race (ref: White)			
Black		1.62 (1.43, 1.84)	1.64 (1.45, 1.86)
Asian		0.63 (0.55, 0.73)	0.64 (0.56, 0.74)
Latinx		1.20 (1.03, 1.39)	1.20 (1.03, 1.40)
Other		1.56 (1.43, 1.71)	1.57 (1.44, 1.72)
Grade (ref: 9)			
10		1.83 (1.65, 2.02)	1.83 (1.65, 2.02)
11		2.33 (2.11, 2.58)	2.34 (2.12, 2.59)
12		3.02 (2.72, 3.34)	3.03 (2.73, 3.35)
Personal Spending			
Money (ref: \$0)			
\$1-\$20		1.35 (1.20, 1.52)	1.35 (1.20, 1.52)
\$21-\$100		2.08 (1.86, 2.33)	2.08 (1.86, 2.32)
\$100+		2.79 (2.49, 3.11)	2.78 (2.49, 3.10)
Do not know		1.30 (1.14, 1.48)	1.30 (1.14, 1.48)
Schoolsize (ref: Small)			
Medium			1.00 (0.85, 1.18)
Large			0.96 (0.74, 1.24)

Table 4.5. Association between per capita PHU spending and the odds of current cannabis use among grade 9-12 students (n=29,056) inCOMPASS schools in Ontario (2018/19).

Table 4.5. Continued.

	Past-month cannabis use			
	Model 1 OR (95% CI)	Model 2 OR (95% CI)	Model 3 OR (95% CI)	
Instability			0.74 (0.45, 1.22)	
Deprivation			1.69 (1.03, 2.77)	
Ethnic concentration			0.56 (0.42, 0.73)	
Rurality (ref: urban)				
Rural			0.86 (0.70, 1.05)	
Note: Bold indicates statis	tical significance at p≤0.05			

	Past-month cigarette use			
_	Model 1 OR (95% CI)	Model 2 OR (95% CI)	Model 3 OR (95% CI)	
Constant	0.06 (0.04, 0.08)	0.02 (0.01, 0.03)	0.02 (0.01, 0.03)	
PHU Spending				
Level 2	1.19 (0.74, 1.93)	1.18 (0.73, 1.93)	1.16 (0.70, 1.91)	
Level 3	2.07 (1.28, 3.34)	2.14 (1.31, 3.49)	1.46 (0.77, 2.77)	
Level 4	2.95 (1.72, 5.08)	2.78 (1.60, 4.82)	2.19 (1.23, 3.91)	
Gender (ref: female)				
Male		1.32 (1.21, 1.45)	1.32 (1.21, 1.45)	
Race (ref: White)				
Black		1.99 (1.67, 2.38)	2.00 (1.67, 2.39)	
Asian		0.86 (0.70, 1.06)	0.86 (0.70, 1.06)	
Latinx		1.32 (1.05, 1.65)	1.32 (1.06, 1.66)	
Other		2.04 (1.81, 2.29)	2.04 (1.81, 2.29)	
Grade (ref: 9)				
10		1.47 (1.28, 1.69)	1.47 (1.28, 1.69)	
11		1.87 (1.63, 2.15)	1.87 (1.63, 2.15)	
12		2.62 (2.28, 3.01)	2.63 (2.29, 3.02)	
Personal Spending				
Money (ref: \$0)				
\$1-\$20		1.19 (1.01, 1.40)	1.19 (1.01, 1.40)	
\$21-\$100		1.45 (1.24, 1.70)	1.45 (1.24, 1.70)	
\$100+		2.14 (1.84, 2.49)	2.14 (1.84, 2.49)	
Do not know		1.08 (0.90, 1.31)	1.08 (0.90, 1.31)	
Schoolsize (ref: Small)				
Medium			0.81 (0.60, 1.11)	
Large			0.64 (0.40, 1.02)	

Table 4.6. Association between per capita PHU spending and the odds of current cigarette use among grade 9-12 students (n=29,056) inCOMPASS schools in Ontario (2018/19).

Table 4.6. Continued.

	Past-month cigarette use			
	Model 1 OR (95% CI)	Model 2 OR (95% CI)	Model 3 OR (95% CI)	
Instability		· · · · ·	0.76 (0.23, 2.47)	
Deprivation			0.86 (0.27, 2.74)	
Ethnic concentration			0.62 (0.32, 1.20)	
Rurality (ref: urban)				
Rural			1.09 (0.79, 1.52)	

	Past-month e-cigarette use			
—	Model 1 OR (95% CI)	Model 2 OR (95% CI)	Model 3 OR (95% CI)	
Constant	0.34 (0.28, 0.42)	0.12 (0.10, 0.15)	0.12 (0.10, 0.15)	
PHU Spending				
Level 2	1.34 (0.99, 1.80)	1.30 (0.99, 1.69)	1.05 (0.84, 1.31)	
Level 3	1.36 (1.00, 1.84)	1.22 (0.93, 1.60)	0.74 (0.56, 0.98)	
Level 4	1.67 (1.19, 2.34)	1.56 (1.16, 2.12)	0.99 (0.76, 1.30)	
Gender (ref: female)				
Male		1.33 (1.27, 1.41)	1.33 (1.27, 1.41)	
Race (ref: White)				
Black		0.91 (0.81, 1.02)	0.91 (0.81, 1.02)	
Asian		0.57 (0.51, 0.64)	0.58 (0.51, 0.64)	
Latinx		1.09 (0.96, 1.23)	1.09 (0.96, 1.23)	
Other		1.05 (0.97, 1.14)	1.05 (0.97, 1.14)	
Grade (ref: 9)				
10		1.46 (1.36, 1.57)	1.46 (1.36, 1.57)	
11		1.53 (1.42, 1.65)	1.53 (1.42, 1.66)	
12		1.62 (1.49, 1.75)	1.62 (1.50, 1.76)	
Personal Spending				
Money (ref: \$0)				
\$1-\$20		1.53 (1.40, 1.68)	1.53 (1.40, 1.68)	
\$21-\$100		2.45 (2.24, 2.67)	2.45 (2.24, 2.67)	
\$100+		3.24 (2.96, 3.55)	3.23 (2.95, 3.54)	
Do not know		1.40 (1.26, 1.55)	1.40 (1.26, 1.55)	
Schoolsize (ref: Small)				
Medium			0.98 (0.82, 1.16)	
Large			0.90 (0.68, 1.19)	

Table 4.7. Association between per capita PHU spending and the odds of current e-cigarette use among grade 9-12 students (n=29,056) inCOMPASS schools in Ontario (2018/19).

Table 4.7. Continued.

	Past-month e-cigarette use			
	Model 1 OR (95% CI)	Model 2 OR (95% CI)	Model 3 OR (95% CI)	
Instability			1.23 (0.72, 2.10)	
Deprivation			0.76 (0.45, 1.30)	
Ethnic concentration			0.51 (0.38, 0.68)	
Rurality (ref: urban)				
Rural			1.08 (0.87, 1.34)	
Note: Bold indicates statisti	ical significance at p≤0.05			



Figure 4.1. Probability of adolescent alcohol use (left) and binge drinking (right) in COMPASS secondary schools in 2018/19, as predicted by per capita public health unit expenditure and stratified by gender.

4.4 Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the association between public health unit spending per capita and adolescent substance use. The results show that, relative to the lowest quartile of PHU spending per capita, adolescents attending school in an area with the highest quartile of spending per capita have higher odds of alcohol use generally, alcohol binge drinking, and cigarette use. Public health unit spending per capita is not associated with cannabis use. With respect to e-cigarette use, adolescents attending school in an area with the second highest quartile of PHU spending per capita have lower odds of e-cigarette use than those attending school in the lowest quartile of PHU spending.

Previous research exists on the relationship between public health spending and various health outcomes, however the mechanisms by which public health spending influences health outcomes is unclear. Pathways by which such an association might occur have been proposed. The Donabedian model of health services research describes "structure," "process" and "outcome" characteristics in evaluating health care quality.⁴⁵ Adapting this model to a public health context, Meyer et al. (2012) propose a conceptual framework that offers a potential pathway from PHU spending to population health outcomes.⁴⁶ According to their model, financial resources are a component of organizational capacity, among other measures, such as human and information resources. Improved organizational capacity is hypothesized to lead to improved system performance, defined as the internal processes of a public health department that allow for disease prevention and health promotion activities, such as preventing adolescent substance use.^{21,47} A robust public health system may subsequently lead to improved population health outcomes, such as reduced morbidity and mortality or improved health-related knowledge and behaviour.⁴⁶ There is evidence that increased funding can, at least in some contexts, improve public health system performance.^{48,49} Erwin and colleagues (2011) propose mechanisms by which spending and system performance may be associated.⁵⁰ They suggest that improved outcomes in the area of communicable diseases may be due to funding-associated capacity for increased surveillance and epidemiological studies, while improvements in the area of noncommunicable disease may be due to risk factor mitigation through screening or interventions such as those addressing cholesterol levels and health behaviors like smoking and higher-risk substance use. Similarly, findings by Bernet and colleagues demonstrate that targeted public health spending on maternal and child health programs is associated with improved

maternal mortality and infant mortality respectively, especially for historically disadvantaged Black populations.²⁴ As Mays and colleagues point out, this may not apply to all services, and it may depend where the funding is received from (federal, state-level, or local revenue source), as there may be limitations placed on how federal funds can be used as compared to municipal funds that may have fewer restrictions.^{49,51} Institutional and community characteristics, such as local poverty level, physician-to-population ratio, centralized or decentralized structure of public health administration, or partnerships between community organizations, are also important factors to consider.^{51,52}

On the other hand, as noted by Singh (2014), increased funding for public health does not guarantee improved performance of a public health organization, nor does improved performance guarantee better health outcomes.²¹ In their systematic review on this topic, Singh (2014) reports mixed evidence on the association between public health system performance and population health. Some studies are reported to have found a protective association between system performance and health status, at least one found no difference between high and low performance systems, while yet another found that higher system performance was associated with adverse health status. This mixed evidence may be due to other factors at play, such as governance. Although they studied public spending on health generally rather than public health services, two studies on public spending find that the effect of governance quality (e.g. honest and transparent budget distribution) is important.^{53,54} Hu and Mendoza (2013) found that public spending is significantly associated with infant mortality even when controlling for governance quality, while Rajkumar and Swaroop (2008) found that public spending is significantly associated with infant mortality in countries with good quality governance, but has little impact on infant mortality when governance is of poor quality.

Improved public health processes and programs may offer a pathway by which public health spending is associated with population health outcomes. However, it is also possible that public health spending itself is an independent predictor of population health. Kentikelenis (2017) as well as Stuckler and colleagues (2017) describe how austerity policies, as a form of "structural adjustment", can impact health outcomes by addressing the social determinants of health, such as employment, poverty, and inequality.^{55,56} There is substantial evidence showing that increased unemployment, poverty and inequalities impact individual health and behaviour.^{57–59} Increased PHU spending may be associated with public health activities that target adolescents

directly or that impact the social determinants of health. In Ontario, it is a requirement for PHUs to develop and implement programs to promote the health of adolescents, and to offer support to schools in implementing health-related curricula in areas such as healthy sexuality, mental health promotion, substance use, substance-related harm reduction, violence and bullying.

4.5 Limitations

One limitation of this study is that it was cross-sectional in design and thus did not allow for time between exposure and outcome. This is a limitation because, where public health spending is associated with improved population health outcomes, there is likely to be a lag between spending and any measurable impact.^{29,60,61} In the case of spending for direct prevention or harm reduction programming, we may expect to see an impact on adolescents in the shorter term in the form of delayed onset of substance use or less risky patterns of use among current users.^{28,62} Conversely, public health spending for more upstream initiatives, such as policy change, may not have an impact on adolescent risk behaviour for a longer period of time. One study looking at public health spending and mortality rates estimates that though spending may impact mortality rates in the short term of one year, the majority of the impact is seen 8-10 years following a change in PHU spending.⁶⁰

Another limitation of a cross-sectional study design is that, because it does not allow for temporality between the exposure and outcome, there is no evidence that the hypothesized exposure, PHU spending, precedes the hypothesized outcome, adolescent substance use. It is unclear whether greater spending in a given PHU jurisdiction is a response to, or a risk factor for poor adolescent health behaviours. Higher odds of adolescent alcohol and cigarette use may be an indicator of poor access to the social determinants of health to which PHUs may respond with more programs and spending.

Residual confounding is a limitation of this study. It describes an association between the study exposure as well as the study outcome with a third variable that was unaccounted for. Among potential confounders of the association between spending and substance use, one might be social service spending. Given the numerous social determinants of adolescent substance use discussed previously, social service spending, or a lack of sufficient social service spending, could have a significant impact on adolescent substance use. By addressing such upstream factors as unemployment, poverty, housing insecurity or low educational attainment, social services have the potential to improve the social and familial environments that adolescents grow up in and reduce the likelihood of substance use.^{5,7,9,22} At the same time, government funding available for PHUs may be impacted by the level of funding allocated to social services outside of PHU activities.⁶³

Another important limitation of this study is selection bias in the form of missingness. It has been shown that adolescent substance use is associated with school absenteeism and those students who were absent would not have been able to complete the COMPASS student questionnaire.^{33,64}

There is also a possibility of information bias in the exposure measure. Audited financial statements were unavailable for two of fifteen PHUs and alternative sources of expenditure data had to be used, such as PHU annual reports or budget plans that were available online. Although these reports are expected to provide reasonable estimates of expenditure, there is a possibility of variation from the actual expenditure. Additionally, there is potential misclassification of the study outcomes. Past-month substance use could be wide ranging, from once in a month to daily, or even multiple times a day. The survey question does not reveal the amount or dose that was used. This means that substance use in any amount or frequency was treated equally, so long as it occurred at least once per month on average or once in the past month specifically. This misclassification would miss the differential impact that PHU spending may have on higher frequency, and thus higher-risk users, as compared to occasional users. Prevention programs that address risk factors of substance use such as poor mental health or low school connectedness may have more impact on higher-risk users as compared to adolescents using less frequently and with different motivations, such as peer-use at social events.⁶

Finally, this study has limited external validity given that school selection in the COMPASS study uses convenience sampling. The study results are not generalizable to a population outside of the COMPASS schools in Ontario.

4.6 Conclusion

This study presents mixed findings on the association between PHU spending and adolescent substance use. In the case of alcohol and cigarette use, adolescents in the highest quartile of PHU spending had higher odds of use as compared to adolescents in the lowest quartile. However, because this is a cross-sectional study, temporality could not be identified between PHU spending and the substance use outcomes. Future research could take a longitudinal approach by studying substance use outcomes in the years following expenditure measures to allow for temporality between exposure and outcome. Additionally, future analyses may be made more robust by studying a larger sample of PHUs for improved statistical power.^{24,60} Future studies may also find more meaningful associations by distinguishing occasional substance use in the past month from higher-frequency and higher-risk patterns of substance use, such as weekly use, daily use, or use while alone. Given the dearth of literature in a Canadian setting, further research on public health spending and adolescent health outcomes in Canada may allow for evidence-informed decisions on the optimal allocation of limited financial resources to better protect and promote adolescent health.

References

 Health Canada. Canadian Alcohol and Drugs Survey (CADS): summary of results for 2019. Published online December 20, 2021. Accessed April 19, 2023.

https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-alcohol-drugs-survey/2019summary.html#a4

2. Health Canada. Canadian Tobacco and Nicotine Survey (CTNS): summary of results for 2019. Published online July 7, 2020. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-tobacco-nicotine-survey/2019-summary.html

 Boak A, Hamilton HA, Adlaf EM, Mann RE. Drug Use Among Ontario Students, 1977-2019. Published online 2020. doi:10.1037/e506452014-001

4. World Health Organization. Social determinants of health. Accessed April 25, 2023. https://www.who.int/health-topics/social-determinants-of-health#tab=tab_1

5. Patrick ME, Schulenberg JE. Prevalence and Predictors of Adolescent Alcohol Use and Binge Drinking in the United States. *Alcohol Res Curr Rev.* 2014;35(2):193-200.

 Mason WA, Stevens AL, Fleming CB. A systematic review of research on adolescent solitary alcohol and marijuana use in the United States. *Addict Abingdon Engl.* 2019;115(1):19-31. doi:10.1111/add.14697

 Su J, Supple AJ, Kuo SIC. The Role of Individual and Contextual Factors in Differentiating Substance Use Profiles among Adolescents. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2018;53(5):734-743. doi:10.1080/10826084.2017.1363237

8. Weatherson KA, O'Neill M, Lau EY, Qian W, Leatherdale ST, Faulkner GEJ. The Protective Effects of School Connectedness on Substance Use and Physical Activity. *J Adolesc Health*. 2018;63(6):724-731. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2018.07.002

 Allison KW, Crawford I, Leone PE, et al. Adolescent Substance Use: Preliminary Examinations of School and Neighborhood Context. *Am J Community Psychol*. 1999;27(2):111-141. doi:10.1023/A:1022879500217

 Dielman TE, Butchart AT, Shope JT, Miller M. Environmental Correlates of Adolescent Substance Use and Misuse: Implications for Prevention Programs. *Int J Addict*. 1991;25(sup7):855-878. doi:10.3109/10826089109071027 Zuckermann AME, Williams GC, Battista K, Jiang Y, de Groh M, Leatherdale ST.
 Prevalence and correlates of youth poly-substance use in the COMPASS study. *Addict Behav*.
 2020;107:106400. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106400

 Bachman JG, O'Malley PM, Johnston LD, Schulenberg JE, Wallace JM. Racial/Ethnic
 Differences in the Relationship Between Parental Education and Substance Use Among U.S.
 8th-, 10th-, and 12th-Grade Students: Findings From the Monitoring the Future Project*. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs*. 2011;72(2):279-285. doi:10.15288/jsad.2011.72.279

 Tucker JS, Pollard MS, De La Haye K, Kennedy DP, Green HD. Neighborhood characteristics and the initiation of marijuana use and binge drinking. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2013;128(1-2):83-89. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2012.08.006

14. Kulis S, Marsiglia FF, Sicotte D, Nieri T. Neighborhood Effects on Youth Substance Use in a Southwestern City. *Sociol Perspect*. 2007;50(2):273-301. doi:10.1525/sop.2007.50.2.273

Fagan AA, Wright EM, Pinchevsky GM. The Protective Effects of Neighborhood
 Collective Efficacy on Adolescent Substance Use and Violence Following Exposure to Violence.
 J Youth Adolesc. 2014;43(9):1498-1512. doi:10.1007/s10964-013-0049-8

16. Cambron C, Kosterman R, Catalano RF, Guttmannova K, Hawkins JD. Neighborhood, Family, and Peer Factors Associated with Early Adolescent Smoking and Alcohol Use. *J Youth Adolesc*. 2018;47(2):369-382. doi:10.1007/s10964-017-0728-y

 Jackson AL, Browning CR, Krivo LJ, Kwan MP, Washington HM. The Role of Immigrant Concentration Within and Beyond Residential Neighborhoods in Adolescent Alcohol Use. *J Youth Adolesc*. 2016;45(1):17-34. doi:10.1007/s10964-015-0333-x

18. Chilenski SM, Greenberg MT. The Importance of the Community Context in the Epidemiology of Early Adolescent Substance Use and Delinquency in a Rural Sample. *Am J Community Psychol.* 2009;44(3-4):287-301. doi:10.1007/s10464-009-9258-4

 Fagan AA, Wright EM, Pinchevsky GM. A multi-level analysis of the impact of neighborhood structural and social factors on adolescent substance use. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2015;153:180-186. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2015.05.022

20. Viner RM, Ozer EM, Denny S, et al. Adolescence and the social determinants of health. *The Lancet*. 2012;379(9826):1641-1652. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60149-4

21. Singh SR. Public Health Spending and Population Health. Am J Prev Med.

2014;47(5):634-640. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2014.05.017

22. McCullough JM, Leider JP. Associations Between County Wealth, Health and Social Services Spending, and Health Outcomes. *Am J Prev Med*. 2017;53(5):592-598. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2017.05.005

23. McLaughlin M, Rank MR. Impact of federal transfers upon US infant mortality rates: a secondary analysis using a fixed effects regression approach. *BMJ Open*. 2018;8(9):e021533. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-021533

24. Bernet PM, Gumus G, Vishwasrao S. Effectiveness of public health spending on infant mortality in Florida, 2001–2014. *Soc Sci Med*. 2018;211:31-38.

doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.05.044

25. Bekemeier B, Pantazis A, Yip MPY, Kwan-Gett T. Developing the Evidence for Public Health Systems to Battle Vaccine Preventable Disease at the Local Level: Data Challenges and Strategies for Advancing Research. *J Public Health Manag Pract JPHMP*. 2017;23(2):131-137. doi:10.1097/PHH.000000000000411

26. Liu D, Mason A, Marks L, et al. Effects of local authority expenditure on childhood obesity. *Eur J Public Health*. 2019;29(4):785-790. doi:10.1093/eurpub/cky252

27. Paton D, Wright L. The effect of spending cuts on teen pregnancy. *J Health Econ*.
2017;54:135-146. doi:10.1016/j.jhealeco.2017.05.002

 Bekemeier B, Yang Y, Dunbar MD, Pantazis A, Grembowski DE. Targeted Health Department Expenditures Benefit Birth Outcomes at the County Level. *Am J Prev Med*.
 2014;46(6):569-577. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2014.01.023

29. Bernet P, Gumus G, Vishwasrao S. Maternal Mortality and Public Health Programs: Evidence from Florida. *Milbank Q.* 2020;98(1):150-171. doi:10.1111/1468-0009.12442

30. Friebel R, Yoo KJ, Maynou L. Opioid abuse and austerity: Evidence on health service use and mortality in England. *Soc Sci Med*. 2021;1:114511. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114511

31. Tauras JA, Chaloupka FJ, Farrelly MC, et al. State Tobacco Control Spending and Youth Smoking. *Am J Public Health*. 2005;95(2):338-344. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2004.039727

32. Nilsson T, Allebeck P, Leifman H, Andréasson S, Norström T, Guldbrandsson K. Effects on Alcohol Consumption and Alcohol Related Harm of a Community-Based Prevention Intervention With National Support in Sweden. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2018;53(3):412-419. doi:10.1080/10826084.2017.1334063

33. Leatherdale ST, Brown KS, Carson V, et al. The COMPASS study: a longitudinal hierarchical research platform for evaluating natural experiments related to changes in school-level programs, policies and built environment resources. *BMC Public Health*. 2014;14(1):331. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-331

34. Health Canada. Canadian Tobacco, Alcohol and Drugs (CTADS) Survey: 2017 detailed tables. Published October 30, 2018. Accessed January 27, 2022.

https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-alcohol-drugs-survey/2017summary/2017-detailed-tables.html

35. Vrati M. Mehra, Asvini Keethakumar, Yvonne M. Bohr, Peri Abdullah, Hala Tamim. The association between alcohol, marijuana, illegal drug use and current use of E-cigarette among youth and young adults in Canada: results from Canadian Tobacco, Alcohol and Drugs Survey 2017. *BMC Public Health*. 2019;19(1):1-10. doi:10.1186/s12889-019-7546-y

36. Williams GC, Burns KE, Battista K, de Groh M, Jiang Y, Leatherdale ST. High School Intramural Participation and Substance Use: A Longitudinal Analysis of COMPASS Data. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2021;56(8):1108-1118. doi:10.1080/10826084.2021.1901932

37. Butler A, Romano I, Patte K, et al. Psychological correlates and binge drinking behaviours among Canadian youth: a cross-sectional analysis of the mental health pilot data from the COMPASS study. *BMJ Open*. 2019;9(6):e028558. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-028558

38. Roche KM, Ahmed S, Blum RW. Enduring consequences of parenting for risk behaviors from adolescence into early adulthood. *Soc Sci Med.* 2008;66(9):2023-2034. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.01.009

39. Amin A, Kågesten A, Adebayo E, Chandra-Mouli V. Addressing Gender Socialization and Masculinity Norms Among Adolescent Boys: Policy and Programmatic Implications. *J Adolesc Health*. 2018;62(3):S3-S5. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.06.022

40. Government of Canada I. Forward Sortation Area—Definition. Published May 28, 2015. Accessed April 25, 2023. https://ised-isde.canada.ca/site/office-superintendent-

bankruptcy/en/statistics-and-research/forward-sortation-area-fsa-and-north-american-industryclassification-naics-reports/forward-sortation-area-definition

41. Hunter S, Leatherdale ST, Storey K, Carson V. A quasi-experimental examination of how school-based physical activity changes impact secondary school student moderate- to vigorous-

intensity physical activity over time in the COMPASS study. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* 2016;13(1):86. doi:10.1186/s12966-016-0411-9

42. Ontario Marginalization Index (ON-Marg) | Public Health Ontario. Accessed April 25, 2023. https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/data-and-analysis/health-equity/ontario-marginalization-index

43. Matheson FI, Dunn JR, Smith KLW, Moineddin R, Glazier RH. Development of the Canadian Marginalization Index: A New Tool for the Study of Inequality. *Can J Public Health Rev Can Santee Publique*. 2012;103:S12-S16.

44. Matheson FI, Moloney G, van Ingen T. 2016 Ontario Marginalization Index: User Guide. Ist Revision. ; Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario);
2022.

45. Evaluating the Quality of Medical Care - DONABEDIAN - 2005 - The Milbank Quarterly - Wiley Online Library. Accessed April 25, 2023. https://onlinelibrary-wileycom.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/doi/full/10.1111/j.1468-0009.2005.00397.x

46. Meyer AM, Davis M, Mays GP. Defining Organizational Capacity for Public Health Services and Systems Research. *J Public Health Manag Pract*. 2012;18(6):535-544. doi:10.1097/PHH.0b013e31825ce928

47. WHO. Public health services. Accessed January 28, 2022.

https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/Health-systems/public-health-services/public-health-services

48. Mauer BJ, Mason M, Brown B. Application of Quality Measurement and Performance Standards to Public Health Systems: Washington State's Approach. *J Public Health Manag Pract.* 2004;10(4):330-337.

49. Mays GP, McHugh MC, Shim K, et al. Getting What You Pay For: Public Health Spending and the Performance of Essential Public Health Services. *J Public Health Manag Pract.* 2004;10(5):435-443. doi:10.1097/00124784-200409000-00011

50. Erwin PC, Greene SB, Mays GP, Ricketts TC, Davis MV. The Association of Changes in Local Health Department Resources With Changes in State-Level Health Outcomes. *Am J Public Health*. 2011;101(4):609-615. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.177451

51. Mays GP, McHugh MC, Shim K, et al. Institutional and Economic Determinants of Public Health System Performance. *Am J Public Health*. 2006;96(3):523-531. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2005.064253

52. Mays GP, Smith SA. Geographic Variation in Public Health Spending: Correlates and Consequences. *Health Serv Res.* 2009;44(5p2):1796-1817. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2009.01014.x

53. Rajkumar AS, Swaroop V. Public spending and outcomes: Does governance matter? *J Dev Econ*. 2008;86(1):96-111. doi:10.1016/j.jdeveco.2007.08.003

54. Hu B, Mendoza RU. Public Health Spending, Governance and Child Health Outcomes: Revisiting the Links. *J Hum Dev Capab*. 2013;14(2):285-311.

doi:10.1080/19452829.2013.765392

55. Kentikelenis AE. Structural adjustment and health: A conceptual framework and evidence on pathways. *Soc Sci Med*. 2017;187:296-305. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.02.021

56. Stuckler D, Reeves A, Loopstra R, Karanikolos M, McKee M. Austerity and health: the impact in the UK and Europe. *Eur J Public Health*. 2017;27(suppl_4):18-21. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckx167

57. Marmot M, Friel S, Bell R, Houweling TAJ, Taylor S, Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. *Lancet Lond Engl.* 2008;372(9650):1661-1669. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61690-6

58. Raphael D. Social Determinants of Health: Present Status, Unanswered Questions, and Future Directions. *Int J Health Serv*. 2006;36(4):651-677. doi:10.2190/3MW4-1EK3-DGRQ-2CRF

59. Raphael D, Bryant T, Mikkonen J, Alexander R. *Social Determinants of Health: The Canadian Facts*. Second edition. Ontario Tech University Faculty of Health Sciences and Toronto: York University School of Health Policy and Management; 2020.

60. Brown TT. How effective are public health departments at preventing mortality? *Econ Hum Biol*. 2014;13:34-45. doi:10.1016/j.ehb.2013.10.001

Bekemeier B, Yip MPY, Dunbar MD, Whitman G, Kwan-Gett T. Local Health
Department Food Safety and Sanitation Expenditures and Reductions in Enteric Disease, 2000–
2010. *Am J Public Health*. 2015;105(Suppl 2):S345-S352. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302555

62. Kulis S, Nieri T, Yabiku S, Stromwall LK, Marsiglia FF. Promoting Reduced and Discontinued Substance Use among Adolescent Substance Users: Effectiveness of a Universal Prevention Program. *Prev Sci.* 2007;8(1):35-49. doi:10.1007/s11121-006-0052-3

McCullough JM, Leider JP. Government Spending In Health And Nonhealth Sectors
Associated With Improvement In County Health Rankings. *Health Aff (Millwood)*.
2016;35(11):2037-2043. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0708

64. Gakh M, Coughenour C, Assoumou BO, Vanderstelt M. The Relationship between School Absenteeism and Substance Use: An Integrative Literature Review. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2020;55(3):491-502. doi:10.1080/10826084.2019.1686021

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION

The aim of this thesis was to investigate the role of public health units in addressing adolescents' use of alcohol, cannabis, cigarettes, and e-cigarettes. Multilevel regression models were used for all analyses due to the clustering of observations by student for each year of their survey participation, the clustering of students within schools, and the clustering of schools within PHU jurisdictions.

The first research objective was to investigate the association between public health engagement at schools and the three-year trend in adolescent substance use. To meet this objective, there were two research questions examined. The first question asked whether any PHU engagement at baseline was associated with substance use over a three-year period. The second question asked whether different methods of PHU engagement at baseline had differing associations with substance use over a three-year period. Specifically, PHUs could be engaged with secondary schools through resource provision, joint problem solving, and joint program development/implementation, or independent program implementation. In the case of binge drinking and e-cigarette use, PHU provision of information and resources appeared to be protective over time, reducing the odds of use in the following years. Joint problem solving or joint program implementation, though protective at baseline, was associated with more binge drinking and e-cigarette use, as well as more cannabis use, by the second follow up year. This is not a finding that was expected. Further investigation is recommended to understand whether problem solving, or the selected programs of intervention were ineffective, or if other factors were at play. In the case of cigarette use only, a PHU-led substance use prevention program at baseline was associated with lower odds of cigarette use in the two subsequent years. These findings suggest that the association between PHU engagement and substance use varies by the method of PHU engagement and type of substance use. Looking at engagement overall may result in non-significant findings due to different methods influencing adolescent substance use in different directions. Moreover, the analysis of different methods of engagement at baseline did not take into account the change in PHU engagement over time, so it could be that the longitudinal association was a result not of baseline engagement, but a change in PHU activities over time, including potential discontinuation of PHU engagement.

There are other limitations to make note of as well. For one, the COMPASS SPP survey questions on PHU engagement asked about two substances at a time: PHU engagement to

156

address alcohol OR cannabis use and PHU engagement to address cigarette OR e-cigarette use. One extreme consequence of this categorization is the possibility that a school may provide resources, programming or problem solving focused only on one of the two. For example, if PHU engagement is focused primarily on alcohol-related intervention, it is unlikely to impact cannabis use by any direct pathway, particularly given that the risk factors for, motivations for, and contexts of alcohol and cannabis use can be quite different, and it may be incorrect to attribute changes in cannabis use to an alcohol-focused intervention.¹ The same applies to the survey question inquiring about PHU engagement in addressing cigarette and e-cigarette use. Many factors distinguish each of these substances, including the background trends in use or the social acceptability of each. For example, alcohol use is more prevalent and socially acceptable than cannabis, cigarette or e-cigarette use.^{2,3} However, new vaping products, particularly with different and appealing flavours, have led to significant increases in use by youth.⁴ Meanwhile, years of tobacco prevention and control interventions and education campaigns are associated with a declining trend in cigarette smoking.^{2,5,6}

Second, two methods of engagement were grouped into one when answering the second research question. These were joint problem solving and joint development/implementation of programs. In fact, the SPP survey allows for respondents to select more than one level of PHU engagement, so there may have been cases of misclassification whereby a PHU was involved in multiple forms of engagement, but only identified as having one – the highest selected method of engagement may have been a result of a combination of methods employed. Furthermore, two different methods of engagement may complement each other in a positive way, or negative way. If staff and resources were well-coordinated, they may have had a greater impact in combination. Alternatively, if staff or resources were limited and divided, each individual method may have been compromised.

Future research is warranted in this area to better understand how the method of PHU engagement affects different types of substance use, so that PHU resources can be optimally allocated to schools. This study offers a starting point for such future investigation. Findings from this study suggest that it may be beneficial for PHUs to invest in the provision of information/resources/programs and in PHU-led programs at secondary schools, to address adolescent substance use – particularly binge drinking, cigarette use, and e-cigarette use.

157

Collaboration with schools may also be a valuable opportunity for public health to address other school-related factors associated with substance use. Namely, peer substance use, low school connectedness, low educational expectations and school disengagement are risk factors for adolescent substance use.⁷ Outside of schools, public health activities that may impact adolescent risk behaviour indirectly include policy promotion to reduce youth access to tobacco products and e-cigarettes and programming in the area of healthy growth and development to support healthy families.⁸ Such activities are important given that healthy public policy and supportive parenting are significant protective factors against adolescent substance use.^{7,9–11} Public health activities also include those which address other social determinants that, due to structural disadvantage, are associated with adolescent substance use. These social determinants include low income, housing insecurity, and low educational attainment.^{12–14} In Ontario, it is provincially mandated in the Ontario Public Health Standards that each PHU address social determinants of health to improve health equity. One means of affecting structural change and improving access to the social determinants of health might be through increased spending on public health.

The second research objective was to study spending by PHUs as an indicator of financial investment into public health. Specifically, the objective was to investigate the association between per capita expenditure by PHUs and adolescent substance use. Overall, there was little association between PHU spending and adolescent substance use. However, higher quartiles of PHU spending, relative to the lowest quartile, were found to be associated with higher odds of alcohol and cigarette use, and lower odds of e-cigarette use. This finding may be a reflection of resource allocation based on need. Although PHU spending decisions are not made based on adolescent substance use alone, if at all, it is possible that adolescent substance use is correlated with other adolescent health/safety needs.³ Reszycynski et al. (2022) conducted a study in the United States to investigate whether PHU spending decisions are a response to local context by using sociodemographic variables such as race, unemployment and poverty as indicators of public health need.¹⁵ In the case of the United States, Reszycynski found that spending was not necessarily increased in areas of greater need. However, in the present study, there is no evidence to infer a causal association in either direction. It would indeed be expected and is a possibility that spending was higher where population need was greater, such as areas of higher adolescent substance use.

A limitation of this study is the small sample size of PHUs. This analysis used a threelevel multilevel regression model that accounts for clustering at the school and PHU levels. In a multilevel model, two important factors that impact statistical power are the intraclass correlation (ICC) and sample size at the highest level of analysis – in this case, the sample of PHUs. Unfortunately, there are only 15 Ontario PHUs represented in the 2018 COMPASS sample. According to a simulation study of two-level models by Maas and Hox (2005), a sample size of 50 groups was recommended for the higher-level unit of analysis to minimize bias in the estimation of regression coefficients.¹⁷ 15 PHUs is much smaller than the recommended 50, and this may mean that the present study lacks power to detect an association between PHU level spending and individual level substance use behaviour. Nevertheless, it was important to use three levels of analysis rather than two because of the nested data structure and because the exposure of interest occurs at the level of PHU jurisdictions, the highest level of clustering. The assumption of independence of observations required for multiple regression analyses would be violated if clustering were unaccounted for. Additionally, the results from these studies are not necessarily reflective of the general population as the COMPASS data used here are taken from a convenience sample of students and schools. Furthermore, in the case of the spending study, only around 40% of all Ontario PHUs are represented.

Despite the limitations, both studies have some important strengths as well. Both use participant data from the COMPASS study, which offers a large sample size of students that is otherwise challenging to recruit. Though it may not be reflective of all Canadian adolescents, it is likely representative of a large portion. The study on public health engagement is the first to take a longitudinal approach in investigating this topic to understand the association between PHU activities and adolescent substance use over time. The second study is the first known study to investigate public health spending and adolescent substance use. To the best of our knowledge, it is the only study of PHU spending and adolescent health outcomes to be conducted in a Canadian context. It is also the first to investigate PHU-level spending and individual-level outcomes rather than health outcomes aggregated to the area level. In future research, a longitudinal study design may help to better understand the associations found in the present study by allowing for temporality between exposure (spending) and outcome (substance use). Such research would allow for evidence-informed policy decisions on public health spending, particularly in times of austerity when financial resources are limited and must be effectively distributed. Research on public health spending in a Canadian setting can ensure evidence that is applicable to Canadians.

Both studies conducted in this thesis offer insights on the role of PHUs in addressing adolescent substance use. Importantly, both provide evidence that upstream factors at the community and policy levels of the socio-ecological model are significantly associated with and have potential to address adolescent substance use. While the majority of literature on adolescent substance use is focused on individual and interpersonal level factors, this thesis work used social epidemiologic methods to study the contextual factors that shape downstream individual and interpersonal factors and may thus have more far-reaching impacts on adolescent health, and healthy equity. In times of austerity, exacerbated by the social and economic consequences of COVID-19, understanding the contextual factors that are associated with adolescent substance use is critical to protecting and improving adolescent health during a developmentally significant time in their lives. Research on the ways that PHUs can support adolescent health directly in schools, or the ways in which broader spending decisions relate to adolescent health, can offer evidence to inform future public health practice and resource allocation in a way that effectively protects and promotes adolescent growth and wellbeing.

References

 Mason WA, Stevens AL, Fleming CB. A systematic review of research on adolescent solitary alcohol and marijuana use in the United States. *Addict Abingdon Engl.* 2019;115(1):19-31. doi:10.1111/add.14697

Health Canada. Canadian Alcohol and Drugs Survey (CADS): summary of results for
 2019. Published online December 20, 2021. Accessed April 19, 2023.
 https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-alcohol-drugs-survey/2019-

summary.html#a4

Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse. Substance Abuse in Canada: Youth in Focus.
 Published online 2007. https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2019-04/ccsa-011521-2007-e.pdf

4. Liu J, Gaiha SM, Halpern-Felsher B. School-based programs to prevent adolescent ecigarette use: A report card. *Curr Probl Pediatr Adolesc Health Care*. 2022;52(6):101204. doi:10.1016/j.cppeds.2022.101204

Health Canada. Canadian Tobacco Alcohol and Drugs (CTADS): 2013 summary.
 Published online February 3, 2015. Accessed April 19, 2023. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-alcohol-drugs-survey/2013-summary.html

6. Thomas RE, McLellan J, Perera R. Effectiveness of school-based smoking prevention curricula: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open*. 2015;5(3):e006976. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006976

7. Patrick ME, Schulenberg JE. Prevalence and Predictors of Adolescent Alcohol Use and Binge Drinking in the United States. *Alcohol Res Curr Rev.* 2014;35(2):193-200.

8. Public Health Ontario. Ontario Public Health Standards: Requirements for Programs, Services and Accountability. Published online June 2021.

 Su J, Supple AJ, Kuo SIC. The Role of Individual and Contextual Factors in Differentiating Substance Use Profiles among Adolescents. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2018;53(5):734-743. doi:10.1080/10826084.2017.1363237

 Jackson AL, Browning CR, Krivo LJ, Kwan MP, Washington HM. The Role of Immigrant Concentration Within and Beyond Residential Neighborhoods in Adolescent Alcohol Use. J Youth Adolesc. 2016;45(1):17-34. doi:10.1007/s10964-015-0333-x Hyshka E. Applying a social determinants of health perspective to early adolescent cannabis use – An overview. *Drugs Educ Prev Policy*. 2013;20(2):110-119. doi:10.3109/09687637.2012.752434

 Amaro H, Sanchez M, Bautista T, Cox R. Social vulnerabilities for substance use: Stressors, socially toxic environments, and discrimination and racism. *Neuropharmacology*. 2021;188:108518. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2021.108518

13. Felner JK, Calzo JP. Housing status as a social determinant of disparities in adolescent smoking, vaping, and dual use of cigarettes and e-cigarettes. *Addict Behav.* 2023;141:107631. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2023.107631

14. Wang G, Wu L. Healthy People 2020: Social Determinants of Cigarette Smoking and Electronic Cigarette Smoking among Youth in the United States 2010–2018. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2020;17(20):7503. doi:10.3390/ijerph17207503

15. Olivia Reszczynski, John Connolly, Kaitlyn Shultz, et al. US local public health department spending between 2008 and 2016 did not increase for communities in need. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2022;22(1):1-4. doi:10.1186/s12913-022-07613-2

16. Mowat DL, Boufford J, Butt J, et al. *Public Health Funding Model for Mandatory Programs: The Final Report of the Funding Review Working Group*.; 2013.

Maas CJM, Hox JJ. Sufficient Sample Sizes for Multilevel Modeling. *Methodology*.
 2005;1(3):86-92. doi:10.1027/1614-2241.1.3.86

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Acheson, E. D. (1988). On the state of the public health [The fourth Duncan lecture]. *Public Health*, *102*(5), 431–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0033-3506(88)80080-5
- Agabio, R., Trincas, G., Floris, F., Mura, G., Sancassiani, F., & Angermeyer, M. C. (2015). A Systematic Review of School-Based Alcohol and other Drug Prevention Programs. *Clinical Practice and Epidemiology in Mental Health : CP & EMH*, *11*(Suppl 1 M6), 102–112. https://doi.org/10.2174/1745017901511010102
- Alberta Health Services. (n.d.-a). *About Indigenous Wellness Core*. Alberta Health Services: Indigenous Health. Retrieved August 10, 2023, from https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/info/Page11949.aspx
- Alberta Health Services. (n.d.-b). *AMH Education in Schools*. Retrieved September 1, 2022, from https://albertahealthservices.ca/amh/Page2679.aspx
- Alberta Health Services. (n.d.-c). *Community Health Centres*. Retrieved September 1, 2022, from https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/info/Page17791.aspx
- Alberta Health Services. (n.d.-d). *Healthier Together*. Retrieved September 1, 2022, from https://schools.healthiertogether.ca/en/
- Alberta Health Services. (n.d.-e). *Meet Alberta's Strategic Clinical Networks*. Retrieved September 1, 2022, from https://albertahealthservices.ca/assets/about/scn/ahs-scn-quick-facts.pdf
- Alberta Health Services. (n.d.-f). *Population, Public & Indigenous Health Strategic Clinical Network*. Retrieved September 1, 2022, from https://albertahealthservices.ca/assets/about/scn/ahs-scn-ppih-quick-facts.pdf
- Alberta Health Services. (n.d.-g). *School Health & Wellness Promotion*. Retrieved September 1, 2022, from https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/info/hcy.aspx
- Alberta Health Services. (n.d.-h). *Strategic Clinical Networks*. Retrieved September 1, 2022, from https://albertahealthservices.ca/scns/scn.aspx
- Alleman, E., Murphy, E., Baskerville, K., & Chugh, R. (2017). A Collaborative Approach to Childhood Obesity Surveillance From a Local Health Department. *Journal of Public Health Management & Practice*, 23(6), e17–e20. https://doi.org/10.1097/PHH.000000000000615

- Allison, K. W., Crawford, I., Leone, P. E., Trickett, E., Perez-Febles, A., Burton, L. M., & Le Blanc, R. (1999). Adolescent Substance Use: Preliminary Examinations of School and Neighborhood Context. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 27(2), 111–141. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022879500217
- Amaro, H., Sanchez, M., Bautista, T., & Cox, R. (2021). Social vulnerabilities for substance use: Stressors, socially toxic environments, and discrimination and racism. *Neuropharmacology*, 188, 108518. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2021.108518
- Amin, A., Kågesten, A., Adebayo, E., & Chandra-Mouli, V. (2018). Addressing Gender Socialization and Masculinity Norms Among Adolescent Boys: Policy and Programmatic Implications. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 62(3), S3–S5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.06.022
- Arenson, M., Hudson, P. J., Lee, N., & Lai, B. (2019). The Evidence on School-Based Health Centers: A Review. *Global Pediatric Health*, 6, 2333794X19828745. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333794X19828745
- Ashtari, M., Avants, B., Cyckowski, L., Cervellione, K. L., Roofeh, D., Cook, P., Gee, J., Sevy,
 S., & Kumra, S. (2011). Medial temporal structures and memory functions in
 adolescents with heavy cannabis use. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 45(8), 1055–1066. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2011.01.004
- Auger, K. A., Hall, M., Bunte, S., Mussman, G., Amin, M., Sprigg, S., Porter, L., Porter, R., Mansour, M., Burkhardt, M. C., & Kahn, R. S. (2022). A Successful Collaboration Between an Urban School District, a Health System, and a Public Health Department to Address COVID-19 While Returning Children to the Classroom. *Journal of Community Health*, 47(3), 504–509. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-022-01067-7
- Bachman, J. G., O'Malley, P. M., Johnston, L. D., Schulenberg, J. E., & Wallace, J. M. (2011).
 Racial/Ethnic Differences in the Relationship Between Parental Education and
 Substance Use Among U.S. 8th-, 10th-, and 12th-Grade Students: Findings From the
 Monitoring the Future Project*. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 72(2), 279–285. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2011.72.279
- Baru, R. V., & Mohan, M. (2018). Globalisation and neoliberalism as structural drivers of health inequities. *Health Research Policy and Systems*, 16(1), 91. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-018-0365-2

- Becker, E. R., Principe, K., Adams, E. K., & Teutsch, S. M. (1998). Returns on investment in public health: Effect of public health expenditures on infant health, 1983-1990. *Journal* of Health Care Finance, 25(1), 5–18.
- Bejster, M., Cygan, H., Stock, J., & Ashworth, J. (2022). A School Wellness Partnership to Address Childhood Obesity. *Progress in Community Health Partnerships: Research, Education, and Action*, 16(1), 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1353/cpr.2022.0008
- Bekemeier, B., Grembowski, D., Yang, Y. R., & Herting, J. R. (2012). Local Public Health Delivery of Maternal Child Health Services: Are Specific Activities Associated with Reductions in Black–White Mortality Disparities? *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 16(3), 615–623. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-011-0794-9
- Bekemeier, B., Pantazis, A., Yip, M. P.-Y., & Kwan-Gett, T. (2017). Developing the Evidence for Public Health Systems to Battle Vaccine Preventable Disease at the Local Level: Data Challenges and Strategies for Advancing Research. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice: JPHMP*, 23(2), 131–137. https://doi.org/10.1097/PHH.000000000000411
- Bekemeier, B., Yang, Y., Dunbar, M. D., Pantazis, A., & Grembowski, D. E. (2014). Targeted
 Health Department Expenditures Benefit Birth Outcomes at the County Level. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 46(6), 569–577.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2014.01.023
- Bekemeier, B., Yip, M. P.-Y., Dunbar, M. D., Whitman, G., & Kwan-Gett, T. (2015). Local
 Health Department Food Safety and Sanitation Expenditures and Reductions in Enteric
 Disease, 2000–2010. American Journal of Public Health, 105(Suppl 2), S345–S352.
 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2015.302555
- Bernet, P., Gumus, G., & Vishwasrao, S. (2020). Maternal Mortality and Public Health Programs: Evidence from Florida. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 98(1), 150–171. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.12442
- Bernet, P. M., Gumus, G., & Vishwasrao, S. (2018). Effectiveness of public health spending on infant mortality in Florida, 2001–2014. Social Science & Medicine, 211, 31–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.05.044

- Boak, A., Hamilton, H. A., Adlaf, E. M., & Mann, R. E. (2020). Drug Use Among Ontario Students, 1977-2019 [dataset]. American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/e506452014-001
- Boden, J. M., & Fergusson, D. M. (2014). The Short- and Long-Term Consequences of Adolescent Alcohol Use. In J. B. Saunders & J. M. Rey (Eds.), *Young People and Alcohol* (pp. 32–44). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118785089.ch3
- Boeke, M. C., Zahner, S. J., Booske, B. C., & Remington, P. L. (2008). Local public health department funding: Trends over time and relationship to health outcomes. WMJ: Official Publication of the State Medical Society of Wisconsin, 107(1), 25–32.
- Bramantoro, T., Santoso, C. M. A., Hariyani, N., Setyowati, D., Zulfiana, A. A., Nor, N. A. M., Nagy, A., Pratamawari, D. N. P., & Irmalia, W. R. (2021). Effectiveness of the schoolbased oral health promotion programmes from preschool to high school: A systematic review. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(8), e0256007. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0256007
- Bredin, C., & Leatherdale, S. T. (2014). Development of the COMPASS student questionnaire [2(2)]. University of Waterloo. https://uwaterloo.ca/compasssystem/publications/development-compass-student-questionnaire
- British Columbia Ministry of Health. (2017). Promote, protect, prevent: Our Health Begins Here. https://www.health.gov.bc.ca/library/publications/year/2017/BC-guidingframework-for-public-health-2017-update.pdf
- Brown, T. T. (2014). How effective are public health departments at preventing mortality? *Economics & Human Biology*, *13*, 34–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ehb.2013.10.001
- Brown, T. T., Martinez-Gutierrez, M. S., & Navab, B. (2014). The impact of changes in county public health expenditures on general health in the population. *Health Economics*, *Policy and Law*, 9(3), 251–269. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1744133114000024
- Burgess, T., Braunack-Mayer, A., Tooher, R., Collins, J., O'Keefe, M., Skinner, R., Watson, M., Ashmeade, H., Proeve, C., & Marshall, H. (2016). Optimizing intersectoral collaboration between health and education: The Health Bridges study. *Journal of Public Health*, 38(4), e430–e437. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdv190
- Burnett, T., Battista, K., Butt, M., Sherifali, D., Leatherdale, S. T., & Dobbins, M. (2022). The association between public health engagement in school-based substance use prevention
programs and student alcohol, cannabis, e-cigarette and cigarette use. *Canadian Journal* of *Public Health*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-022-00655-3

- Butler, A., Patte, K. A., Ferro, M. A., & Leatherdale, S. T. (2019). Interrelationships among depression, anxiety, flourishing, and cannabis use in youth. *Addictive Behaviors*, 89, 206–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.10.007
- Butler, A., Romano, I., Patte, K., Ferro, M. A., Groh, M. de, Jiang, Y., & Leatherdale, S. T.
 (2019). Psychological correlates and binge drinking behaviours among Canadian youth: A cross-sectional analysis of the mental health pilot data from the COMPASS study. *BMJ Open*, 9(6), e028558. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-028558
- Cairns, G., Purves, R., & McKell, J. (2014). Combining school and family alcohol education: A systematic review of the evidence. *Health Education*, 114(6), 451–472. https://doi.org/10.1108/HE-12-2013-0066
- Cambron, C., Kosterman, R., Catalano, R. F., Guttmannova, K., & Hawkins, J. D. (2018).
 Neighborhood, Family, and Peer Factors Associated with Early Adolescent Smoking and Alcohol Use. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 47(2), 369–382.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-017-0728-y
- Camchong, J., Lim, K. O., & Kumra, S. (2017). Adverse Effects of Cannabis on Adolescent Brain Development: A Longitudinal Study. *Cerebral Cortex*, 27(3), 1922–1930. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhw015
- Campeau, A., Champagne, A. S., & McFaull, S. R. (2022). Sentinel surveillance of substancerelated self-harm in Canadian emergency departments, 2011 – 19. *BMC Public Health*, 22(1), 974. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-13287-6
- Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse. (2007). *Substance Abuse in Canada: Youth in Focus*. Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse. https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2019-04/ccsa-011521-2007-e.pdf
- Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. (n.d.). *Policy and Regulations (Alcohol)*. Retrieved July 6, 2023, from https://ccsa.ca/policy-and-regulations-alcohol
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2019). *Hospital Stays for Harm Caused by Substance Use Among Youth Age 10 to 24*. CIHI.

https://www.cihi.ca/sites/default/files/document/hsu-youth-report-2019-en-web.pdf

- Chilenski, S. M., & Greenberg, M. T. (2009). The Importance of the Community Context in the Epidemiology of Early Adolescent Substance Use and Delinquency in a Rural Sample. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 44(3–4), 287–301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-009-9258-4
- Clark, D. B., Kirisci, L., & Tarter, R. E. (1998). Adolescent versus adult onset and the development of substance use disorders in males. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 49(2), 115–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0376-8716(97)00154-3
- Community Health Nurses' Initiatives Group School Health Committee. (2015). *Evidence for School Public Health Nurses*. http://www.ontariohealthyschools.com/uploads/2/1/7/6/21766954/evidence-schoolphns.pdf
- Cottrell, L., Northrup, K., & Wittberg, R. (2017). Challenges and Lessons Learned From a Prevention Research Center Partnership. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 52(3), S255–S257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.08.016
- Cousins JM, Langer SM, Rhew LK, Thomas C, Cousins, J. M., Langer, S. M., Rhew, L. K., & Thomas, C. (2011). The role of state health departments in supporting community-based obesity prevention. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 8(4), A87–A87.
- Dielman, T. E., Butchart, A. T., Shope, J. T., & Miller, M. (1991). Environmental Correlates of Adolescent Substance Use and Misuse: Implications for Prevention Programs. *International Journal of the Addictions*, 25(sup7), 855–878. https://doi.org/10.3109/10826089109071027
- Dubé, E., Gagnon, D., Clément, P., Bettinger, J. A., Comeau, J. L., Deeks, S., Guay, M.,
 MacDonald, S., MacDonald, N. E., Mijovic, H., Paragg, J., Rubincam, C., Sauvageau,
 C., Steenbeck, A., & Wilson, S. (2019). Challenges and opportunities of school-based
 HPV vaccination in Canada. *Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics*, *15*(7–8), 1650–
 1655. https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2018.1564440
- Dwyer, J. B., McQuown, S. C., & Leslie, F. M. (2009). The dynamic effects of nicotine on the developing brain. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 122(2), 125–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2009.02.003

- E, B., MiticWayne, LeadbeaterBonnie, & K, D. (2009). Risk and Protective Factors for Adolescent Substance Use and Mental Health Symptoms. *Canadian Journal of Community Mental Health*. https://doi.org/10.7870/cjcmh-2009-0002
- Elgar, F. J., Roberts, C., Parry-Langdon, N., & Boyce, W. (2005). Income inequality and alcohol use: A multilevel analysis of drinking and drunkenness in adolescents in 34 countries. *European Journal of Public Health*, 15(3), 245–250.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/cki093
- Ennett, S. T., Ringwalt, C. L., Thorne, J., Rohrbach, L. A., Vincus, A., Simons-Rudolph, A., & Jones, S. (2002). A Comparison of Current Practice in School-Based Substance Use Prevention Programs with Meta-Analysis Findings. *Prevention Science*, 14.
- Erwin, P. C., Greene, S. B., Mays, G. P., Ricketts, T. C., & Davis, M. V. (2011). The Association of Changes in Local Health Department Resources With Changes in State-Level Health Outcomes. *American Journal of Public Health*, 101(4), 609–615. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.177451
- Erwin, P. C., Mays, G. P., & Riley, W. J. (2012). Resources That May Matter: The Impact of Local Health Department Expenditures on Health Status. *Public Health Reports*, 127(1), 89–95. https://doi.org/10.1177/003335491212700110
- Evaluating the Quality of Medical Care—DONABEDIAN 2005—The Milbank Quarterly— Wiley Online Library. (n.d.). Retrieved April 25, 2023.
- Fagan, A. A., Wright, E. M., & Pinchevsky, G. M. (2014). The Protective Effects of Neighborhood Collective Efficacy on Adolescent Substance Use and Violence Following Exposure to Violence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 43(9), 1498–1512. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-013-0049-8
- Fagan, A. A., Wright, E. M., & Pinchevsky, G. M. (2015). A multi-level analysis of the impact of neighborhood structural and social factors on adolescent substance use. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 153, 180–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2015.05.022
- Faggiano, F., Minozzi, S., Versino, E., & Buscemi, D. (2014). Universal school-based prevention for illicit drug use. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2014(12), CD003020. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD003020.pub3

- Feinstein, E. C., Richter, L., & Foster, S. E. (2012). Addressing the Critical Health Problem of Adolescent Substance Use Through Health Care, Research, and Public Policy. *Journal* of Adolescent Health, 50(5), 431–436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2011.12.033
- Feldstein Ewing, S. W., Sakhardande, A., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2014). The effect of alcohol consumption on the adolescent brain: A systematic review of MRI and fMRI studies of alcohol-using youth. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, 5, 420–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2014.06.011
- Felner, J. K., & Calzo, J. P. (2023). Housing status as a social determinant of disparities in adolescent smoking, vaping, and dual use of cigarettes and e-cigarettes. *Addictive Behaviors*, 141, 107631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2023.107631
- Fenno, J. G. (2016). Prince Albert youth drug and alcohol use: A comparison study of Prince Albert, Saskatchewan, and Canada youth. *Journal of Community Safety and Well-Being*, 1(3), 61. https://doi.org/10.35502/jcswb.18
- Flannery, D. J., Vazsonyi, A. T., Torquati, J., & Fridrich, A. (1994). Ethnic and gender differences in risk for early adolescent substance use. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 23(2), 195–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01537445
- Friebel, R., Yoo, K. J., & Maynou, L. (2021). Opioid abuse and austerity: Evidence on health service use and mortality in England. *Social Science & Medicine*, 1, 114511. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114511
- Furlong, M. J., O'brennan, L. M., & You, S. (2011). Psychometric properties of the Add Health School Connectedness Scale for 18 sociocultural groups. *Psychology in the Schools*, 48(10), 986–997. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20609
- Gakh, M., Coughenour, C., Assoumou, B. O., & Vanderstelt, M. (2020). The Relationship between School Absenteeism and Substance Use: An Integrative Literature Review. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 55(3), 491–502. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2019.1686021
- Gallet, C. A. (2017). The Impact of Public Health Spending on California STD Rates. International Advances in Economic Research, 23(2), 149–159. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11294-017-9631-2

- Gargano, L., Mason, M. K., & Northridge, M. E. (2019). Advancing Oral Health Equity Through School-Based Oral Health Programs: An Ecological Model and Review. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 7. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00359
- Government of Alberta. (n.d.). *The CSH Framework*. Healthier Together. Retrieved September 1, 2023, from https://schools.healthiertogether.ca/en/learn/the-csh-framework/
- Government of British Columbia. (n.d.-a). *About B.C.'s Health Care System*. Retrieved September 1, 2022, from https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/health/about-bc-s-healthcare-system
- Government of British Columbia. (n.d.-b). *B.C.'s Integrated Child & Youth Teams*. Retrieved February 5, 2023, from https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/about-the-bcgovernment/mental-health-and-addictions-strategy/integrated-child-youth-teams

Government of Canada. (2021). *Cannabis Legalization and Regulation*. https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/cj-jp/cannabis/

- Government of Canada. (2022, October 12). *Programs and Initiatives: School Health*. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/health-promotion/childhoodadolescence/programs-initiatives/school-health.html
- Government of Canada, I. (2015, May 28). Forward Sortation Area—Definition [Glossaries; Maps]. Innovation, Science and Economic Development Canada. https://isedisde.canada.ca/site/office-superintendent-bankruptcy/en/statistics-and-research/forwardsortation-area-fsa-and-north-american-industry-classification-naics-reports/forwardsortation-area-definition
- Government of Ontario: Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. (2018). *Relationship with Indigenous Communities Guideline, 2018*. Government of Ontario. https://health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/docs/protocols_gui delines/Relationship_with_Indigenous_Communities_Guideline_en.pdf
- Gray, J., & Dickson, J. (2019, August 19). Doug Ford announces that cuts to municipal public health and childcare programs will go ahead. *The Globe and Mail*. https://www.theglobeandmail.com/politics/article-doug-ford-announces-that-cuts-tomunicipal-public-health-and-childcare/

- Grembowski, D., Bekemeier, B., Conrad, D., & Kreuter, W. (2010). Are local health department expenditures related to racial disparities in mortality? *Social Science & Medicine*, 71(12), 2057–2065. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.09.004
- Griffin, K. W., Bang, H., & Botvin, G. J. (2010). Age of alcohol and marijuana use onset predicts weekly substance use and related psychosocial problems during young adulthood. *Journal of Substance Use*, 15(3), 174–183. https://doi.org/10.3109/14659890903013109
- Griffin, K. W., & Botvin, G. J. (2010). Evidence-Based Interventions for Preventing Substance Use Disorders in Adolescents. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 19(3), 505–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chc.2010.03.005
- Gross, C. P., Soffer, B., Bach, P., B., Rajkumar, R., & Forman, H. P. (2002). State Expenditures for Tobacco-Control Programs and the Tobacco Settlement. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 347(14), 7.
- Gustafson, E. M. (2005). History and overview of school-based health centers in the US. The Nursing Clinics of North America, 40(4), 595–606, vii. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnur.2005.08.001
- Harvey, A., Faulkner, G., Giangregorio, L., & Leatherdale, S. T. (2017). An examination of school- and student-level characteristics associated with the likelihood of students' meeting the Canadian physical activity guidelines in the COMPASS study. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 108(4), 348–354. https://doi.org/10.17269/CJPH.108.5925
- Health Canada. (2015). Canadian Tobacco Alcohol and Drugs (CTADS): 2013 summary. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-alcohol-drugs-survey/2013summary.html
- Health Canada. (2020). Canadian Tobacco and Nicotine Survey (CTNS): Summary of results for 2019. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-tobacco-nicotinesurvey/2019-summary.html
- Health Canada. (2021). Canadian Alcohol and Drugs Survey (CADS): Summary of results for 2019. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-alcohol-drugssurvey/2019-summary.html#a4
- Health Canada. (2022a). *Substance use*. https://www.canada.ca/en/healthcanada/services/substance-use.html

- Health Canada. (2022b). *Substance Use Spectrum*. https://www.canada.ca/en/healthcanada/services/publications/healthy-living/substance-use-spectrum-infographic.html
- Health Canada. (2018, October 30). *Canadian Tobacco, Alcohol and Drugs (CTADS) Survey:* 2017 detailed tables [Surveys]. https://www.canada.ca/en/healthcanada/services/canadian-alcohol-drugs-survey/2017-summary/2017-detailedtables.html
- Healthy Schools BC. (n.d.). *About: Healthy Schools BC*. Retrieved September 1, 2022, from https://healthyschoolsbc.ca/about/healthy-schools-bc/
- Henkel, D., & Zemlin, U. (2016). Social Inequality and Substance Use and Problematic
 Gambling Among Adolescents and Young Adults: A Review of Epidemiological Surveys
 in Germany. *Current Drug Abuse Reviews*, 9(1), 26–48.
- Hodder, R. K., Freund, M., Wolfenden, L., Bowman, J., Nepal, S., Dray, J., Kingsland, M.,
 Yoong, S. L., & Wiggers, J. (2017). Systematic review of universal school-based
 'resilience' interventions targeting adolescent tobacco, alcohol or illicit substance use: A
 meta-analysis. *Preventive Medicine*, 100, 248–268.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.04.003
- Hser, Y.-I., Longshore, D., & Anglin, M. D. (2007). The Life Course Perspective on Drug Use: A Conceptual Framework for Understanding Drug Use Trajectories. *Evaluation Review*, 31(6), 515–547. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193841X07307316
- Hu, B., & Mendoza, R. U. (2013). Public Health Spending, Governance and Child Health Outcomes: Revisiting the Links. *Journal of Human Development and Capabilities*, 14(2), 285–311. https://doi.org/10.1080/19452829.2013.765392
- Hughes, K., Bellis, M. A., Hardcastle, K. A., Sethi, D., Butchart, A., Mikton, C., Jones, L., & Dunne, M. P. (2017). The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Public Health*, *2*(8), e356–e366. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30118-4
- Hunter, S., Leatherdale, S. T., Storey, K., & Carson, V. (2016). A quasi-experimental examination of how school-based physical activity changes impact secondary school student moderate- to vigorous- intensity physical activity over time in the COMPASS study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 13(1), 86. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-016-0411-9

- Hyshka, E. (2013). Applying a social determinants of health perspective to early adolescent cannabis use – An overview. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, 20(2), 110–119. https://doi.org/10.3109/09687637.2012.752434
- Jackson, A. L., Browning, C. R., Krivo, L. J., Kwan, M.-P., & Washington, H. M. (2016). The Role of Immigrant Concentration Within and Beyond Residential Neighborhoods in Adolescent Alcohol Use. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 45(1), 17–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-015-0333-x
- Johnson, J. L., Greaves, L., & Repta, R. (2009). Better science with sex and gender: Facilitating the use of a sex and gender-based analysis in health research. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 8(1), 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-9276-8-14
- Joint Consortium for School Health. (2014). *Healthy School Planner*. http://healthyschoolplanner.com/
- Kentikelenis, A. E. (2017). Structural adjustment and health: A conceptual framework and evidence on pathways. *Social Science & Medicine*, 187, 296–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.02.021
- Kia-Keating, M., Dowdy, E., Morgan, M. L., & Noam, G. G. (2011). Protecting and Promoting: An Integrative Conceptual Model for Healthy Development of Adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 48(3), 220–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2010.08.006
- Kiernan, B., Alonis, A., Diala, J. A., Willard-Grace, R., Welty, S., White, K., Dorian, A., Dunn, C., Peare, A., Westfall, M., Shodahl, S., & Brickley, D. B. (2022). Virtual Trainings Effectively Prepared the Public Health Workforce to Support Schools During the COVID-19 Pandemic in California in 2021. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, 28(6), 720–727. https://doi.org/10.1097/PHH.000000000001535
- Klein, D. E., Chaiton, M., Kundu, A., & Schwartz, R. (2020). A Literature Review on International E-cigarette Regulatory Policies. *Current Addiction Reports*, 7(4), 509–519. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40429-020-00332-w
- Kulis, S., Marsiglia, F. F., Sicotte, D., & Nieri, T. (2007). Neighborhood Effects on Youth Substance Use in a Southwestern City. *Sociological Perspectives*, 50(2), 273–301. https://doi.org/10.1525/sop.2007.50.2.273
- Kulis, S., Nieri, T., Yabiku, S., Stromwall, L. K., & Marsiglia, F. F. (2007). Promoting Reduced and Discontinued Substance Use among Adolescent Substance Users: Effectiveness of a

Universal Prevention Program. *Prevention Science*, 8(1), 35–49. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-006-0052-3

- Kunz, D. J., Manno, M. S., Ruffatti, D. M., Blohm, S. L., Wuerger, A. A., Keegan, A. J., & Karras, S. L. (2022). Collaboration Between a School Nurse Task Force and the Local Health Department in Illinois: Development of a COVID-19 Toolkit. *NASN School Nurse*, 37(1), 36–40. https://doi.org/10.1177/1942602X211015298
- Lamba, S., Wolfson, C., Cardona, C., Alfonso, Y. N., Gemmill, A., Resnick, B., Leider, J. P., McCullough, J. M., & Bishai, D. (2022). Past local government health spending was not correlated with COVID-19 control in US counties. SSM - Population Health, 1, 101027. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2022.101027
- Lambert, S. F., Brown, T. L., Phillips, C. M., & Ialongo, N. S. (2004). The Relationship Between Perceptions of Neighborhood Characteristics and Substance Use Among Urban African American Adolescents. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 34(3), 205–218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-004-7415-3
- Leatherdale, S. T., Brown, K. S., Carson, V., Childs, R. A., Dubin, J. A., Elliott, S. J., Faulkner, G., Hammond, D., Manske, S., Sabiston, C. M., Laxer, R. E., Bredin, C., & Thompson-Haile, A. (2014). The COMPASS study: A longitudinal hierarchical research platform for evaluating natural experiments related to changes in school-level programs, policies and built environment resources. *BMC Public Health*, *14*(1), 331. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-331
- Lee, N. K., Cameron, J., Battams, S., & Roche, A. (2016). What works in school-based alcohol education: A systematic review. *Health Education Journal*, 75(7), 780–798. https://doi.org/10.1177/0017896915612227
- Li, K., Simons-Morton, B. G., & Hingson, R. (2013, October 9). Impaired-Driving Prevalence Among US High School Students: Associations With Substance Use and Risky Driving Behaviors (world). American Public Health Association. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301296
- Liu, D., Mason, A., Marks, L., Davis, H., Hunter, D. J., Jehu, L. M., Smithson, J., & Visram, S. (2019). Effects of local authority expenditure on childhood obesity. *European Journal of Public Health*, 29(4), 785–790. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/cky252

- Liu, J., Gaiha, S. M., & Halpern-Felsher, B. (2022). School-based programs to prevent adolescent e-cigarette use: A report card. *Current Problems in Pediatric and Adolescent Health Care*, 52(6), 101204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cppeds.2022.101204
- Liu, T., & Dutton, D. J. (2020). With great inequality comes great responsibility: The role of government spending on population health in the presence of changing income distributions. *Canadian Journal of Public Health = Revue Canadienne de Santé Publique*, 112(2), 199–209. https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-020-00407-1
- Ljubotina, D., Galić, J., & Jukić, V. (2004). Prevalence and Risk Factors of Substance Use among Urban Adolescents: Questionnaire Study. *Croatian Medical Journal*, 45, 88–98.
- Maas, C. J. M., & Hox, J. J. (2005). Sufficient Sample Sizes for Multilevel Modeling. *Methodology*, 1(3), 86–92. https://doi.org/10.1027/1614-2241.1.3.86
- Marmot, M., Friel, S., Bell, R., Houweling, T. A. J., Taylor, S., & Commission on Social Determinants of Health. (2008). Closing the gap in a generation: Health equity through action on the social determinants of health. *Lancet (London, England)*, 372(9650), 1661–1669. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61690-6
- Martin, S., Lomas, J., & Claxton, K. (2020). Is an ounce of prevention worth a pound of cure? A cross-sectional study of the impact of English public health grant on mortality and morbidity. *BMJ Open*, 10(10), e036411. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-036411
- Mason, W. A., Stevens, A. L., & Fleming, C. B. (2019). A systematic review of research on adolescent solitary alcohol and marijuana use in the United States. *Addiction (Abingdon, England)*, 115(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14697
- Matheson, F. I., Dunn, J. R., Smith, K. L. W., Moineddin, R., & Glazier, R. H. (2012).
 Development of the Canadian Marginalization Index: A New Tool for the Study of Inequality. *Canadian Journal of Public Health / Revue Canadienne de Sante'e Publique*, 103, S12–S16.
- Matheson, F. I., Moloney, G., & van Ingen, T. (2022). 2016 Ontario marginalization index: User guide. 1st revision. Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario).
- Mauer, B. J., Mason, M., & Brown, B. (2004). Application of Quality Measurement and Performance Standards to Public Health Systems: Washington State's Approach. *Journal* of Public Health Management and Practice, 10(4), 330–337.

- Mays, G. P., McHugh, M. C., Shim, K., Lenaway, D., Halverson, P. K., Moonesinghe, R., & Honoré, P. (2004). Getting What You Pay For: Public Health Spending and the Performance of Essential Public Health Services. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, 10(5), 435–443. https://doi.org/10.1097/00124784-200409000-00011
- Mays, G. P., McHugh, M. C., Shim, K., Perry, N., Lenaway, D., Halverson, P. K., & Moonesinghe, R. (2006). Institutional and Economic Determinants of Public Health System Performance. *American Journal of Public Health*, 96(3), 523–531. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2005.064253
- Mays, G. P., & Smith, S. A. (2009). Geographic Variation in Public Health Spending: Correlates and Consequences. *Health Services Research*, 44(5p2), 1796–1817. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6773.2009.01014.x
- Mays, G. P., & Smith, S. A. (2011). Evidence Links Increases In Public Health Spending To Declines In Preventable Deaths. *Health Affairs*, 30(8), 1585–1593. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2011.0196
- McBride, D. C., Terry-McElrath, Y. M., VanderWaal, C. J., Chriqui, J. F., & Myllyluoma, J. (2008). US Public Health Agency involvement in youth-focused illicit drug policy, planning, and prevention at the local level, 1999-2003. *American Journal of Public Health*, 98(2), 270–277. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2007.112524
- McCann, H., Moore, M. J., Barr, E. M., & Wilson, K. (2021). Sexual Health Services in Schools: A Successful Community Collaborative. *Health Promotion Practice*, 22(3), 349–357. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839919894303
- McCullough, J. M., & Leider, J. P. (2016). Government Spending In Health And Nonhealth Sectors Associated With Improvement In County Health Rankings. *Health Affairs*, 35(11), 2037–2043. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0708
- McCullough, J. M., & Leider, J. P. (2017). Associations Between County Wealth, Health and Social Services Spending, and Health Outcomes. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 53(5), 592–598. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2017.05.005
- McLaughlin, M., & Rank, M. R. (2018). Impact of federal transfers upon US infant mortality rates: A secondary analysis using a fixed effects regression approach. *BMJ Open*, 8(9), e021533. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-021533

- McLeroy, K. R., Bibeau, D., Steckler, A., & Glanz, K. (1988). An Ecological Perspective on Health Promotion Programs. *Health Education Quarterly*, 15(4), 351–377. https://doi.org/10.1177/109019818801500401
- McNeely, C. A., Nonnemaker, J. M., & Blum, R. W. (2002). Promoting School Connectedness: Evidence from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. *Journal of School Health*, 72(4), 138–146. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.2002.tb06533.x
- Meyer, A.-M., Davis, M., & Mays, G. P. (2012). Defining Organizational Capacity for Public Health Services and Systems Research. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, 18(6), 535–544. https://doi.org/10.1097/PHH.0b013e31825ce928
- Moskalewicz, J., Dąbrowska, K., Herold, M. D., Baccaria, F., Rolando, S., Herring, R., Thom,
 B., Kahlert, R., Stummvoll, G., Moazen, B., Stöver, H., & Pisarska, A. (2021).
 Unintended consequences of drug policies experienced by young drug users in contact
 with the criminal justice systems. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, 28(1), 36–47. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687637.2020.1823944
- Mowat, D. L., Boufford, J., Butt, J., Chartrand, G., Hewitt, P., Holt, A. M., MacPherson, S.,
 Pinto, A., Reycraft, D., Roumeliotis, P., St. John, C., Timmings, C., & West, D. (2013).
 Public Health Funding Model for Mandatory Programs: The Final Report of the
 Funding Review Working Group.
- Nilsson, T., Allebeck, P., Leifman, H., Andréasson, S., Norström, T., & Guldbrandsson, K. (2018). Effects on Alcohol Consumption and Alcohol Related Harm of a Community-Based Prevention Intervention With National Support in Sweden. Substance Use & Misuse, 53(3), 412–419. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2017.1334063
- O'brien, L. M., Polacsek, M., MacDonald, P. B., Ellis, J., Berry, S., & Martin, M. (2010). Impact of a School Health Coordinator Intervention on Health-Related School Policies and Student Behavior. *Journal of School Health*, 80(4), 176–185. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.2009.00484.x
- Olivia Reszczynski, John Connolly, Kaitlyn Shultz, Sheila Kelly, Nandita Mitra, Jeffrey Hom, Atheendar Venkataramani, & Krisda H. Chaiyachati. (2022). US local public health department spending between 2008 and 2016 did not increase for communities in need. BMC Health Services Research, 22(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-022-07613-2

- Ontario Healthy Schools Coalition. (n.d.). Ontario Healthy Schools Coalition. Retrieved September 1, 2022, from http://www.ontariohealthyschools.com/about-ohsc.html
- *Ontario Marginalization Index (ON-Marg)* | *Public Health Ontario*. (n.d.). Retrieved April 25, 2023, from https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/data-and-analysis/health-equity/ontario-marginalization-index
- Orpana, H., Giesbrecht, N., Hajee, A., & Kaplan, M. S. (2021). Alcohol and other drugs in suicide in Canada: Opportunities to support prevention through enhanced monitoring. *Injury Prevention*, 27(2), 194–200. https://doi.org/10.1136/injuryprev-2019-043504
- Pabayo, R., Cook, D. M., Farmer, G., & Molnar, B. E. (2021). Neighborhood income inequality and alcohol use among adolescents in Boston, Massachusetts. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 18(16), 8484. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18168484
- Pabayo, R., Kawachi, I., & Gilman, S. E. (2014). Income inequality among American states and the incidence of major depression. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 68(2), 110–115. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2013-203093
- Pabayo, R., Kawachi, I., & Gilman, S. E. (2015). US State-level income inequality and risks of heart attack and coronary risk behaviors: Longitudinal findings. *International Journal of Public Health*, 60(5), 573–588. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-015-0678-7
- Pan-Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health. (n.d.). *What is Comprehensive School Health?* Retrieved September 1, 2022, from https://www.jcshcces.ca/en/concepts/comprehensive-school-health/
- Paton, D., & Wright, L. (2017). The effect of spending cuts on teen pregnancy. *Journal of Health Economics*, 54, 135–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2017.05.002
- Patrick, M. E., & Schulenberg, J. E. (2014). Prevalence and Predictors of Adolescent Alcohol Use and Binge Drinking in the United States. *Alcohol Research : Current Reviews*, 35(2), 193–200.
- Perman, S., Turner, S., Ramsay, A. I. G., Baim-Lance, A., Utley, M., & Fulop, N. J. (2017). School-based vaccination programmes: A systematic review of the evidence on organisation and delivery in high income countries. *BMC Public Health*, 17(1), 252. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4168-0

Profiles of Public Health Systems in Canada: Alberta. (2022). Health Systems.

Profiles of Public Health Systems in Canada: British Columbia. (2022). Health Systems.

Profiles of Public Health Systems in Canada: Ontario. (2021). Health Systems, 32.

- Province of British Columbia. (08/11/20233). *Indigenous Health*. Province of British Columbia. https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/indigenous-people/supporting-communities/health
- Province of Ontario: Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. (n.d.). *School Health Guideline,* 2018. Retrieved September 1, 2023, from https://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/docs/protocol
 - s_guidelines/School_Health_Guideline_2018.pdf
- Public Health Ontario. (2021). Ontario Public Health Standards: Requirements for Programs, Services and Accountability. Government of Ontario.
- Public Health Units. (n.d.). Association of Local Public Health Agencies. Retrieved September 1, 2022, from https://www.alphaweb.org/page/PHU
- Quon, E. C., & McGrath, J. J. (2015). Province-Level Income Inequality and Health Outcomes in Canadian Adolescents. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 40(2), 251–261. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsu089
- Rajkumar, A. S., & Swaroop, V. (2008). Public spending and outcomes: Does governance matter? *Journal of Development Economics*, 86(1), 96–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2007.08.003
- Ransom, J., Schaff, K., & Kan, L. (2012). Is There an Association Between Local Health Department Organizational and Administrative Factors and Childhood Immunization Coverage Rates? *Journal of Health and Human Services Administration*, 34(4), 418– 455.
- Raphael, D. (2003). Barriers to addressing the societal determinants of health: Public health units and poverty in Ontario, Canada*. *Health Promotion International*, 18(4), 397–405. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dag411
- Raphael, D. (2006). Social Determinants of Health: Present Status, Unanswered Questions, and Future Directions. *International Journal of Health Services*, 36(4), 651–677. https://doi.org/10.2190/3MW4-1EK3-DGRQ-2CRF

- Raphael, D. (2016). Social determinants of health: Canadian perspectives (University of Alberta JW Scott Health Sciences RA 418 S633 2016; Third edition.). Canadian Scholars' Press Inc.
- Raphael, D., Brassolotto, J., & Baldeo, N. (2015). Ideological and organizational components of differing public health strategies for addressing the social determinants of health. *Health Promotion International*, 30(4), 855–867. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dau022
- Raphael, D., Bryant, T., Mikkonen, J., & Alexander, R. (2020). Social determinants of health: The Canadian facts (Second edition). Ontario Tech University Faculty of Health Sciences and Toronto: York University School of Health Policy and Management.
- Raudenbush, S. W., & Bryk, A. S. (n.d.). Applications and Data Analysis Methods.
- Reel, B., Bredin, C., & Leatherdale, S. T. (2018). Compass year 5 and 6 School Recruitment and Retention (5(1); Technical Report Series). University of Waterloo. https://uwaterloo.ca/compass-system/publications/compass-year-5-and-6-schoolrecruitment-and-retention
- Reininger BM, Evans AE, Griffin SF, Sanderson M, Vincent ML, Valois RF, & Parra-Medina D. (2005). Predicting adolescent risk behaviors based on an ecological framework and assets. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 29(2), 150–161. https://doi.org/10.5993/ajhb.29.2.6
- Ritchwood, T. D., Ford, H., DeCoster, J., Sutton, M., & Lochman, J. E. (2015). Risky sexual behavior and substance use among adolescents: A meta-analysis. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 52, 74–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2015.03.005
- Robertson, L., Skelly, C., & Phillips, D. (2019). Making Hard Choices in Local Public Health Spending With a Cost-Benefit Analysis Approach. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 7. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00147
- Roche, K. M., Ahmed, S., & Blum, R. W. (2008). Enduring consequences of parenting for risk behaviors from adolescence into early adulthood. *Social Science & Medicine*, 66(9), 2023–2034. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.01.009
- Schenck, A. P., Meyer, A. M., Kuo, T.-M., & Cilenti, D. (2015). Building the Evidence for Decision-Making: The Relationship Between Local Public Health Capacity and Community Mortality. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105(S2), S211–S216. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302500

- Schulte, M. T., & Hser, Y.-I. (2013). Substance Use and Associated Health Conditions throughout the Lifespan. *Public Health Reviews*, 35(2), 3. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03391702
- Singh, S. R. (2014). Public Health Spending and Population Health. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 47(5), 634–640. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2014.05.017
- Sipsma, H. L., Canavan, M., Gilliam, M., & Bradley, E. (2017). Impact of social service and public health spending on teenage birth rates across the USA: An ecological study. *BMJ Open*, 7(5), e013601. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013601
- Small, E., Suzuki, R., & Maleku, A. (2014). The Impact of Family and Parental Education on Adolescents' Substance Use: A Study of U.S. High School Seniors. *Social Work in Public Health*, 29(6), 594–605. https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2014.893855
- Squeglia, L. M., Jacobus, J., & Tapert, S. F. (2009). The Influence of Substance Use on Adolescent Brain Development. *Clinical EEG and Neuroscience*, 40(1), 31–38. https://doi.org/10.1177/155005940904000110
- Squeglia, L. M., Jacobus, J., & Tapert, S. F. (2014). The effect of alcohol use on human adolescent brain structures and systems. In *Handbook of Clinical Neurology* (Vol. 125, pp. 501–510). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-62619-6.00028-8
- Statistics Canada. (n.d.). *Table 13-10-0394-01 Leading causes of death, total population, by age group*. https://doi.org/10.25318/1310039401-eng
- Statistics Canada. (2019, June 25). *Heavy Drinking*, 2018. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-625-x/2019001/article/00007-eng.htm
- Stuckler, D., Reeves, A., Loopstra, R., Karanikolos, M., & McKee, M. (2017). Austerity and health: The impact in the UK and Europe. *European Journal of Public Health*, 27(suppl_4), 18–21. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckx167
- Su, J., Supple, A. J., & Kuo, S. I.-C. (2018). The Role of Individual and Contextual Factors in Differentiating Substance Use Profiles among Adolescents. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 53(5), 734–743. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2017.1363237
- Szucs, L. E., Barrios, L. C., Young, E., Robin, L., Hunt, P., & Jayne, P. E. (2022). The CDC's Division of Adolescent and School Health Approach to Sexual Health Education in Schools: 3 Decades in Review*. *Journal of School Health*, 92(2), 223–234. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.13115

- Tauras, J. A., Chaloupka, F. J., Farrelly, M. C., Giovino, G. A., Wakefield, M., Johnston, L. D., O'Malley, P. M., Kloska, D. D., & Pechacek, T. F. (2005). State Tobacco Control Spending and Youth Smoking. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(2), 338–344. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2004.039727
- Teutsch, S. M., & Fielding, J. (2016). Economics and Local Public Health Departments. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 50(5), S81–S83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2015.10.011
- Degenhardt, L., Stockings, E., Patton, G., Hall, W. D., & Lynskey, M. (2016). The increasing global health priority of substance use in young people. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 3(3), 251-264. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00508-8.
- Thomas, R. E., McLellan, J., & Perera, R. (2015). Effectiveness of school-based smoking prevention curricula: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open*, 5(3), e006976. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006976
- Thompson-Haile, A., Bredin, C., & Leatherdale, S. T. (2013). *Rationale for using activeinformation passive-consent permission protocol in COMPASS* (1(6)). University of Waterloo. https://uwaterloo.ca/compass-system/publications/rationale-using-activeinformation-passive-consent
- Tremblay, M., Baydala, L., Khan, M., Currie, C., Morley, K., Burkholder, C., Davidson, R., & Stillar, A. (2020). Primary Substance Use Prevention Programs for Children and Youth: A Systematic Review. *Pediatrics*, 146(3), e20192747. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-2747
- Tucker, J. S., Pollard, M. S., De La Haye, K., Kennedy, D. P., & Green, H. D. (2013).
 Neighborhood characteristics and the initiation of marijuana use and binge drinking. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 128(1–2), 83–89.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2012.08.006
- VanderWaal, C. J., McBride, D. C., Terry-McElrath, Y. M., & Bishop, R. M. (2006). The Role of Public Health Agencies in Providing Access to Adolescent Drug Treatment Services. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 39(6), 916–924. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2006.06.011
- Vermeer, J., Battista, K., & Leatherdale, S. T. (2021). Examining Engagement With Public Health in the Implementation of School-Based Health Initiatives: Findings From the

COMPASS Study. *Journal of School Health*, *91*(10), 825–835. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.13072

- Veugelers, P. J., & Schwartz, M. E. (2010). Comprehensive School Health in Canada. Canadian Journal of Public Health, 101(2), S5–S8. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03405617
- Viner, R. M., Ozer, E. M., Denny, S., Marmot, M., Resnick, M., Fatusi, A., & Currie, C. (2012). Adolescence and the social determinants of health. *The Lancet*, 379(9826), 1641–1652. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60149-4
- Viner, R. M., Ross, D., Hardy, R., Kuh, D., Power, C., Johnson, A., Wellings, K., McCambridge, J., Cole, T. J., Kelly, Y., & Batty, G. D. (2015). Life course epidemiology: Recognising the importance of adolescence. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 69(8), 719–720. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2014-205300
- Vrati M. Mehra, Asvini Keethakumar, Yvonne M. Bohr, Peri Abdullah, & Hala Tamim. (2019). The association between alcohol, marijuana, illegal drug use and current use of Ecigarette among youth and young adults in Canada: Results from Canadian Tobacco, Alcohol and Drugs Survey 2017. *BMC Public Health*, *19*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-7546-y
- Wang, G., & Wu, L. (2020). Healthy People 2020: Social Determinants of Cigarette Smoking and Electronic Cigarette Smoking among Youth in the United States 2010–2018. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(20), 7503. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17207503
- Wang, L. Y., Peterson, A., Li, J., Coleman, K., & Dunville, R. (2021). Cost-Effectiveness Analysis of Michigan's School-Wide Sexually Transmitted Disease Screening Program in Four Detroit High Schools. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 69(6), 957–963. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2021.05.014
- Weatherson, K. A., O'Neill, M., Lau, E. Y., Qian, W., Leatherdale, S. T., & Faulkner, G. E. J. (2018). The Protective Effects of School Connectedness on Substance Use and Physical Activity. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 63(6), 724–731. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2018.07.002
- White, P., Skirrow, H., George, A., & Memon, A. (2018). A systematic review of economic evaluations of local authority commissioned preventative public health interventions in overweight and obesity, physical inactivity, alcohol and illicit drugs use and smoking

cessation in the United Kingdom. *Journal of Public Health*, 40(4), e521–e530. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdy026

- WHO. (n.d.). Public health services. Retrieved January 28, 2022, from https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/Health-systems/public-health-services/public-health-services
- Wilcox, P. (2003). An ecological approach to understanding youth smoking trajectories: Problems and prospects. *Addiction*, 98(s1), 57–77. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.98.s1.5.x
- Wilkins, N. J., Rasberry, C., Liddon, N., Szucs, L. E., Johns, M., Leonard, S., Goss, S. J., & Oglesby, H. (2022). Addressing HIV/Sexually Transmitted Diseases and Pregnancy Prevention Through Schools: An Approach for Strengthening Education, Health Services, and School Environments That Promote Adolescent Sexual Health and Well-Being. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 70(4), 540–549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2021.05.017
- Williams, A. M., Kreisel, K., & Chesson, H. W. (2019). Impacts of Federal Prevention Funding on Reported Gonorrhea and Chlamydia Rates. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 56(3), 352–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2018.09.012
- Williams, G. C., Burns, K. E., Battista, K., de Groh, M., Jiang, Y., & Leatherdale, S. T. (2020).
 High school sport participation and substance use: A cross-sectional analysis of students from the COMPASS study. *Addictive Behaviors Reports*, *12*, 100298.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abrep.2020.100298
- Williams, G. C., Burns, K. E., Battista, K., de Groh, M., Jiang, Y., & Leatherdale, S. T. (2021).
 High School Intramural Participation and Substance Use: A Longitudinal Analysis of COMPASS Data. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 56(8), 1108–1118.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2021.1901932
- Wong, S. L., Shields, M., Leatherdale, S., Malaison, E., & Hammond, D. (2012). Assessment of validity of self-reported smoking status. *Health Reports*, 23(1), 47–53.
- World Health Organization. (n.d.). *Social determinants of health*. Retrieved April 25, 2023, from https://www.who.int/health-topics/social-determinants-of-health#tab=tab_1
- World Health Organization. (1986). *Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion*. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WH-1987

- Zimmerman, D. J., & Santelli, J. S. (1998). School and Adolescent Health and Managed Care. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 14(3, Supplement 1), 60–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(97)00047-0
- Zuckermann, A. M. E., Williams, G. C., Battista, K., Jiang, Y., de Groh, M., & Leatherdale, S. T. (2020). Prevalence and correlates of youth poly-substance use in the COMPASS study. *Addictive Behaviors*, 107, 106400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106400

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Literature review on public health unit engagement in schools

In the context of collaboration with schools, the literature discusses a role for PHUs in surveillance and data collection, capacity building, program or service delivery, joint problem solving, and advocacy for policy change. Schools can benefit from understanding the incidence and prevalence of health outcomes among their student populations as this information can guide decisions on resource allocation, policy development, and public health interventions. Surveillance data are thus useful to help with planning and targeting of resources and interventions where they are needed most.⁵⁸ PHU support is especially useful given that public health surveillance activities and data interpretation are beyond the scope of responsibility for teaching staff. In Chicago, Illinois' DuPage County, the local PHU collaborated with schools to develop a system of childhood obesity surveillance whereby voluntarily submitted, secondary health data were interpreted and summarized to inform wellness policies for improved health outcomes.78 These health data, specifically BMI and blood pressure readings, were collected as part of regular, state-mandated health examination forms. For schools, collaboration with a local PHU allowed them to use the data to support context-informed policy and resource allocation. Meanwhile, for DuPage County health department, collaboration with schools likely saved the PHU time and resources in the development of a local childhood obesity surveillance system. Similarly, during the COVID-19 pandemic, McHenry County health department in Chicago and Cincinnati health department have worked with schools to monitor and control COVID-19.151,210 They tracked incident positive cases of COVID-19 and contacts of those who tested positive. Protocols for testing and reporting positive cases were also developed collaboratively.

Apart from surveillance and disease monitoring, data to inform school health policy and practice can be obtained from school-based research on intervention programs.^{52,58,59,211} In Wood County West Virginia, a partnership between the local PHU, a university research center and a local school system allowed for school-based research on the association between physical activity and academic performance using secondary data provided by the school.⁵² Study findings indicated that physical fitness was associated with higher academic performance. This suggested that investment in improved student physical activity may also improve students' academic success. New programs were subsequently introduced to improve student fitness, and

as more data became available, further research was undertaken to study the mechanisms of the observed association. School-based research informed intervention planning by the local PHU, while also evaluating those interventions to better understand their impact.

Capacity building is another way in which PHUs can support schools in promoting the health of children and youth. PHUs can increase capacity by offering material resources, human resources, and knowledge or expertise. For example, Lake County Health Department in Illinois partnered with the local school district to implement wellness programs in elementary schools.⁷⁵ Their goal was to promote health by identifying community-level social factors underlying health inequities. A School Wellness Partnership was formed, whereby the local health department's health equity team worked with school staff to identify which aspects of school health and wellbeing needed intervention, and created and implemented an action plan accordingly. For example, because childhood obesity was identified as a priority concern, an evidence-based, 5-week nutrition and physical activity program was implemented, involving numerous community members including a physician, public library staff, and parks and recreation staff. The local health department provided financial support for program implementation, as well as materials like promotional posters and activity kits for students to take home. Health department staff also provided their expertise in needs assessments, program

Similar partnerships exist in other US states. In North Carolina, a partnership between local health departments and schools was formed to address childhood obesity through funding and training for policy and environmental change.⁷⁶ In Florida's Duval County, a partnership between the local PHU and schools allowed for greater capacity, in the form of expertise and resources, to address sexual and reproductive health, especially among at-risk youth.⁵³ In West Virginia's Wood County, the health department provided schools with staffing resources as well as their expertise in community planning and program implementation for improved student physical activity.⁵² In all three cases, expertise and resources from health departments were key to health promotion and protection in schools. Importantly, these interventions were informed by the literature, or findings from school-based research such as needs assessments and stakeholder interviews.^{52,53,75}

School specialists in California, who are employees of local PHUs as well as staff redirected from state-level departments, are another example of PHUs offering staffing resources and expertise to build capacity for improved school health.⁹¹ During the COVID-19 pandemic, school specialists received training to support COVID-19 related data management, outbreak response efforts in accordance with federal and state policies, as well as communication and information dissemination, all in the context of a school setting. This partnership aimed not only to keep students healthy, but to mitigate the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on students' educational outcomes.

In addition to school specialists in California, two other examples of PHU engagement in the context of COVID-19 response are two local PHUs in Chicago and Cincinnati.^{91,151,210} In Chicago's McHenry County, the county PHU worked with school nurses to establish a School Nurse Task Force and develop a toolkit for safe school operation during the COVID-19 pandemic.¹⁵¹ Using their public health expertise, PHU staff provided up to date information to schools regarding COVID-19 and transmission control strategies, relying on pre-existing relationships between school nurses and public health nurses to convey this information. PHU staff met regularly with school nurses and other collaborators to discuss weekly case counts and disease control measures in schools. This included provision of training in contact tracing and provision of N95 masks and mask fit testing. Similar to McHenry County, the Cincinnati PHU worked with the local public school district and a local children's hospital to design and execute strategies to minimize the transmission of COVID-19 in a school setting.²¹⁰ Strategies included rapid testing, isolation and reporting of positive cases, contact tracing by school nurses and PHU epidemiologists, and regular meetings to reflect on and improve upon these infection control efforts.

Appendix B: Investigation of the pattern of public health unit engagement in schools over a three-year period

Does the consistency of public health engagement, as a variable fixed at baseline, impact the trend in adolescent substance use?

For this analysis, PHU engagement was defined by the pattern of engagement over time and modeled as a variable fixed at baseline. PHU engagement was categorized as being sustained, intermittent, or absent. Regarding alcohol and marijuana use prevention, 7 of 64 schools (11%) did not have their local PHU engaged at any time during the study period, from 2016/17 through 2018/19 whereas 21 schools (33%) had their local PHU consistently engaged during all three years. 36 schools (56%) had their local PHU engaged intermittently (1-2 years) over the study period. Regarding cigarette and e-cigarette use prevention, 5 of 58 schools (9%) did not have their local PHU engaged at any time during the study period. 25 schools (43%) had their local PHU consistently engaged all three years. 28 schools (48%) had their local PHU engaged intermittently (1-2 years) over the study period. There were 6 schools in 2017/18 that were missing data on public health engagement for tobacco/e-cigarette use.

To account for student grade but avoid its correlation with year, models investigating the fourth research question included an interaction between PHU engagement and grade, rather than PHU engagement and year. The sample was limited to students who were followed up for both years following baseline to ensure that exposure data were available all three years. When studying exposure to PHU engagement in addressing alcohol or marijuana use, the sample size was 8,600 students in 64 schools. When studying exposure to PHU engagement in addressing cigarette or e-cigarette use, the sample size was 7,609 students in 58 schools.

Results

Alcohol use

There were no significant differences in the odds of alcohol use by pattern of PHU engagement (Table B.1). Interactions between grade and pattern of PHU engagement were also non-significant, suggesting no difference, by PHU pattern of engagement, in the odds of alcohol use as students move into higher grades. The statistically non-significant odds of alcohol use among grade 12 students after adjusting for other factors and conditional on the random effect is 0.98 (95% CI: 0.51, 1.85) for those exposed to intermittent PHU engagement and 1.27 (95% CI:

0.64, 2.48) for those exposed to sustained PHU engagement compared to those exposed to no PHU engagement (Table B.6).

Alcohol binge drinking

Similar results were found for binge drinking. There were no significant differences in the odds of binge drinking by pattern of PHU engagement (Table B.2). Interactions between grade and pattern of PHU engagement were non-significant, suggesting no difference, by PHU pattern of engagement, in the odds of binge drinking as students move into higher grades. The statistically non-significant odds of binge drinking among grade 12 students after adjusting for other factors and conditional on the random effect is 1.03 (95% CI: 0.51, 2.07) for those exposed to intermittent PHU engagement and 1.13 (95% CI: 0.54, 2.39) for those exposed to sustained PHU engagement compared to those exposed to no PHU engagement (Table B.6).

Cannabis use

There were no significant differences in the odds of cannabis use by pattern of PHU engagement (Table B.3), nor were there any significant interactions with grade. The statistically non-significant odds of cannabis use among grade 12 students after adjusting for other factors and conditional on the random effect is 1.52 (95% CI: 0.79, 2.91) for those exposed to intermittent PHU engagement and 1.36 (95% CI: 0.69, 2.69) for those exposed to sustained PHU engagement compared to those exposed to no PHU engagement (Table B.6).

Cigarette use

There were no significant differences in the odds of cigarette use by pattern of PHU engagement (Table B.4), nor were there any significant interactions with grade. The statistically non-significant odds of cigarette use among grade 12 students after adjusting for other factors and conditional on the random effect is 0.54 (95% CI: 0.20, 1.46) for those exposed to intermittent PHU engagement and 0.57 (95% CI: 0.21, 1.56) for those exposed to sustained PHU engagement compared to those exposed to no PHU engagement (Table B.6).

E-cigarette use

As with the other outcomes studied here, there were no significant differences in the odds of e-cigarette use by pattern of PHU engagement (Table B.5), nor were there any significant interactions with grade. The statistically non-significant odds of e-cigarette use among grade 12 students after adjusting for other factors and conditional on the random effect is 0.74 (95% CI: 0.36, 1.52) for those exposed to intermittent PHU engagement and 0.94 (95% CI: 0.46, 1.92) for those exposed to sustained PHU engagement compared to those exposed to no PHU engagement (Table B.6).

	Past-month alcohol use		
Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Constant	0.23 (0.01, 0.04)	0.04 (0.02, 0.08)	0.06 (0.02, 0.16)
Engagement (ref: None)			
Intermittent	1.35 (0.58, 3.13)	1.28 (0.60, 2.70)	1.37 (0.65, 2.87)
Sustained	1.36 (0.57, 3.25)	1.32 (0.61, 2.86)	1.68 (0.77, 3.63)
Grade (ref: 9)			
10	5.79 (3.54, 9.48)	5.49 (3.36, 8.95)	5.47 (3.35, 8.92)
11	15.38 (9.39, 25.20)	14.52 (8.90, 23.69)	14.48 (8.87, 23.64)
12	28.19 (16.21, 49.02)	25.89 (14.95, 44.84)	25.77 (14.87, 44.64)
Engagement*grade			
Intermittent*10	0.96 (0.57, 1.64)	0.96 (0.56, 1.62)	0.96 (0.57, 1.63)
Intermittent*11	0.85 (0.50, 1.44)	0.85 (0.50, 1.450	0.86 (0.51, 1.45)
Intermittent*12	0.74 (0.41, 1.34)	0.71 (0.39, 1.29)	0.71 (0.39, 1.29)
Sustained*10	0.64 (0.38, 1.10)	0.65 (0.38, 1.11)	0.65 (0.38, 1.11)
Sustained*11	0.65 (0.38, 1.12)	0.67 (0.39, 1.14)	0.67 (0.39, 1.14)
Sustained*12	0.76 (0.41, 1.39)	0.74 (0.41, 1.36)	0.75 (0.41, 1.37)
Sex (ref: Female)			
Male		1.17 (1.02, 1.35)	1.17 (1.02, 1.34)
Race (ref: White)			
Black		0.36 (0.24, 0.56)	0.37 (0.24, 0.57)
Asian		0.19 (0.14, 0.26)	0.19 (0.14, 0.27)
Latinx		0.67 (0.42, 1.05)	0.67 (0.42, 1.06)
Other		0.65 (0.48, 0.86)	0.64 (0.48, 0.85)
Multi		0.84 (0.65, 1.08)	0.84 (0.66, 1.08)

Table B.1. Association between the longitudinal pattern of public health engagement and adolescent monthly alcohol use, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table B.1. Continued.

Variable	Past-month alcohol use		
	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Spending Money (ref: \$0)	· · · · ·	· · ·	· · · · ·
\$1-\$20		2.56 (2.10, 3.12)	2.56 (2.10, 3.12)
\$21-\$100		5.28 (4.24, 6.58)	5.27 (4.23, 6.56)
\$100+		9.63 (7.19, 12.89)	9.57 (7.14, 12.82)
Do not know		2.27 (1.78, 2.91)	2.27 (1.78, 2.90)
Connectedness		0.93 (0.91, 0.95)	0.93 (0.91, 0.95)
Median after tax			
household income (ref: 1 st			
quartile)			
2 nd quartile			0.69 (0.40, 1.19)
3 rd quartile			0.76 (0.44, 1.32)
4 th quartile			0.50 (0.26, 0.97)
Rural (ref: Urban)			
Rural			0.79 (0.47, 1.34)
School Size (ref: Small)			
Medium			0.61 (0.39, 0.94)
Large			0.54 (0.30, 0.95)
Province (ref: Ontario)			
Alberta			1.81 (0.83, 3.94)
British Columbia			0.81 (0.35, 1.87)

means public health engagement occurred for 1 or 2 of the three years. "Sustained" engagement refers to public health engagement all three years of the study period. Note: **Bold** indicates statistical significance at $p \le 0.05$

	Past-month binge drinking		
Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Constant	0.004 (0.001, 0.010)	0.008 (0.003, 0.024)	0.02 (0.01, 0.05)
Engagement (ref: None)			
Intermittent	1.45 (0.52, 4.08)	1.39 (0.53, 3.67)	1.48 (0.57, 3.84)
Sustained	1.34 (0.46, 3.89)	1.30 (0.48, 3.53)	1.78 (0.67, 4.76)
Grade (ref: 9)			
10	6.65 (3.24, 13.61)	6.33 (3.10, 12.94)	6.30 (3.08, 12.88)
11	16.76 (8.24, 34.09)	15.75 (7.77, 31.94)	15.69 (7.73, 31.84)
12	40.00 (18.65, 85.77)	35.75 (16.75, 76.31)	35.40 (16.57, 75.60)
Engagement*grade			
Intermittent*10	1.05 (0.49, 2.27)	1.02 (0.47, 2.20)	1.03 (0.48, 2.21)
Intermittent*11	1.04 (0.49, 2.23)	1.04 (0.49, 2.20)	1.04 (0.49, 2.21)
Intermittent*12	0.72 (0.32, 1.62)	0.69 (0.31, 1.55)	0.69 (0.31, 1.56)
Sustained*10	0.65 (0.30, 1.41)	0.64 (0.29, 1.39)	0.64 (0.30, 1.40)
Sustained*11	0.73 (0.34, 1.58)	0.74 (0.35, 1.59)	0.74 (0.35, 1.60)
Sustained*12	0.65 (0.28, 1.48)	0.63 (0.28, 1.43)	0.64 (0.28, 1.45)
Sex (ref: Female)			
Male		1.26 (1.08, 1.48)	1.26 (1.08, 1.47)
Race (ref: White)			
Black		0.68 (0.42, 1.11)	0.70 (0.43, 1.14)
Asian		0.26 (0.18, 0.39)	0.27 (0.19, 0.40)
Latinx		0.84 (0.50, 1.41)	0.84 (0.50, 1.41)
Other		0.87 (0.63, 1.20)	0.86 (0.62, 1.19)
Multi		0.86 (0.65, 1.13)	0.86 (0.65, 1.14)

Table B.2. Association between the longitudinal pattern of public health engagement and adolescent monthly alcohol binge drinking, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table B.2. Continued

Variable	Past-month binge drinking			
	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)	
Spending Money (ref: \$0)				
\$1-\$20		2.45 (1.93, 3.09)	2.45 (1.94, 3.10)	
\$21-\$100		4.84 (3.76, 6.22)	4.83 (3.75, 6.21)	
\$100+		9.47 (6.90, 13.00)	9.40 (6.85, 12.91)	
Do not know		2.70 (2.03, 3.58)	2.69 (2.03, 3.57)	
Connectedness		0.91 (0.89, 0.94)	0.91 (0.89, 0.94)	
Median after tax household				
income (ref: 1 st quartile)				
2 nd quartile			0.65 (0.36, 1.17)	
3 rd quartile			0.65 (0.35, 1.18)	
4 th quartile			0.32 (0.15, 0.67)	
Rural (ref: Urban)				
Rural			0.82 (0.46, 1.45)	
School Size (ref: Small)				
Medium			0.63 (0.39, 1.03)	
Large			0.62 (0.33, 1.15)	
Province (ref: Ontario)				
Alberta			3.23 (1.35, 7.69)	
British Columbia			0.76 (0.30, 1.94)	

period.

Note: **Bold** indicates statistical significance at $p \le 0.05$

Variable	Past-month cannabis use		
	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Constant	0.0006 (0.0002,0.0017)	0.04 (0.01, 0.11)	0.05 (0.02, 0.17)
Engagement (ref: None)			
Intermittent	1.36 (0.48, 3.90)	1.09 (0.41, 2.92)	1.04 (0.39, 2.77)
Sustained	0.89 (0.30, 2.64)	0.81 (0.29, 2.25)	0.81 (0.30, 2.24)
Grade (ref: 9)			
10	6.44 (2.76, 15.00)	5.40 (2.40, 12.13)	5.44 (2.42, 12.23)
11	26.32 (11.39, 60.82)	20.97 (9.45, 46.55)	21.15 (9.53, 46.95)
12	59.99 (23.94, 150.33)	42.95 (17.88, 103.19)	43.80 (18.21, 105.30)
Engagement*grade			
Intermittent*10	1.46 (0.58, 3.63)	1.53 (0.63, 3.67)	1.51 (0.63, 3.64)
Intermittent*11	0.97 (0.40, 2.37)	1.05 (0.45, 2.47)	1.04 (0.44, 2.45)
Intermittent*12	1.37 (0.52, 3.63)	1.49 (0.58, 3.79)	1.46 (0.57, 3.72)
Sustained*10	1.44 (0.56, 3.69)	1.49 (0.60, 3.67)	1.48 (0.60, 3.65)
Sustained*11	1.70 (0.68, 4.26)	1.76 (0.73, 4.25)	1.75 (0.72, 4.22)
Sustained*12	1.63 (0.60, 4.46)	1.70 (0.65, 4.46)	1.67 (0.64, 4.39)
Sex (ref: Female)			
Male		1.90 (1.56, 2.31)	1.90 (1.56, 2.30)
Race (ref: White)			
Black		1.09 (0.62, 1.91)	1.12 (0.64, 1.97)
Asian		0.26 (0.16, 0.42)	0.26 (0.16, 0.43)
Latinx		0.87 (0.45, 1.66)	0.85 (0.44, 1.62)
Other		2.27 (1.56, 3.29)	2.30 (1.58, 3.34)
Multi		1.24 (0.88, 1.74)	1.26 (0.89, 1.77)

Table B.3. Association between the longitudinal pattern of public health engagement and adolescent monthly cannabis use, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table B.3. Continued.

Variable	Past-month cannabis use		
	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Spending Money (ref: \$0)			
\$1-\$20		2.05 (1.55, 2.73)	2.07 (1.56, 2.74)
\$21-\$100		3.47 (2.56, 4.70)	3.48 (2.57, 4.72)
\$100+		5.59 (3.81, 8.22)	5.54 (3.77, 8.15)
Do not know		1.35 (0.94, 1.93)	1.35 (0.94, 1.93)
Connectedness		0.78 (0.75, 0.81)	0.78 (0.75, 0.81)
Median after tax household			
income (ref: 1 st quartile)			
2 nd quartile			1.25 (0.74, 2.10)
3 rd quartile			0.99 (0.58, 1.67)
4 th quartile			0.55 (0.29, 1.05)
Rural (ref: Urban)			
Rural			0.42 (0.25, 0.71)
School Size (ref: Small)			
Medium			0.79 (0.51, 1.23)
Large			0.84 (0.49, 1.43)
Province (ref: Ontario)			
Alberta			1.48 (0.67, 3.25)
British Columbia			1.09 (0.50, 2.36)
¹ Engagement level "None" means the engagement occurred for 1 or 2 of th	ere was no involvement by public e three years. "Sustained" engagen	health throughout the three years. "In the three years. "In the three years to public health engagement of the three years are the three years are the three years."	Intermittent" means public heat tent all three years of the study

period.

Note: **Bold** indicates statistical significance at $p \le 0.05$

	Past-month cigarette use		
Variable	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Constant	0.0011 (0.0002, 0.0052)	0.05 (0.01, 0.23)	0.18 (0.04, 0.82)
Engagement (ref: None)			
Intermittent	1.77 (0.35, 8.89)	1.28 (0.30, 5.48)	0.86 (0.22, 3.28)
Sustained	1.46 (0.29, 7.35)	1.17 (0.27, 5.02)	1.12 (0.29, 4.29)
Grade (ref: 9)			
10	2.99 (1.01, 8.88)	2.71 (0.93, 7.93)	2.68 (0.91, 7.87)
11	12.54 (4.43, 35.48)	11.10 (3.99, 30.92)	11.04 (3.95, 30.82)
12	15.10 (4.83, 47.18)	12.33 (4.03, 37.69)	12.07 (3.94, 36.98)
Engagement*grade			
Intermittent*10	1.12 (0.35, 3.60)	1.16 (0.37, 3.70)	1.16 (0.37, 3.71)
Intermittent*11	0.44 (0.14, 1.35)	0.47 (0.16, 1.42)	0.47 (0.16, 1.42)
Intermittent*12	0.58 (0.17, 2.00)	0.63 (0.19, 2.11)	0.63 (0.19, 2.12)
Sustained*10	1.02 (0.32, 3.25)	1.07 (0.34, 3.38)	1.09 (0.34, 3.44)
Sustained*11	0.45 (0.15, 1.36)	0.48 (0.16, 1.44)	0.49 (0.16, 1.46)
Sustained*12	0.46 (0.14, 1.57)	0.49 (0.15, 1.65)	0.51 (0.15, 1.70)
Sex (ref: Female)			
Male		1.72 (1.36, 2.17)	1.71 (1.36, 2.16)
Race (ref: White)			
Black		1.17 (0.59, 2.33)	1.26 (0.64, 2.51)
Asian		0.36 (0.20, 0.67)	0.39 (0.21, 0.71)
Latinx		0.47 (0.19, 1.19)	0.46 (0.18, 1.17)
Other		2.08 (1.37, 3.17)	2.12 (1.39, 3.22)
Multi		1.38 (0.92, 2.07)	1.41 (0.94, 2.12)

Table B.4. Association between the longitudinal pattern of public health engagement and adolescent monthly **cigarette** use, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table B.4. Continued.

Model 2 (95% CI) 1.91 (1.34, 2.71) 2 80 (1 93, 4.06)	Model 3 (95% CI)
1.91 (1.34, 2.71) 2 80 (1 93, 4 06)	1.91 (1.35, 2.72)
1.91 (1.34, 2.71) 2 80 (1 93, 4 06)	1.91 (1.35, 2.72)
2 80 (1 03 1 06)	
2.00 (1.75, 4.00)	2.78 (1.92, 4.03)
4.41 (2.84, 6.87)	4.34 (2.79, 6.75)
1.81 (1.18, 2.79)	1.79 (1.16, 2.74)
0.79 (0.76, 0.82)	0.79 (0.76, 0.82)
	0.57 (0.27, 1.19)
	1.07 (0.51, 2.23)
	0.20 (0.08, 0.52)
	1.18 (0.57, 2.45)
	0.39 (0.21, 0.72)
	0.24 (0.10, 0.54)
	4.32 (1.43, 13.11)
	0.58 (0.19, 1.76)
	1.81 (1.18, 2.79) 0.79 (0.76, 0.82) ealth throughout the three years. "Intent refers to public health engagement

engageme period.

Note: **Bold** indicates statistical significance at $p \le 0.05$

Variable	Past-month e-cigarette use		
	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Constant	0.004 (0.002, 0.011)	0.007 (0.003, 0.021)	0.008 (0.002, 0.024)
Engagement (ref: None)			
Intermittent	1.57 (0.58, 4.25)	1.35 (0.52, 3.50)	1.38 (0.53, 3.55)
Sustained	0.77 (0.28, 2.09)	0.69 (0.27, 1.79)	0.84 (0.33, 2.17)
Grade (ref: 9)			
10	7.69 (3.73, 15.88)	7.41 (3.59, 15.29)	7.36 (3.56, 15.18)
11	43.86 (21.32, 90.22)	41.50 (20.20, 85.26)	41.20 (20.06, 84.62)
12	101.22 (46.21, 221.71)	89.76 (41.13, 195.90)	88.38 (40.50, 192.87)
Engagement*grade			
Intermittent*10	0.50 (0.23, 1.08)	0.49 (0.22, 1.07)	0.49 (0.23, 1.07)
Intermittent*11	0.54 (0.25, 1.15)	0.54 (0.25, 1.15)	0.54 (0.25, 1.16)
Intermittent*12	0.54 (0.23, 1.23)	0.53 (0.23, 1.22)	0.54 (0.24, 1.24)
Sustained*10	0.92 (0.43, 2.01)	0.92 (0.42, 2.00)	0.93 (0.43, 2.01)
Sustained*11	0.81 (0.38, 1.74)	0.82 (0.38, 1.76)	0.83 (0.39, 1.77)
Sustained*12	1.08 (0.47, 2.48)	1.09 (0.48, 2.49)	1.11 (0.49, 2.53)
Sex (ref: Female)			
Male		2.14 (1.82, 2.53)	2.13 (1.81, 2.52)
Race (ref: White)			
Black		0.60 (0.36, 0.98)	0.62 (0.38, 1.01)
Asian		0.22 (0.15, 0.32)	0.22 (0.15, 0.32)
Latinx		0.94 (0.56, 1.57)	0.94 (0.56, 1.57)
Other		1.01 (0.73, 1.41)	1.01 (0.73, 1.41)
Multi		1.03 (0.77, 1.39)	1.04 (0.77, 1.40)

Table B.5. Association between the longitudinal pattern of public health engagement and adolescent monthly e-cigarette use, over a three-year period from 2016/17 to 2018/19.

Table B.5. Continued.

	Past-month e-cigarette use		
	Model 1 (95% CI)	Model 2 (95% CI)	Model 3 (95% CI)
Spending Money (ref: \$0)		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · ·
\$1-\$20		2.70 (2.13, 3.44)	2.72 (2.14, 3.45)
\$21-\$100		4.05 (3.12, 5.25)	4.06 (3.13, 5.26)
\$100+		6.46 (4.61, 9.06)	6.45 (4.60, 9.03)
Do not know		2.28 (1.70, 3.06)	2.29 (1.71, 3.06)
Connectedness		0.92 (0.89, 0.95)	0.92 (0.90, 0.95)
Median after tax household			
income (ref: 1 st quartile)			
2 nd quartile			0.95 (0.55, 1.63)
3 rd quartile			0.99 (0.57, 1.72)
4 th quartile			0.47 (0.24, 0.91)
Rural (ref: Urban)			
Rural			0.68 (0.39, 1.20)
School Size (ref: Small)			
Medium			1.00 (0.63, 1.58)
Large			0.74 (0.40, 1.36)
Province (ref: Ontario)			. ,
Alberta			2.90 (1.30, 6.45)
British Columbia			1.94 (0.89, 4.26)

engagement level "None" means there was no involvement by public health throughout the three years. "Intermittent" means public health engagement occurred for 1 or 2 of the three years. "Sustained" engagement refers to public health engagement all three years of the study period.

Note: **Bold** indicates statistical significance at $p \le 0.05$


Figure B.1. Probability of adolescent alcohol use, binge drinking, cannabis use, cigarette use, and e-cigarette use (A-E respectively) as predicted by the pattern of public health unit engagement in COMPASS secondary schools from 2016/2017 to 2018/2019.

Engagement	OR	95% CI
Reference: No engagement, grade 9)	
Alcohol Use		
Intermittent	0.98	(0.51, 1.85)
Sustained	1.26	(0.64, 2.48)
Binge Drinking		
Intermittent	1.03	(0.51, 2.07)
Sustained	1.13	(0.54, 2.39)
Cannabis Use		
Intermittent	1.52	(0.79, 2.91)
Sustained	1.36	(0.69, 2.69)
Cigarette Use		
Intermittent	0.54	(0.20, 1.46)
Sustained	0.57	(0.21, 1.56)
E-cigarette Use		
Intermittent	0.74	(0.36, 1.52)
Sustained	0.94	(0.46, 1.92)

 Table B.6. Adjusted odds of alcohol, cannabis, cigarette and e-cigarette use in 2018/19 for students exposed to intermittent or sustained

 public health engagement from 2016/17 through 2018/19.

	Sample lost (N=8,153)	to follow up	Remaining (N=8,422)	g sample	Chi Square / T-test			
Variable	Ν	%	Ν	%	df	Statistic	p-value	
Sex					1	0.01	0.94	
Female	4,234	51.93	4,379	51.99				
Male	3,919	48.07	4,043	48.01				
Grade					3	4.5x10 ³	< 0.001	
9	1,948	23.89	4,482	53.22				
10	2,326	28.53	3,705	43.99				
11	3,626	44.47	223	2.65				
12	253	3.10	12	0.14				
Race					4	11.15	0.03	
White	5,828	71.48	5,995	71.18				
Black	287	3.52	263	3.12				
Asian	557	6.83	677	8.04				
Latinx	196	2.40	209	2.48				
Other	1,285	15.76	1,278	15.17				
Weekly Spending	Money				4	448.22	< 0.001	
Zero	1,396	17.12	1,787	21.22				
\$1-\$20	2,226	27.30	2,959	35.13				
\$21-\$100	2,128	26.10	1,826	21.68				
\$100+	1,400	17.17	664	7.88				
Don't know	1,003	12.30	1,186	14.08				

Appendix C: Comparing students remaining with students lost to follow up in a longitudinal study of PHU engagement **Table C.1** Characteristics of students lost to follow up compared with those remaining in final sample by 2018/19.

	18.24	0.04	18.73	0.03	16573	-10.31	< 0.001
School connectedness	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	df	Statistic	p-value
Yes	905	11.10	622	7.39			
No	7,248	88.90	7,800	92.61			
E-cigarette use					1	68.35	< 0.001
Yes	652	8.00	320	3.80			
No	7,501	92.00	8,102	96.20			
Cigarette use					1	132.22	< 0.001
Yes	1,023	12.55	506	6.01			
No	7,130	87.45	7,916	93.99			
Cannabis use					1	211.56	< 0.001
Yes	2,537	31.12	1,589	18.87			
No	5,616	68.88	6,833	81.13			
Alcohol use					1	332.51	< 0.001
Yes							
No	1,413	17.33	726	8.62			
Binge drinking	6,740	82.67	7,696	91.38	1	279.67	< 0.001

	Exposure to be engagement (N=44)	aseline PHU	No exposure to PHU engageme (N=24)	o baseline ent	Chi Square / T-test			
Variable	Ν	%	Ν	%	df	Statistic	p-value	
Province					2	0.65	0.72	
Ontario	38	86	19	79				
Alberta	4	9	3	13				
British Columbia	2	5	2	8				
Missing								
Median Income					66	-1.19	0.24	
First quartile	6	14	9	38				
Second quartile	16	36	3	13				
Third quartile	11	25	8	33				
Fourth quartile	11	25	4	17				
Missing								
Rurality					1	3.13	0.08	
Urban	40	91	18	75				
Rural	4	9	6	25				
Missing								
Enrolment size					2	3.15	0.21	
Small	10	23	10	42				
Medium	26	59	12	50				
Large	8	18	2	8				
Missing								

Appendix D: Comparing characteristics of schools with and without exposure to public health unit engagement **Table D.1** Characteristics of schools exposed or unexposed to PHU engagement in addressing alcohol/marijuana use (N=68).

	Exposure to be engagement (N=44)	paseline PHU	No exposure 1 PHU engagem (N=24)	o baseline ent	Chi Square / T-test			
Variable	Ν	%	Ν	%	df	Statistic	p-value	
Province Ontario Alberta British Columbia	38 4	86 9	19 3	79 13	2	0.65	0.72	
Missing	2	5	2	8				
Median Income First quintile Second quintile Third quintile Fourth quintile Missing	9 14 11 10	20 32 25 23	6 5 8 5	25 21 33 21	66	0.00	1.00	
Rurality Urban Rural Missing	38 6	86 14	20 4	83 17	1	0.11	0.74	
Enrolment size Small Medium Large Missing	11 25 8	25 57 18	9 13 2	38 54 8	2	1.87	0.39	

 Table D.2 Characteristics of schools exposed or unexposed to PHU engagement in addressing cigarette/e-cigarette use (N=68).

Appendix E: Comparing students with complete data at baseline and those excluded due to missing data in PHU engagement study **Table E.1** Characteristics of students with complete data at baseline (2016/17) (n=16,575) compared to those excluded due to missing data at baseline (n=935).

	Cohort with baseline (n=16,575)	complete data at	Excluded (n (n=935)	missingness at baseline)	Chi Square / T-test		
Variable	Ν	%	Ν	%	df	Statistic	p-value
Gender					1	21.58	< 0.001
Female	8,613	51.96	348	43.55			
Male	7,962	48.04	451	56.45			
Missing	0		136				
Grade					3	2.13	0.55
9	6,430	38.79	324	36.61			
10	6,031	36.39	329	37.18			
11	3,849	23.22	215	24.29			
12	265	1.60	17	1.92			
Missing	0		50				
Race					5	24.35	< 0.001
White	11,823	71.33	554	65.18			
Black	550	3.32	49	5.76			
Asian	1,234	7.44	64	7.53			
Latinx	405	2.44	25	2.94			
Other	2,563	7.02	158	8.24			
Missing	0	8.45	85	10.35			
Weekly spendir	ng money						
Zero	3,183	19.20	172	20.95	4	6.81	0.15
\$1-\$20	5,185	31.28	237	28.87			
\$21-\$100	3,954	23.86	178	21.68			

School Connectedness Mean, SD	18.49 0	0.02	17.96 367	0.14	17141	4.02	< 0.001
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	df	Statistic	p-value
Missing	0		372				
Yes	1,527	9.21	82	14.56			
No	15,048	90.79	481	85.44			
E-cigarette use					1	18.34	< 0.001
Missing	0		159				
Yes	972	5.86	70	9.02			
No	15,603	94.14	706	90.98			
Cigarette use					1	13.08	< 0.001
Missing	0		286				
Yes	1,529	9.22	95	14.64			
No	15,046	90.78	554	85.36			
Cannabis use					1	21.43	< 0.001
Missing	0		288				
Yes	4,126	24.89	210	32.46			
No	12,449	75.11	437	67.54			
Alcohol use					1	18.91	< 0.001
Missing	0		49				
Yes	2,139	12.90	112	12.64			
No	14,436	87.10	774	87.36	1	0.05	0.82
	-					0.05	0.00
Missing	0	10.21	114	11.57			
Don't know	2,001	13 21	118	14 37			

Appendix F: Equations for multilevel model of PHU engagement and past-month alcohol use

Outcome: alcohol_use Level-1 variables: year Level-2 variables: sex, race, grade, weekly spending money, connectedness Level-3 variables: PHU engagement, median income, rurality, school size, province Interaction term: PHU engagement*year

Level-1 equation

 $alcohol_use_{ijk} = \pi_{0jk} + \pi_{1jk}year_{ijk} + \epsilon_{ijk}$

Level-2 equation

 $\pi_{0jk} = \gamma_{00k} + \gamma_{01k} Sex_{jk} + \gamma_{02k} Race_{jk} + \gamma_{03k} Grade_{jk} + \gamma_{04k} SpendMoney_{jk} + \gamma_{05k} Connectedness_{jk} + u_{0jk} \\ \pi_{1jk} = \gamma_{10k}$

Level-3 equation

 $\gamma_{00k} = \delta_{000} + \delta_{001} PHUengage_k + \delta_{002} MedianIncome_k + \delta_{003} Rurality_k + \delta_{004} SchoolSize_k + \delta_{001} PHUengage_k + \delta_{002} MedianIncome_k + \delta_{003} Rurality_k + \delta_{004} SchoolSize_k + \delta_{003} Rurality_k + \delta_{004} SchoolSize_k + \delta_{003} Rurality_k + \delta_{004} SchoolSize_k + \delta_{004$

$$\begin{split} \delta_{005} Province_{k} + \upsilon_{00k} \\ \gamma_{01k} &= \delta_{010} \\ \gamma_{02k} &= \delta_{020} \\ \gamma_{03k} &= \delta_{030} \\ \gamma_{04k} &= \delta_{040} \\ \gamma_{05k} &= \delta_{050} \\ \gamma_{10k} &= \delta_{100} + \delta_{110} PHUengage_{k} \\ i &= 1, 2, ..., m_{jk} \end{split}$$

 $j=1, 2,...,n_k$ $j=1, 2,...,n_k$ k=1, 2,...,68

Composite Model/Equation

$$\label{eq:alcohol_use} \begin{split} alcohol_use_{ijk} &= \delta_{000} + \delta_{100} Years_{ijk} + \delta_{110} PHUengage_k * Years_{ijk} + \delta_{010} Sex_{jk} + \delta_{020} Race_{jk} + \\ \delta_{030} Grade_{jk} + \delta_{040} SpendMoney_{jk} + \delta_{050} Connectedness_{jk} + \delta_{001} PHUengage_k + \\ \delta_{003} Rurality_k + \delta_{004} SchoolSize_k + \\ \delta_{005} Province_k + u_{0jk} + \\ \upsilon_{00k} + \\ \varepsilon_{ijk} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} & \epsilon_{ijk} \text{ is assumed to be independent of } u_{0jk} \text{, and } \upsilon_{00k} \text{; and} \\ & u_{0jk} \text{ is independent of } \upsilon_{00k} \text{; and} \\ & \epsilon_{ijk} \sim N(0, \sigma_e{}^2), \, u_{0jk} \sim N(0, \sigma_{u0}{}^2) \text{, and } \upsilon_{00k} \sim N(0, \sigma\upsilon_0{}^2) \end{split}$$

Appendix G : Calculation for predicted probability

Overall predicted probability:		$1 / 1 + e^{-\gamma 00}$
	Where	e = exponential $\gamma 00 = Coefficient of the intercept$
Plausible value range:		Lower bound: $1 / 1 + e^{-[\gamma 00 - 1.96 \sqrt{\tau 00}]}$
		Upper bound: $1 / 1 + e^{-[\gamma 00 + 1.96 \sqrt{\tau 00}]}$
	Where	
		e = exponential
		$\gamma 00 = \text{Coefficient of the intercept}$
		$\tau 00 =$ residual area-level variation
Figure adapted from Raudenb	ush & Bryk ²¹² , by	R. Pabayo, PhD, written document, 2015.

Figure G.1 Overall predicted probability and plausible value range

Appendix H: Equations for multilevel model of PHU spending and past-month e-cigarette use

Outcome: e-cigarette_use

Level-1 variables: sex, race, grade, weekly spending money

Level-2 variables: rurality, school size

Level-3 variables: per capita spending quartile, instability score, deprivation score, ethnic concentration score

Level-1 equation

Level-2 equation

$$\begin{split} \pi_{0jk} &= \gamma_{00k} + \gamma_{01k} SchoolSize_{jk} + \gamma_{02k} Rurality_{jk} + u_{0jk} \\ \pi_{1jk} &= \gamma_{10k} \\ \pi_{2jk} &= \gamma_{20k} \\ \pi_{3jk} &= \gamma_{30k} \\ \pi_{4jk} &= \gamma_{40k} \end{split}$$

Level-3 equation

 $\gamma_{00k} = \delta_{000} + \delta_{001} Spending_k + \delta_{002} Instability_k + \delta_{003} Deprivation_k + \delta_{004} EthnicCon_k + \upsilon_{00k} + \upsilon_{$

 $\gamma_{01k} = \delta_{010}$

- $\gamma_{02k} = \delta_{020}$
- $\begin{array}{l} \gamma_{10k} = \delta_{100} \\ \gamma_{20k} = \delta_{200} \end{array}$

 $\gamma_{20k} = 0_{200}$

 $\begin{array}{l} \gamma_{30k} = \delta_{300} \\ \gamma_{40k} = \delta_{400} \end{array}$

i=1, 2,...,m_{ik}

j=1, 2,...,n_k

k=1,2,...,15

Composite Model/Equation

$$\begin{split} \text{e-cigarette_use}_{ijk} &= \delta_{000} + \delta_{010} \text{Sex}_{ijk} + \delta_{020} \text{Race}_{ijk} + \delta_{030} \text{Grade}_{ijk} + \delta_{040} \text{SpendMoney}_{ijk} + \\ \delta_{010} \text{SchoolSize}_{jk} + \delta_{020} \text{Rurality}_{jk} + \delta_{001} \text{Spending}_k + \delta_{002} \text{Instability}_k + \delta_{003} \text{Deprivation}_k + \\ \delta_{004} \text{EthnicCon}_k + u_{0jk} + v_{00k} + \varepsilon_{ijk} \end{split}$$

 ε_{ijk} is assumed to be independent of u_{0jk} , and v_{00k} ; and u_{0jk} is independent of v_{00k} ; and $\varepsilon_{ijk} \sim N(0, \sigma_e^2)$, $u_{0jk} \sim N(0, \sigma_{u0}^2)$, and $v_{00k} \sim N(0, \sigma v_0^2)$

213

Variable	Sample complete baseline (n=29,43	Sample with complete data at baseline (n=29,434)		Original sample (n=30,675)		ed due to g data 1)					
	n	%	n	%	n	%	df	chi	p-value		
Gender							1	57.17	< 0.001		
Female	14.550	49	14,852	49	302	36					
Male	14,884	51	15,417	51	533	64					
Missing			406		406						
Grade							3	22.63	< 0.001		
9	8,313	28	8,618	28	305	35					
10	7,920	27	8,144	27	224	26					
11	7,120	24	7,290	24	170	20					
12	6,081	21	6,249	21	168	19					
Missing			374		374						
Race							4	151.48	< 0.001		
White	19,594	67	20,049	66	455	49					
Black	1,872	6	1,983	7	111	12					
Asian	2,569	9	2,677	9	108	12					
Latinx	1,415	5	1,457	5	42	5					
Other	3,984	14	4,197	14	213	23					
Missing			312		312						

Appendix I: Comparing students with complete data and those excluded due to missing data in PHU spending study **Table I.1.** Characteristics of study sample before and after excluding participants with missing data, including missing outcome information on past-month alcohol use.

Weekly Spending money											
Zero	5,268	18	5,449	18	181	21	4	16.57	0.002		
\$1-\$20	7,126	24	7,327	24	201	24					
\$21-\$100	6,828	23	6,983	23	155	18					
\$100+	6,249	21	6,433	21	184	22					
Don't know	3,963	13	4,094	14	131	15					
Missing			389		389						
Variable	Mean, SD	Median	Mean, SD	Median	Mean, SD	Median	df	chi	p-value		
Residential Instability	-0.070 0.209	-0.029	-0.070 0.209	-0.029	-0.075 0.212	-0.069	30673	0.8115	0.417		
Material Deprivation	-0.006 0.187	0.012	-0.006 0.186	0.012	-0.005 0.174	0.012	30673	-0.3466	0.729		
Dependency	0.092 0.285	0.121	0.092 0.285	0.121	0.075 0.288	0.121	30673	2.1521	0.031		
Ethnic Concentration	-0.350 0.345	-0.477	-0.350 .345	-0.477	-0.337 0.341	-0.477	30673	-1.3104	0.190		

	Sample with complete data at baseline (n=29,788)		Original sample (n=30,675)		Excluded due to missing data (n=887)				
Variable	n	%	n	%	n	%	df	chi	p-value
Gender							1	16.37	< 0.001
Female	14,660	49	14,852	49	192	40			
Male	15,128	51	15,417	51	289	60			
Missing			406		406				
Grade							3	35.94	< 0.001
9	8,415	28	8,618	28	203	40			
10	8,019	27	8,144	27	125	24			
11	7,204	24	7,290	24	86	17			
12	6,150	21	6,249	21	99	19			
Missing			374		374				
Race							4	103.17	7 <0.001
White	19,764	66	20,049	66	285	50			
Black	1,925	6	1,983	7	58	10			
Asian	2,623	9	2,677	9	54	9			
Latinx	1,431	5	1,457	5	26	5			
Other	4,045	14	4,197	14	152	26			
Missing			312		312				

Table I.2. Characteristics of study sample before and after excluding participants with missing data, including missing outcome information on past-month binge drinking.

Weekly Spending money

Zero \$1-\$20 \$21-\$100 \$100+ Don't know Missing	5,345 7,227 6,903 6,300 4,013	18 24 23 21 13	5,449 7,327 6,983 6,433 4,094 389	18 24 23 21 14	104 100 80 133 81 389	21 20 16 27 16	4	26.58	<0.001
Variable	Mean, SD	Median	Mean, SD	Median	Mean, SD	Median	df	chi	p-value
Residential Instability	-0.070 0.209	-0.029	-0.070 0.209	-0.029	-0.070 0.210	-0.069	30673	-0.0294	0.977
Material Deprivation	-0.006 0.187	0.012	-0.006 0.186	0.012	-0.006 0.176	0.012	30673	-0.4454	0.656
Dependency	0.092 0.285	0.121	0.092 0.285	0.121	0.082 0.282	0.121	30673	1.1070	0.268
Ethnic Concentration	-0.350 0.345	-0.477	-0.350 .345	-0.477	-0.353 0.341	-0.477	30673	0.2630	0.793

	Sample with complete data at baseline (n=29,398)		Original sample (n=30,675)		Excluded due to missing data (n=1,277)				
Variable	n	%	n	%	n	%	df	chi	p-value
Gender							1	58.67	< 0.001
Female	14,536	49	14,852	49	316	36			
Male	14,862	51	15,417	51	555	64			
Missing			406		406				
Grade							3	14.50	0.002
9	8,318	28	8,618	28	300	33			
10	7,895	27	8,144	27	249	28			
11	7,107	24	7,290	24	183	20			
12	6,078	21	6,249	21	171	19			
Missing			374		374				
Race							4	154.70	< 0.001
White	19,572	67	20,049	66	477	49			
Black	1,867	6	1,983	7	116	12			
Asian	2,572	9	2,677	9	105	11			
Latinx	1,413	5	1,457	5	44	5			
Other	3,974	14	4,197	14	223	23			
Missing			312		312				

Table I.3. Characteristics of study sample before and after excluding participants with missing data, including missing outcome information on past-month cannabis use.

Zero	5,278	18	5,449	18	171	19	4	18.53	0.001
\$1-\$20	7,136	24	7,327	24	191	22			
\$21-\$100	6,815	23	6,983	23	168	19			
\$100+	6,212	21	6,433	21	221	25			
Don't know	3,957	13	4,094	14	137	15			
Missing			389		389				
Variable	Mean, SD	Median	Mean, SD	Median	Mean, SD	Median	df	chi	p-value
Residential Instability	-0.070 0.209	-0.029	-0.070 0.209	-0.029	-0.079 0.210	-0.069	30673	1.505	0.132
Material Deprivation	-0.007 0.187	0.012	-0.006 0.186	0.012	-0.003 0.176	0.012	30673	-0.629	0.530
Dependency	0.093 0.285	0.121	0.092 0.285	0.121	0.073 0.282	0.121	30673	2.493	0.013
Ethnic Concentration	-0.350 0.345	-0.477	-0.350 345	-0.477	-0.335 0.341	-0.477	30673	-1.576	0.115

	Sample wi complete o baseline (n=29,617)	ith data at)	Original sample (n=30,675)		Excluded d missing dat (n=1,058)				
Variable	n	%	n	%	n	%	df	chi	p-value
Gender							1	40.06	< 0.001
Female	14,612	49	14,852	49	240	37			
Male	15,005	51	15,417	51	412	63			
Missing			406		406				
Grade							3	14.83	0.002
9	8,382	28	8,618	28	236	35			
10	7,976	27	8,144	27	168	25			
11	7,152	24	7,290	24	138	20			
12	6,107	21	6,249	21	142	21			
Missing			374		374				
Race							4	139.28	< 0.001
White	19,688	66	20,049	66	361	48			
Black	1,898	6	1,983	7	85	11			
Asian	2,594	9	2,677	9	83	11			
Latinx	1,427	5	1,457	5	30	4			
Other	4,010	14	4,197	14	187	25			
Missing			312		312				

Table I.4. Characteristics of study sample before and after excluding participants with missing data, including missing outcome information on past-month cigarette use.

Weekly Spending money									
Zero	5,311	18	5,449	18	138	21	4	18.80	0.001
\$1-\$20	7,190	24	7,327	24	137	20			
\$21-\$100	6,859	23	6,983	23	124	19			
\$100+	6,267	21	6,433	21	166	25			
Don't know	3,990	13	4,094	14	104	16			
Missing			389		389				
Variable	Mean, SD	Median	Mean, SD	Median	Mean, SD	Median	df	chi	p-value
Residential Instability	-0.070 0.209	-0.029	-0.070 0.209	-0.029	-0.075 0.212	-0.069	30673	0.6872	0.492
Material Deprivation	-0.006 0.187	0.012	-0.006 0.186	0.012	-0.003 0.172	0.012	30673	-0.5931	0.553
Dependency	0.093 0.285	0.121	0.092 0.285	0.121	0.075 0.286	0.121	30673	2.0315	0.042
Ethnic Concentration	-0.350 0.345	-0.477	-0.350 .345	-0.477	-0.340 0.342	-0.477	30673	-0.9613	0.336

	Sample wi complete baseline (n=29,430)	ith data at)	Original sample (n=30,675)		Excluded de missing data (n=1,245)	ue to a			
Variable	n	%	n	%	n	%	df	chi	p-value
Gender							1	16.37	< 0.001
Female	14,556	50	14,852	49	296	35			
Male	14,874	50	15,417	51	543	65			
Missing			406		406				
Grade							3	35.94	< 0.001
9	8,326	28	8,618	28	292	34			
10	7,920	27	8,144	27	224	26			
11	7,108	24	7,290	24	182	21			
12	6,076	21	6,249	21	173	20			
Missing			374		374				
Race							4	103.17	< 0.001
White	19,589	67	20,049	66	460	49			
Black	1,867	6	1,983	7	116	12			
Asian	2,577	9	2,677	9	100	11			
Latinx	1,411	5	1,457	5	46	5			
Other	3,986	14	4,197	14	211	23			
Missing	-		312		312				

Table I.5. Characteristics of study sample before and after excluding participants with missing data, including missing outcome information on past-month e-cigarette use.

Weekly Spending money									
Zero	5,266	18	5,449	18	183	21	4	26.58	< 0.001
\$1-\$20	7,141	24	7,327	24	186	22			
\$21-\$100	6,833	23	6,983	23	150	18			
\$100+	6,228	21	6,433	21	205	24			
Don't know	3,962	13	4,094	14	132	15			
Missing			389		389				
Variable	Mean, SD	Median	Mean, SD	Median	Mean, SD	Median	df	chi	p-valu
Residential Instability	-0.070 0.209	-0.029	-0.070 0.209	-0.029	-0.077 0.211	-0.069	30673	1.1740	0.240
Material Deprivation	-0.006 0.187	0.012	-0.006 0.186	0.012	-0.006 0.173	0.012	30673	-0.0266	0.979
Dependency	0.093 0.285	0.121	0.092 0.285	0.121	0.074 0.286	0.121	30673	2.2164	0.027
Ethnic Concentration	-0.350 0.345	-0.477	-0.350 .345	-0.477	-0.340 0.341	-0.477	30673	-1.0098	0.313

Appendix J: Study Ethics Approval

8/4/23, 11:45 AM

arise.ualberta.ca/ARISE/sd/Doc/0/FUNNPAM8R88UR7L9AM9A4LIG00/fromString.html

Notification of Approval (Renewal)

Date:	March 22, 2023							
Renewal ID:	Pro00099672_REN3							
Principal Investigator:	Roman Pabayo							
Study ID:	Pro00099672							
Study Title:	Public Health in a time of Austerity: measuring the divestments in Ontario's public health system and evaluating their impacts on population health and health inequities							
Sponsor/Funding Agency:	CIHR - Canadian Institutes for Health Research CIHR							
RSO-Managed Funding:	Project Project Project Project ID Title Grant Sponsor Start End Purpose Information Date Date RES0049345							
Approval Expiry Date:	March 21, 2024							

Thank you for submitting this renewal application. Your application has been reviewed and approved.

This re-approval is valid for one year. If your study continues past the expiration date as noted above, you will be required to complete another renewal request. Beginning at 30 days prior to the expiration date, you will receive notices that the study is about to expire. If you do not renew on or before the renewal expiry date, you will have to re-submit an ethics application.

Approval by the REB does not constitute authorization to initiate the conduct of this research. The Principal Investigator is responsible for ensuring required approvals from other involved organizations (e.g., Alberta Health Services, Covenant Health, community organizations, school boards) are obtained, before the research begins.

Sincerely,

Mary-Jane Sykes, REB Specialist, on behalf of

Theresa Garvin, Ph.D, MUA, BA Chair, Research Ethics Board 1

Note: This correspondence includes an electronic signature (validation and approval via an online system).

https://arise.ualberta.ca/ARISE/sd/Doc/0/FUNNPAM8R88UR7L9AM9A4LIG00/fromString.html

Notification of Approval

Date:	April 21, 2020							
Study ID:	Pro00099672							
Principal Investigator:	Roman Pabayo)						
Study Title:	Public Health in public health sy health inequitie	a time of Auste stem and evalu s	rity: measuring the d ating their impacts o	livestmer n popula	nts in Ontario's tion health and			
Approval Expiry Date:	April 20, 2021							
Approved Consent Form:	Approval Date 2020-04-21		Approved Documer Consent Form	nt				
Sponsor/Funding Agency:	CIHR - Canadian Institutes for Health Research CIHR							
	Project ID P	roject Title		Speed Code	Other Information			
RSO-Managed Funding:	P m RES0049345	ublic Health in a neasuring the div ntario's public h valuating their in	time of Austerity: vestment in ealth system and npacts on					

Thank you for submitting the above study to the Research Ethics Board 1. Your application, including the following, has been reviewed and approved on behalf of the committee:

inequities

population health and health

- Recruitment Letter, Version 2, April 20, 2020;
- Complete Instrument for Interview Questions, Version 1, April 10, 2020;
- Proposal, Version 1, April 10, 2020.

Any proposed changes to the study must be submitted to the REB for approval prior to implementation. A renewal report must be submitted next year prior to the expiry of this approval if your study still requires ethics approval. If you do not renew on or before the renewal expiry date, you will have to re-submit an ethics application.

Approval by the Research Ethics Board does not encompass authorization to access the staff, students, facilities or resources of local institutions for the purposes of the research.

Approval by the Research Ethics Board does not encompass authorization to recruit and/or interact with human participants at this time. Researchers still require operational approval (e.g., Alberta Health Services) and must meet the requirements imposed by the public health emergency (link to Alberta COVID page).

Sincerely,

Anne Malena, PhD Chair, Research Ethics Board 1

Note: This correspondence includes an electronic signature (validation and approval via an online system).

https://arise.ualberta.ca/ARISE/sd/Doc/0/2QURMC7PORNKN2OPCJU0CI3H6F/fromString.html

1/2